## *In Vivo* Accuracy of a Macrophage-Based Drug Delivery System Demonstrated in Zebrafish

by

David Robert Evans



Thesis presented in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in the Faculty of Science at Stellenbosch University



Supervisor: Prof Carine Smith

December 2022

#### Declaration

By submitting this thesis electronically, I declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own, original work, that I am the sole author thereof (save to the extent explicitly otherwise stated), that reproduction and publication thereof by Stellenbosch University will not infringe any third-party rights and that I have not previously in its entirety or in part submitted it for obtaining any qualification.

December 2022

Copyright © 2022 Stellenbosch University

All rights reserved

#### Abstract

Targeted drug delivery systems are widely regarded as being the 'magic bullet' in the drug delivery research niche. Coined by Paul Ehrlich in 1900, the 'magic bullet' is an immunological concept for a treatment intervention that targets only damaged or diseased cells in the body, leaving healthy cells intact. Targeted drug delivery systems achieve this by combining a drug carrier capable of precisely and accurately targeting specific tissues, cells, or mechanisms with a therapeutic agent. Many drug carriers have been developed and tested within the last decade with some being more effective than others. Based on prior *in vitro* work completed by our group, showing that human macrophages could be modified to ingest matter, appropriately translocate and expel the matter, all without degrading said cargo, we selected these cells as potential drug carriers.

Based on the high degree of physiological conservation between humans and zebrafish, high fecundity, cheap maintenance, optical transparency - allowing tracking of injected cells - and the fact that primary human macrophages have been found to survive for extended periods in zebrafish larvae, we set out to experimentally determine whether these would be suitable model organisms in which to study and develop a human macrophage-based drug delivery system.

First, cell microinjection and fluorescent staining parameters were optimised for long-term tracking of cells in zebrafish larval circulation. The latter parameter was optimised using immortalised, undifferentiated human monocytic leukemia cells (THP-1) which were shown to exhibit endothelial adherence to the caudal hematopoietic region of the larval blood vessels. This behaviour is similar to that of endogenous zebrafish macrophages/monocytes and illustrates a significant degree of conservation between human and zebrafish immune cells. The undifferentiated human THP-1 monocytes also underwent rapid proliferation in response to zebrafish inflammatory stimuli as a result of tail fin transections, suggesting some degree of cross-species reactivity to inflammatory cues.

Next, the THP-1 cells were differentiated and polarised to M1 macrophage-like cells to determine if these cells were suitable for drug delivery in zebrafish larvae. These cells were also shown to exhibit adhesion to the zebrafish caudal hematopoietic tissue (CHT) and associated blood vessels, but all became unviable and lost fluorescent signal within 24 hours post injection, without undergoing migration to the transected inflammatory site. The experiment was repeated with unpolarised THP-1 macrophages and yielded similar results, suggesting that THP-1-derived macrophages may be unsuitable for drug delivery research in zebrafish larvae.

Finally, the experiments were repeated employing primary human M1 polarised macrophages. These cells proved to exhibit a more suitable survival capacity, maintaining cellular viability to the experimental endpoint, however migrational capacity ultimately remained insufficient for drug delivery. This series of experiments lays a solid foundation for future studies which could definitively answer whether zebrafish larvae are suitable models in which to investigate a macrophage-based drug delivery system.

### **Research Outputs**

1. Conference contributions:

- International poster presentation (PSSA Conference 13/09/2021) Assessing the in vivo feasibility of a human macrophage-based drug delivery system in zebrafish larvae.

Johnny van der Walt 1<sup>st</sup> place prize winner.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people, in no particular order, for their contribution towards the success of this thesis:

- Professor Carine Smith for making this thesis a reality; under her supervision, I have grown tremendously as a scientist and as a person
- My family for their continued understanding and support
- The National Research foundation (NRF) for financial support
- All personnel comprising the 7<sup>th</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> floor of the Tygerberg Clinical Building for all their assistance, especially the Smith Lab, who established a successful zebrafish lab within a year
- Stellenbosch University Central Analytical Facility (CAF), Fluorescence microscopy unit

## **Table of Contents**

List of Figures	viii
List of Tables	ix
List of Abbreviations	х
Units of Measure	xiii
1. Chapter 1: Introduction	1
2. Chapter 2: Literature review	3
2.1. Introduction	3
2.2 Overview of current cell-based drug delivery systems	3
2.3 The Case for Zebrafish as in vivo Models for Drug Delivery	7
2.4 The Innate Immune System	9
2.4.1 Monocyte and Macrophage Ontogeny: A Species Comparison	9
2.4.2 Monocytes	12
2.4.3 Macrophage phenotypes	13
2.4.4 Monocyte and macrophage migration	17
2.5 Cross-Species Compatibility	22
2.5.1 Macrophage Chemotaxis and Cross-Species Compatibility: Methodological Considerations	22
2.5.2 Monocyte and Macrophage Form and Function in Inflammation: Species Compatibility	Cross- 24
2.5.3 Crosstalk Between Human M1 Macrophages and the Zebrafish La Microenvironment	arval 28
2.5.4 Injected Macrophage Phenotype Plasticity	30
2.6 Methodological considerations: Microinjection	31
2.7 Hypothesis	32
2.8 Aims and Objectives	32
3. Chapter 3: Materials, Methods, and Results	34
3.1 Introduction	34
3.2 Ethical Considerations	34

3.3 General Zebrafish Methodology	34
3.4 Experiment 1: Injection Volume Optimisation	
3.4.1 Purpose	39
3.4.2 Methods	
3.4.3 Results	40
3.4.4 Interpretation	42
3.5 Experiment 2: Verification of <i>in vivo</i> Cell Tracking	42
3.5.1 Purpose	42
3.5.2 Methods	43
3.5.3 Results	43
3.5.4 Interpretation	45
3.6 Experiment 3: Survival and Migratory Capacity: M1 THP-1-Derived Macrophages	45
3.6.1 Purpose	45
3.6.2 Methods	46
3.6.3 Results	46
3.6.4 Interpretation	48
3.7 Experiment 4: Survival and Migration Capacity: Naïve THP-1-derived Macrophages	48
3.7.1 Purpose	48
3.7.2 Methods	48
3.7.3 Results	49
3.7.4 Interpretation	52
3.8 Experiment 5: Survival and Migration Capacity: Primary Human M1 Macrophages	52
3.8.1 Purpose	52
3.8.2 Methods	52
3.8.3 Results	54
3.8.4 Interpretation	68

4. Chapter 4: Discussion	69
4.1 Conclusion	74
5. Bibliography	76
6. Appendices	

## List of Figures

Figure 2.1:	Ontological model of hematopoiesis over time12	
Figure 3.1:	Diagram representing a typical tail fin transection35	
Figure 3.4:	Diagram demonstrating investigated microinjection sites	
Figure 3.5A & B:	ANOVA comparing the effects of A: methylene blue dose volume; and B: age on the heart rate of injected zebrafish larvae40	
Figure 3.6:	Morphological effects of increasing injection dose volume of methylene blue into zebrafish larval circulation over 3DPI41	
Figure 3.7:	Undifferentiated THP-1 cells rapidly expand, both systemically (in circulation) (Transected 1) and locally (Transected 2) – although to a lesser extent –, within 24 hours post tail fin transection	
Figure 3.8:	M1 polarised macrophages in zebrafish larval circulation immediately post transection and 24 hours post injection47	
Figure 3.9:	Unpolarised THP-1-derived macrophage behaviour in 2dpf zebrafish larvae over 24 hours post injection, in uninjured controls (1A-3C) vs tail transected larvae (4A-7C)	
Figure 3.10:	Injected primary M1 polarised human macrophages (green, indicated by white arrows) survive in zebrafish larval circulation for the entire duration of the experiment (72HPW) in both tail fin transected and uncut larvae	

## List of Tables

Table 2.1:	Benefits and Drawbacks associated with different cell-based drug delivery strategies	4
Table 3.1:	Digitally measured real droplet sizes and volumes compared to ideal, calculated droplet sizes and volumes (±SD)	36
Table 3.2:	Images of tip sizes at different diameters under 10x magnification	37
Table 3.3:	Table with recorded morphological defects of larvae with increasing intravenous methylene blue dose volume	41

## List of Abbreviations

ActA	Actin assembly-inducing protein
AGM	Aorta-gonad-mesonephros
CCL1	Chemokine ligand 1
CCR8	Chemokine receptor 8
CD	Cluster of differentiation
СНТ	Caudal hematopoietic tissue
СМР	Common myeloid progenitors
DAMP	Damage associated molecular patterns
DC	Dendritic cells
dpf	Days post fertilization
DPW	Days post wounding
ЕНТ	Endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition
EMPs	Erythro-myeloid progenitors
FET	Fish Environmental Toxicity
G-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
HMGB1	High motility group box protein 1
hpi	Hours post injection
hpf	Hours post fertilization
HPW	Hours post wounding
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
ICAM	Intracellular cell adhesion molecule

ICM	Intermediate cell mass
IFN-gamma	Interferon-gamma
IL	Interleukin
IL-1RA	IL-1 receptor antagonist
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
LLO	Listeriolysin O
LPS	lipopolysaccharides
Mac-1	Macrophage-1-antigen
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
ММР	Matrix metalloprotein
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
NK	Natural killer
PDGF-BB	Platelet derived growth factor BB
PSGL-1	P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1
qRT-PCR	Quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SFK	Src family kinase
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-a	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TNFR1	TNF-a receptor 1
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VDA	Ventral wall of the dorsal aorta

- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- VLA-4 Very late antigen-4
- **ZF** Zebrafish

## **Units of Measure**

%	Percent
g	Grams
g	Gravitational force
I	Liters
mg	Milligrams
mg/l	Milligrams per liter
ml	Milliliters
mM	Millimolar
n	Number of larvae
nl	Nanoliters
U	Units
μm	Micrometers
μΙ	Microliters
uS/cm³	Microsiemens per cubic centimeter

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

In the drug delivery research niche, intensive focus is currently being placed on the development of effective targeted drug delivery systems comprising both drug and drug carriers. Such systems should be able to overcome biological barriers *in vivo* and accurately guide therapeutic cargo to a therapeutic target site or target mechanism. This would significantly improve drug efficacy, as focal delivery of the drug would be assured, and improve drug safety by mitigating deleterious off-target drug effects. To this end, in the last decade, a plethora of targeted drug delivery systems, utilising a variety of novel targeting strategies and showing striking success *in vitro* have been designed and developed (Singh, Biswas, Shukla and Maiti, 2019). Often, however, this success is poorly translated *in vivo* (Yun, Lee and Park, 2015). We posit that, in many cases, one of the largest factors holding these systems back is the inability to accurately model the biological complexity of *in vivo* conditions, *in vitro*. A pre-clinical *in vivo* model, which would allow for real-time visualization of the fate of drug carriers (e.g., carrier cells) and their cargo, would provide valuable information to facilitate optimization of targeted drug delivery systems.

To avoid the aforementioned pitfall in the development of drug delivery systems, we have selected zebrafish larvae as early models in which to test the feasibility of a targeted drug delivery system. This organism has been selected due to appropriately complex, highly conserved vertebrate biology with humans, high fecundity, and optical transparency, allowing for long-term tracking of labeled drug carriers *in vivo*. Given the rapid rate of development of the larvae, they hatch already displaying a fully functional innate immune system and sufficiently developed organ and circulatory systems for our purposes. The former is of especial importance, as we have selected human macrophages as our potential targeted drug carriers. To date, very few studies have reported on injection of human macrophages into zebrafish larval circulation, but the early data does indicate immunocompatibility and long-term survival of human macrophages in zebrafish larvae. These studies did not assess whether human macrophages resumed normal immune functioning – a crucial factor for our uses - in the foreign organisms, however.

Our group has developed a macrophage-based drug delivery system in previous years. This system is predicated on the innate ability of classically activated (M1) macrophages to phagocytose matter and extravasate from circulation to migrate towards sites of inflammation (Visser and Smith, 2017). Briefly, these macrophages were also modified with the addition of purified *L. monocytogenes* effector proteins to facilitate the vomocytosis of cargo loaded through phagocytosis. Autophagic degradation of the cargo in macrophage transit was also successfully inhibited so as not to reduce the cargo load at the site of inflammation. This system offers tremendous potential as a broad application drug delivery system, able to shuttle any packaged drug to a site of inflammation. Unlike with conventional drug application, the therapeutic site need not be adequately supplied with blood, as macrophages are found in high numbers in many difficult-to-target and hypoxic areas, including the center of chronic diabetic ulcers and solid cancerous tumors (Loots et al., 1998) (Lee et al., 2013). However, while the proof-of-concept experiments have yielded promising results, *in vivo* data is still lacking. The work presented in

this thesis was therefore aimed at investigating whether zebrafish larval models of acute inflammation may be used for assessment of the *in vivo* functionality and ultimate fate of macrophage-based drug delivery systems.

In this thesis, I review the evidence in literature for or against the cross-species compatibility of human macrophages and the zebrafish internal environment. This extends to an assessment of whether the human cells would theoretically be able to migrate within the zebrafish, as well as the capacity for bi-directional crosstalk between the zebrafish inflammatory environment and human cell secretory products. The literature review is followed by a combined methods and results section to chronologically describe the series of pilot studies and experiments undertaken. Discussion and conclusion chapters contextualize newly generated data with the available relevant literature and provide recommendations for future study.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature review**

#### 2.1 Introduction

The defining goal of the current generation of drug delivery research is the overcoming of biological and chemical barriers *in vivo* for unprecedented accuracy and precision (Yun, Lee and Park, 2015). Practically, a large focal point in current drug delivery research is the development of targeted drugs, capable of site- or mechanism-specific targeting (Alvarez-Lorenzo and Concheiro, 2014). Such a system would entirely mitigate the deleterious off-target effects and drug accumulation which are often dose-limiting factors in treatment of disease. This generation has heralded several advancements in the field with breakthroughs in stimuli-responsive systems, including both endogenous (e.g. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and specific enzymes) and exogenous (e.g. sonic and thermal bombardment) stimuli, and nanoparticle-based and ligand-targeting systems among others (Alvarez-Lorenzo and Concheiro, 2014). Despite these breakthroughs, few current-generation drug delivery systems returning promising results *in vitro*, have showed the same promise *in vivo* (Yun, Lee and Park, 2015).

We posit that the principal reason for the poor *in vivo* translatability of many successful *in vitro* drug delivery systems is the inability to accurately model the biological complexity of living organisms *ex vivo*. For this reason, the resulting delivery systems have not necessarily been developed to overcome biological barriers. We propose to avoid these pitfalls in two independent manners: firstly, the drug delivery vehicle we have selected is an innate immune cell capable of overcoming biological barriers *in vivo* as a facet of its normal function. Secondly, we will avoid the use of an *ex vivo* model completely. This is possible through the selection of an appropriate first line *in vivo* model. In this review, I will present the rationale for our selection of zebrafish larvae as an *in vivo* model in which to assess the feasibility of a novel macrophage-based drug delivery system. This will include assessment of the physiological similarities and differences between humans and zebrafish, particularly in terms of immunology. I will also briefly provide a background on cell-based drug delivery and the rationale for the use of macrophages as drug carriers.

#### 2.2 Overview of current cell-based drug delivery systems

Cell-based drug delivery systems have captured the attention of many researchers as a promising avenue for safe and efficacious drug delivery (Gutiérrez Millán, Colino Gandarillas, Sayalero Marinero and Lanao, 2012). Drug carriers are central to targeted drug delivery systems and improve the efficacy of drugs by extending their half-lives and increasing their specificity (Tewabe et al., 2021). In the context of drug delivery, modified cells can represent a specialized subcategory of drug carriers with benefits extending beyond those conferred by traditional carriers (Li, Dong, Zhang and Mo, 2018). Typically, circulating cells are employed as drug carriers due to their high motility and fluidity in circulation, hence transportability of cargo. Native cell-based drug carriers also exhibit low immunogenicity and high biocompatibility, thereby

improving the biological half-life of a drug (Timin et al., 2017). Finally, once the therapeutic cargo is released, these biological drug carriers will eventually undergo biodegradation, usually facilitated by the reticuloendothelial system, thereby circumventing the toxic effects often associated with traditional drug carrier accumulation (Timin et al., 2017).

Cell-based drug carriers confer additional, cell-specific benefits based on the cell-type employed. Researchers have investigated employing a wide range of circulating cells for this purpose. Table 2.1 provides a brief overview of the range of cells and cell fractions currently being investigated for drug delivery, as well as the benefits and drawbacks associated with them.

Cell Type	Attachment	Benefits	Drawbacks
Monocytes/	Encapsulation (via	Inflammation-	Autolysosomal
Macrophages	phagocytosis (Visser and Smith, 2017);	homing (Wynn, Chawla and Pollard,	maturation may degrade
	electroporation	2013); can be	encapsulated drugs
	(Evangelopoulos et	activated to release	(Yousefpour and
	al., 2020)) or surface	intracellular contents	Chilkoti, 2014)
	attachment (Doshi et	(Visser, J. PhD thesis,	
	al., 2011)	2020); efficient, easy	
		drug loading (Liang et	
		al., 2021); ability to	
		cross the blood brain	
		barrier and deliver	
		payload to CNS in	
		mice, and difficult-to-	
		target hypoxic areas	
		(long et al., 2016)	
		(LOOTS et al., 1998)	
Ded Dleed Celle	Enconculation and	(Lee et al., 2013).	Nex hereing:
Red Blood Cells	Encapsulation and	viost abundant	Non-noming;
		(Nomkoy et al. 2019):	targeted by the
	(Ginn Hochstein and	(Nellikov et al., 2010), small: deformable:	reticuloendothelial
	Trumn 1969	high surface area: can	system which also
	electronoration	travel through	increases risk of off-
	(Lizano Sanz Luque	capillaries (Koleva	target drug release
	and Pinilla, 1998).	Boyt. Ataullakhanov	encapsulation
	osmosis-based	and Sinauridze, 2020)	methods may disrupt
	methods (Koleva,	,,	membrane integrity
	Bovt, Ataullakhanov		(Pitt et al., 1983)
	and Sinauridze.		(Yousefpour and
	2020)) or surface		Chilkoti, 2014)

	binding (via electrostatic and hydrostatic forces (Sun et al., 2019), biological bridges including biotin (Muzykantov et al., 1996), antibodies, receptor ligands, etc.)		
	(Muzykantov, 2010)		
Lymphocytes	Surface binding (e.g., via maleimide-thiol conjugation (Stephan et al., 2010)) Encapsulation (via electroporation; endocytosis (Steinfeld et al., 2006).	Abundantincirculation;inisolationandexpansion;longlifespan in circulation(B-cells:4 days to 5weeks;T-cells:monthsto years);inflammationandtumor homing (Yu etal., 2020)	Under researched in recent years
Platelets	Encapsulation (via phagocytosis (Male, Vannier and Baldeschwieler, 1992); loading through the open canalicular system (Xu et al., 2017), electroporation (Banning et al., 1997)) Surface binding (via chemical ligation to primary amine groups (Anselmo et al., 2014))	Abundant in circulation; natural carriers of biologically active substances which are released upon platelet activation; inflammation and tumor homing and adherence to damage and tumor sites; high drug loading and encapsulation efficiency (Yu et al., 2020) (Yousefpour and Chilkoti, 2014)	Limited application potential beyond anti-tumor therapy; erroneous platelet activation could lead to off-target drug effects; increased deleterious thrombotic risk in disease state (Lu, Hu, Jiang and Gu, 2019).
Mesenchymal Stem Cells	Encapsulation (via endocytosis, diffusion, or with transporters (Babajani et al., 2020))	Self-renewable, allowing for expansion after harvesting (Compte et al., 2009); inflammation and tumor homing	Can be recruited and trapped within lung and cerebral tissue where they can cause microembolisms (Zhang et al., 2014) (Wu, Zhou, Tabata

		(D'souza et al., 2012);	and Gao, 2019); risk
		natural ability to	of spontaneous
		traverse endothelium	tumor formation
		(Schmidt et al., 2006)	after intravenous
			injection (Su, Zhang,
			Huang and Gao,
			2021); risk of
			promoting tumor
			growth at high
			concentrations
			(Karnoub et al., 2007)
Neutrophils	Nanoparticle uptake	Most abundant	Short half-lives (8
	(Xue et al., 2017)	circulating immune	hours) (Summers et
		cell (Xue et al., 2017);	al., 2010);
		most rapid circulating	uncontrolled release
		cell inflammation	of nanoparticles (Chu
		homing (Rosales,	et al., 2018).
		2018); natural ability	
		to traverse the	
		endothelium (Cooper	
		et al., 1995).	

## Table 2.1: Benefits and Drawbacks associated with different cell-based drug delivery strategies

We have selected macrophages as our preferred cellular drug carriers because of the innate inflammation sensing and homing capacity of these cells and excellent migrational ability. Unlike neutrophils and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) which also exhibit these benefits, the lifespan of macrophages far exceeds that of neutrophils, allowing for maximal tissue targeting and exposure to therapeutic agents, and without the risk of tumorigenicity associated with MSCs.

The primary focus of current cell-based drug delivery research is the development of efficient and safe anti-cancer treatments. To this end, many researchers have shown success both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. For our purposes, however, we aim to assess the *in vivo* efficacy of a novel macrophage-based drug delivery system with the potential for broader therapeutic applications. This proposed drug delivery system, first described by Visser and Smith in 2017, mitigates the largest drawback in the use of macrophages as vectors for drug delivery (Table 2.1). This novel system involves the incorporation of two proteins purified from the *L. monocytogenes* bacterium to enable the release of the therapeutic cargo from within the macrophages without disrupting the membrane integrity of the cells (Visser and Smith, 2017).

The two proteins used in this system are listeriolysin O (LLO), which enables pore formation in the membrane of the macrophages upon acidification of the autophagolysosome as the macrophages attempt to degrade the cargo, and actin assembly-inducing protein (ActA)

(Osborne and Brumell, 2017). ActA is chiefly responsible for the motility of L. *monocytogenes* both intracellularly and extracellularly and facilitates cell-to-cell transfer. This is accomplished immediately post-lysosomal escape, through the phosphorylation of ActA, manipulation of the host cell cytoskeleton and subsequent actin spike formation (Darji et al., 1998). Together, these purified proteins combined with cargo - in this case 6µm polystyrene beads - and facilitated their escape from the macrophages *in vitro* while leaving these cells intact, after lysosomal maturation was allowed to recommence after being transiently inhibited (Visser and Smith, 2017).

Given the promising *in vitro* results, we aim to assess the potential of this system *in vivo*, and we therefore must select an appropriate *in vivo* model for this task.

#### 2.3 The Case for Zebrafish as in vivo Models for Drug Delivery

Zebrafish embryos younger than five days post fertilization (<5dpf) are attractive pharmacological and physiological models, particularly in the fields of drug discovery and drug delivery. This is in large part due to the fact that zebrafish are relatively inexpensive to raise and house, offer high fecundity and therefore high throughput and statistical power; and larvae develop rapidly, predictably, and transparently, the latter allowing for ease of *in vivo* live imaging. This model confers the additional advantage of a high degree of genetic homology and physiological conservation between humans and zebrafish. In fact, approximately 82% of genes implicated in human disease have at least one obvious zebrafish orthologue and the same can be said for 71.4% of all human protein-coding genes in zebrafish (Howe et al., 2013). Despite obvious anatomical and environmental differences between humans and zebrafish, and the fact that humans are homeothermic while zebrafish are poikilothermic, in many cases zebrafish embryos can be a helpful, faster, cheaper, and higher-throughput bridge between *in vitro* and higher-order *in vivo* testing compared to other animal models (Sieber et al., 2019) (Teame et al., 2019).

In many cases, zebrafish embryos in research are not a compromise, but the best-suited models for the application. One example of such a case is research on the innate immune system and inflammation in zebrafish. Cellular components of the innate immune system are detectable and functional from the first day of fertilization and are already fully developed when they hatch at 2-3 days post fertilization. The zebrafish adaptive immune system only develops between 4-6 weeks post fertilization, allowing researchers a temporal window in which to observe and investigate the innate immune system in isolation (Novoa and Figueras, 2012). In terms of composition, both the zebrafish larval and adult innate immune system is virtually identical to the human counterpart, sharing similar cell types and proportions, with neutrophils being the most abundant innate immune cell type, followed by macrophages and their precursors (Novoa and Figueras, 2011). Robust host-pathogen interaction and wound healing research has demonstrated that the larval and adult zebrafish immune system functions in a similar manner to the human counterpart, although with a few notable exceptions (Renshaw and Trede, 2012). This will be further elaborated upon in a later chapter.

A key advantage of zebrafish in this line of research as opposed to other models include the optical transparency of the zebrafish in early stages of life. This allows for long-term, real-time tracking of immune cells in response to damage or infection. Furthermore, zebrafish develop and heal rapidly as evidenced by well characterized wound models, specifically caudal fin transection models which heal within days in a predictable manner (Miskolci et al., 2019).

Other research avenues that can take good advantage of zebrafish embryo models are drug delivery, discovery, and toxicity. Robust pharmacovigilance tests such as the Fish Environmental Toxicity (FET) assay take advantage of the high-throughput nature of zebrafish larvae research for a high degree of accuracy and statistical power (Rothenbücher et al., 2019). Despite the relatively simple anatomy of zebrafish larvae compared to higher-order animal models, they offer far more complexity than *in vitro* models by supplying physiologically relevant biological, physical, and chemical barriers for researchers to overcome in the development of drug delivery systems. However, importantly for drug discovery and drug delivery, although most organ systems are fully developed from 2dpf, some others, such as the blood-brain barrier, pancreas and liver, lag one day behind, while the gastro-intestinal system is only fully mature by 4-5dpf (van Wijk et al., 2016). Researchers must therefore be aware of the temporally distinct development patterns of the different organs and stage the larvae correctly for their research.

In terms of ethical considerations, the '3R's' were proposed in 1959, as guideline for research using animal models. These principals of 'reduction' of numbers and 'replacement' of experimental animals used in research, and 'refinement' of animal welfare and use (The 3Rs | NC3Rs, 2021) are still employed today, in order to limit the numbers of *sentient* animals subjected to potential pain or discomfort. The use of embryonic zebrafish models significantly advances this ideal, as zebrafish embryos before the age of 5dpf are not recognized as sentient animals as they are not free-swimming and cannot self-feed at this stage. These are considered early putative indicators of a yet incomplete neural circuit (European Directive 2010/63/EU). Internationally, these ethical standards err on the side of caution compared to, for example Switzerland and the UK, where embryos up to 7dpf are unprotected by animal ethics guidelines.

In terms of refinement, the handling and maintenance of zebrafish embryos and early larvae (<5dpf) without causing stress or exposure to pathogens is relatively straightforward and costeffective. This is accomplished through optimization of lighting and water conditions, minimization of sound and vibrations, and keeping the laboratory environment and equipment clean.

Next, we will discuss, in more detail, the physiological basis for the use of zebrafish larvae in the development of a human macrophage-based drug delivery system. This will be accomplished by reviewing the components of the innate immune system, particularly macrophages and their precursors, and the similarities and differences between these components in humans and zebrafish larvae.

#### 2.4 The Innate Immune System

The innate immune system is the most evolutionarily conserved defense strategy against pathogens in living organisms. It is the dominant anti-microbial defense system in plants, fungi, and most lower order multicellular organisms, and is crucial to sustain all multicellular life in a non-sterile environment (Suckale, Sim and Dodds, 2005). Through generalized, non-specific responses, the innate immune system offers a rapid response to injury and infection, and as such represents the first line of defense against pathogens (Warrington, Watson, Kim and Antonetti, 2011).

The innate immune system comprises anatomical barriers including skin and mucosal linings, chemical and humoral elements, such as clotting factors and compliment proteins, and a cellular component. For the purposes of this review, only the cellular components of innate immunity will be discussed in detail, with particular emphasis being placed on the roles of macrophages in immunity.

#### 2.4.1 Monocyte and Macrophage Ontogeny: A Species Comparison

Macrophages represent a heterogeneous population of phagocytic cells with diverse ontological backgrounds. The current theory is that in both humans and zebrafish, macrophages originate from three distinct but temporally overlapping hematopoietic waves in early development (Theret, Mounier and Rossi, 2019). In both species, primitive macrophages are the first leukocytes that are observed in development, and these result from the first hematopoietic wave, dubbed the primitive hematopoietic wave (Palis, 2001).

In mammals, primitive hematopoiesis takes place in the blood islands of the extra-embryonic yolk sac. These anatomical features are clusters of cells comprising a central concentration of heterogenous, primitive hematopoietic precursors surrounded by sparse epithelial cells. In these islands, both unipotent myeloid progenitors of the macrophage lineage and bipotent progenitors of the primitive erythrocyte and megakaryocyte lineage are generated. This process takes place around the second to third week of human gestation (Tavian and Peault, 2005) (Palis et al., 1999). Once fetal circulation is established, around 21 days post fertilization, these cells are released from the blood islands into the blood and are thereafter introduced into the embryo\_proper (Tavian and Peault, 2005). The primitive macrophages proliferate within the embryo and eventually colonize the developing embryonic tissues, including the brain. Macrophages generated from subsequent hematopoietic waves are theorized to later dilute and replace these primitive cells, with the only notable exception being those that colonized the developing brain, which ultimately give rise to microglia (McGrath, Frame and Palis, 2015). These yolk sac-derived macrophages are the only known macrophage lineage to arise in the absence of monocyte precursors (Takahashi, Yamamura and Naito, 1989) (Wittamer and Bertrand, 2020).

Primitive hematopoiesis in zebrafish is facilitated by two spatially distinct sites, the combined functions of which are orthologous to the mammalian extra-embryonic yolk sac. These sites are

the intermediate cell mass (ICM), located intra-embryonically between the notochord and trunk endoderm above the yolk sac, which facilitates the generation of primitive erythrocytes, neutrophils, and angioblasts, and the rostral blood island, formed from the anterior lateral plate mesoderm, which generates early myeloid progenitors (Bennett et al., 2001). These progenitors can differentiate into primitive neutrophils and macrophages, the latter of which begin to infiltrate the embryonic cephalic mesenchyme in response to neuronal cell death between 22-23 hpf, as shown *in vivo* (Herbomel, Thisse and Thisse, 2001) (Xu et al., 2016). Unlike in mammals, this process is independent of circulation which is established around 24 hpf\_ (Herbomel, Thisse and Thisse, 1999). By 60 hpf, the primitive macrophages, mostly residing in the optic tectum, mature into primitive microglia and rapidly populate the midbrain (Herbomel, Thisse and Thisse, 2001).

The second hematopoietic wave facilitates the generation of macrophages via erythro-myeloid progenitors (EMPs): cells generated by endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition (EHT) of hemogenic vascular endothelium, first observed in zebrafish (Bertrand et al., 2007) (Ferrero et al., 2018). Here, these cells arise in, and seed the posterior blood islands, also referred to as the caudal hematopoietic tissue (CHT), between 26 and 36 hpf. Anatomically, the CHT is located ventrocaudally to the yolk tube extension and is physiologically homologous to the mammalian fetal liver as the site of maturation for definitive hematogenic progenitors (Murayama et al., 2006). The significance of macrophages differentiated from EMPs in zebrafish embryos is speculative, as recent lineage tracing studies have demonstrated that adult tissue-resident macrophages in the gut, heart, liver, and brain are hematopoietic stem cell- (HSC-), not EMPderived (He et al., 2018). Although this wave and resultant cells are poorly categorized in humans, the fetal liver is seeded by increasing numbers of CD34+/CD45+ between the third and fourth week of gestation and represent a putative analogue of zebrafish EMPs (Ivanovs et al., 2017). Here, the EMPs give rise to the first enucleated erythrocytes, mast cells, and bipotent progenitors of macrophage and granulocyte lineages. Sparse data is available on the generation of these cells in humans, but early studies indicate that these cells may emerge in the human yolk sac from 28-35 days post conception (Migliaccio et al., 1986). These cells have also been found in hemogenic tissue of the placenta and umbilical cord during this wave (Dzierzak and Speck, 2008).

Almost all tissue-resident macrophages in zebrafish are descendants of EMPs and are maintained throughout adulthood by means of self-renewal. Exceptions include the brain, as mentioned before, and certain other organs such as the skin and gut, which do undergo monocyte-dependent renewal (He et al., 2018). As the cells that differentiate from the EMPs resemble the mature cells (enucleated erythrocytes and mature tissue resident macrophages) seen in adult organisms, this wave is termed the first 'definitive' hematopoietic wave (Wu and Hirschi, 2021). This is in contrast to the aforementioned primitive wave, which generates cells that are mostly absent in mature organisms. The EMP wave is one of two definitive waves and, because EMPs are short-term progenitors, their resultant wave is termed the 'transient definitive wave.'

The final developmental hematopoietic wave is termed the definitive hematopoietic wave. In mammals, macrophage progenitors originating from the third hematopoietic wave are the first that are partially generated within the embryo proper. As with EMPs, progenitor cells of this wave originate from EHT of hemogenic endothelium but differ from EMP in both site of origin and transcriptional regulation. Hemogenic endothelium giving rise to these cells is found in the dorsal aorta of the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region of the developing embryo, but also in vitelline and umbilical arteries (Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996) (Zovein et al., 2010).

In mammals, these cells bud from the hemogenic endothelium, towards the lumen of the arteries, where they aggregate in clusters before migrating via circulation to the fetal liver. In zebrafish, budding of these cells occurs in the opposite direction, that is, into the subaortic mesenchyme, and subsequently into circulation via intravasation of the axial vein (Bertrand et al., 2010). In humans, the cells mature in, and colonize the fetal liver, undergoing massive cell expansion. This is the primary site of human fetal hematopoiesis. After some time, the cells expand to the developing fetal bone marrow, where they persist into adulthood (Hoeffel et al., 2015. Bone marrow-derived hematopoietic progenitors only become fully functional several days post birth however, meaning the liver remains the primary contributor of these cells into circulation until this point. Secondary to the liver, the fetal spleen also serves as a reservoir of these cells (Hoeffel et al., 2015). Due to the multipotent potential of these cells, able to differentiate into any blood cell type, they are deemed hematopoietic stem cells.

In adult humans, bone marrow-derived HSC are the main contributors of circulating bipotent progenitors of dendritic cells and macrophages, called monocytes (Sawai et al., 2016). These monocytes are highly relevant to the current topic of cell-based drug delivery, as these cells would be the ones available for harvesting from the circulation of mature human patients, before being differentiated and modified *in vitro* for drug delivery. For this reason, these cells, and their zebrafish counterparts, will be the focus in subsequent chapters of this literature review.

In line with haematopoiesis in all vertebrates, the definitive hematopoietic wave in zebrafish is also facilitated by EHT of hemogenic arterial endothelium in tissue closely resembling the mammalian AGM. In zebrafish, this region is situated between the cardinal vein and dorsal aorta, an area defined as the ventral wall of the dorsal aorta (VDA) (Orkin and Zon, 2008). Zebrafish HSCs are first observed between 28 and 48 hpf (Bertrand et al., 2010). Once circulation of the HSCs is achieved (48-72 hpf), they are captured by CHT endothelium and extravasate to the abluminal side of the vessel where they trigger endothelial remodeling (Murayama et al., 2006) (Tamplin et al., 2015). Typically, 5-6 endothelial cells wrap around an individual HSC in the abluminal space in a process termed endothelial cuddling (Tamplin et al., 2015). Chemical signals within the HSC CHT niche promote expansion of the HSCs and their differentiation, maturation, and subsequent exit to circulation (Mahony, Pasche and Bertrand, 2018). Between approximately 48-120 hpf, the CHT is the primary site of hematopoiesis, after which the HSCs seed the adult hematopoietic organs, the kidney and thymus, via circulation; the latter being the zebrafish equivalent of mammalian bone marrow (Wattrus and Zon, 2018).



**Figure 2.1: Ontological model of hematopoiesis over time.** B shows timeline of main organs of hematopoiesis in humans (left) and zebrafish (right). C is an anatomical representation of the zebrafish organs mentioned. (Stachura, D. and Traver, D., 2011. Cellular Dissection of Zebrafish Hematopoiesis. *Methods in Cell Biology*, pp.75-110.)

#### 2.4.2 Monocytes

Monocytes are the most relevant human macrophage precursors for our context. As with macrophages, monocytes can elicit a variety of immune responses depending on their activation state (analogous to monocyte phenotype) (Guilliams, Mildner and Yona, 2018). Differentiation of HSC to monocytes follows a sequence of intermediary cells with progressively reducing lineage potential. There are presently thought to be two distinct, independent HSC differentiation pathways in steady-state monopoiesis resulting in monocytes. Both pathways share intermediaries until common myeloid progenitors (CMP) and deviate from there onwards. Both pathways have the potential to produce broad classifications of classically activated (CD14++, CD16-), intermediate (CD14+, CD16+), and non-classically activated monocytes (CD14+, CD16++) (Guilliams, Mildner and Yona, 2018). Mature, circulating monocytes account for approximately 5-12% of peripheral blood leukocytes in humans under homeostatic conditions (Rosales, 2018). The lifespan of mature monocytes in circulation depends heavily on the activation state, with classical monocytes circulating for approximately 1 day before undergoing apoptosis, leaving circulation, or transitioning to intermediate monocytes. Intermediate monocytes exhibit a longer lifespan in circulation of about 4 days before transitioning to non-classical monocytes. Nonclassical monocytes have the longest circulation time of approximately 7 days before undergoing apoptosis or extravasation (Patel et al., 2017).

Due to the diverse activation states of circulating monocytes that can be harvested for *in vitro* differentiation and polarization, it stands to reason that the function of the resultant

macrophages may differ depending on the activation states of the monocytic precursor. Although functional studies are sparse in literature, one study has shown that human monocytes, in any of the three activation states, can differentiate into both M1 type macrophages, upon the addition of granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and M2 type macrophages, upon the addition of macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (Boyette et al., 2017). This was confirmed through morphological analyses, cytokine expression profiles, and strongly increased phagocytic capacity across all macrophages relative to the undifferentiated monocytes. Despite the fact that each monocyte activation state was able to differentiate into both M1 and M2 macrophage subtypes, macrophages differentiated from classically activated monocytes showed the greatest response to differentiation. This was shown by a stronger upregulation of interleukin-10 (IL-10), IL-6, and platelet derived growth factor BB (PDGF-BB) in response to M-CSF and a greater degree of phagocytic capacity in response to GM-CSF and M-CSF relative to other monocyte subtypes (Boyette et al., 2017). The motility of the resulting macrophages dependent on the precursor subtype was not assessed, though all macrophages became similarly adherent in response to differentiation. Based on these data, it is evident that macrophage phenotype is far more dependent on the differentiation stimuli that act on monocytes than the precursory monocytic activation state. Hence, for our purposes, monocytes derived from human circulation need not be typed and separated by activation status prior to differentiation.

#### 2.4.3 Macrophage phenotypes

Macrophages are highly plastic cells, able to shift dramatically between forms and functions. It is therefore important for us to consider which macrophage phenotype would be the optimal candidate for drug delivery to an inflamed target site. Of similar importance, the lingering phenotypic effects elicited by our cellular drug carriers at the target site independent of cargo delivery should be considered.

Macrophages can be separated into naïve (M0), classically activated (M1) and alternatively activated (M2) phenotypes, the latter of which can be further subdivided into four subtypes, M2a-M2d (Orekhov et al., 2019). M1 macrophages are the most abundant phenotype that infiltrate the wound during early stages of inflammation (Martin and García, 2021). In the context of tissue damage, these macrophages are responsible for neutralizing potential pathogens and debridement of cellular debris by means of phagocytosis at the wound site (Martin and García, 2021). For these reasons, M1 macrophages are highly motile, potently pro-inflammatory cells. In the specific context of drug delivery, the generally accepted consensus is that M1 polarized macrophages are the best macrophage candidates due to their superior capacity for inflamed tissue recruitment compared to other phenotypes (Liang et al., 2021) (Pang et al., 2018). Research published in our group confirmed this choice of macrophage phenotype by demonstrating that transendothelial migration was not impaired in M1 macrophages laden with cargo (Visser and Smith, 2017).

M1 polarisation stimuli include pro-inflammatory molecules tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNFa), interferon-gamma (IFN-gamma), and bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS). When considering adaptive immunity, M1 macrophages play a potent role in coordinating a positive M1 polarisation feedback/amplification loop with T cells through 'instructing' T cells to secrete IFN-gamma. This is not necessary for M1 polarisation, however, and given the zebrafish larval model in which the drug delivery system will be employed lacks a functional adaptive immune system at the stage we will be intervening, this will not be further discussed. M1 macrophages secrete many factors that guide the early immune response, including pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1b, IL-6, TNF-a and chemokines such as monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) attracting and alerting further immune cells (Atri, Guerfali and Laouini, 2018). Once the initial phase of inflammation is complete, M1 macrophages should, under normal conditions, transition into an M2 phenotype to prevent collateral inflammatory damage to the host.

Beginning with M2a, "wound healing" macrophages, which rely on polarisation stimuli IL-4 and IL-13, these macrophages contribute to the resolution of inflammation by secreting antiinflammatory cytokines transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), IL-10, and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA). M2a macrophages also contribute to wound healing by releasing factors that aid in remodeling of the extracellular matrix. Despite the pro-healing effects of M2a macrophages, this phenotype is also potently profibrotic through the secretion of insulin-like growth factor, TGF- $\beta$  and fibronectin. The timely phenotypic shift from M2a to M2c is an important factor in limiting this fibrosis in the healing wound (Tang et al., 2017). Hence, for appropriate wound healing and refunctionalisation of damaged tissue, it is important that our macrophage drug carriers not only switch from classically- to alternatively activated polarization states, but from M2a to M2c in a timely manner.

M2b macrophages are distinct from other macrophage subtypes in that they release high levels of chemokine ligand 1 (CCL1), a chemoattractant that acts on chemokine receptor 8 (CCR8) membrane proteins of monocytes, dendritic cells (DC), immature B cells, and natural killer (NK) cells (Tiffany et al., 1997) (Sironi, 2006). Interestingly, M2b macrophages also produce cytotypical M1 hallmarks including pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1b, IL-6 and TNF-a (Gerber and Mosser, 2001) (Mosser, 2003). Secreting high levels of anti-inflammatory IL-10 and low levels of IL-14, the functional role of M2b macrophages is not as clearly defined as either M1 or M2a macrophages (Mantovani et al., 2004). It has been suggested that a pathological abundance of M2b macrophages arise in conditions of chronic inflammation and represent an incomplete conversion of proinflammatory M1 macrophages to anti-inflammatory M2c phenotypes (Ollewagen, Myburgh, van de Vyver and Smith, 2021). For example, polarization of macrophages is shifted towards an M2b phenotype in human patients suffering from alcohol abuse, acute radiation and severe burn wounds, the latter being a result of increased plasma catecholamines in the acute phase of inflammation (Wang et al., 2018). This results in macrophages stuck in an 'indecisive' phenotype capable of ineffectively performing both pro- and anti-inflammatory functions depending on signaling factors (Ollewagen, Myburgh, van de Vyver and Smith, 2021). To further emphasize this point, M2b macrophages can be converted to all macrophage phenotypes, including naïve macrophages but with the notable exception of the M1 phenotype (Wang et al., 2018). In humans with a pathological abundance of M2b macrophages, M1 macrophages are not as easily generated, creating an immunosuppressed phenotype. A likely

explanation put forward for this is that M2b macrophages also inhibit the polarization of naïve macrophages to the M1 phenotype (Wang et al., 2018). It is especially important to confirm, when utilizing M0 or M1 macrophages for drug delivery in the context of chronic inflammation, whether the drug carriers are successfully fully converting to anti-inflammatory M2 phenotypes. If conversion is unsuccessful, and the delivered macrophages do become stuck in a M2b phenotype, for example, there is a risk of our intervention exacerbating the condition.

Researchers have long known about the inhibitory, "deactivating" effect of IL-10 on macrophages *in vitro* (Vieth et al., 1994). Macrophages stimulated with IL-10, termed M2c\_macrophages, produce significantly fewer proinflammatory cytokines but exhibit an increased capacity for phagocytosis. M2c macrophages also suppress the pro-inflammatory response by secreting high levels of IL-10, which also stimulates the conversion of more macrophages into an M2c phenotype. Additional stimuli capable of inducing this phenotype in macrophages have over time been documented. These stimuli are TGF- $\beta$ , IL-21, and glucocorticoids (Martinez, 2008).

Other defining features of this phenotype include an upregulation of angiogenic genes and secretion of proteins involved with tissue remodeling such as matrix metalloprotein (MMP) 7, MMP8, and MMP9 (Jetten et al., 2013) (Lurier et al., 2017). It is postulated that these MMPs are primarily responsible for the anti-fibrotic effects of M2c macrophages. A rapid and complete transition from the proinflammatory M1 phenotype of the human macrophages to anti-inflammatory M2 phenotypes, particularly M2c, would be the optimal fate of our drug carriers. This is predicated on the extracellular cytokine profile acting on the drug carriers, which, although they might be shifted to yield M2b macrophages in sites of chronic inflammation, should be rectified by the delivered therapeutic agent (Ollewagen, Myburgh, van de Vyver and Smith, 2021).

The most recently accepted classification of a macrophage subtype is the M2d phenotype. Although only named M2d macrophages by Ferrante and colleagues in the early 2010's, researchers had long since observed a phenotypic alteration when M1 macrophages were costimulated with agonists for adenosine receptors and toll-like receptors (TLRs) (Pinhal-Enfield et al., 2003)(Grinberg, Hasko, Wu and Leibovich, 2009)(Ferrante and Leibovich, 2012). This phenotype is characterized by an upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and IL-10, as well as a downregulation of proinflammatory cytokines IL-12, TNF-a, and IL-1b (Colin, Chinetti-Gbaguidi and Staels, 2014). *in vivo*, macrophages resembling this subtype are frequently found in association with tumours. Here they promote angiogenesis and suppress the immune response, thus driving tumour progression and earning the name of tumour associated macrophages (TAMs) (Wang et al., 2010).

Although it has been suggested by a number of researchers that macrophage-based drug delivery systems could be effective against solid tumours, convincing evidence is still scarce on this topic (Liang et al., 2021). It is our belief that the grade of inflammation generated by solid tumours is too low to consistently attract sufficient macrophage drug carriers to render the system effective. However, should macrophage-based drug delivery systems be shown to be effective in this

context in the future, it is important to consider the effect the tumour may have on the drug carrier. Given M2d macrophages are derived from circulation and can be generated from M1 macrophages in response to the tumour microenvironment, it is possible that the macrophage drug carriers can be polarized to M2d macrophages in the tumour (Wang et al., 2010). A high density of M2d macrophages within cancerous tumours is associated with a poor prognosis, hence further contributing to the M2d pool would be counterproductive (Bingle, Brown and Lewis, 2002).

Most work on macrophage typing has been performed *in vitro* and either using mouse- or humanderived cells. Some early attempts to dynamically categorize macrophages *in vivo*, within zebrafish larvae have been recently established in the context of inflammation and resolution. Though along less robust measures, M1- and M2-type macrophages have been identified throughout the wound healing process in zebrafish larvae, according to the expression, or lack of expression, of *tnfa*, respectively. The phenotypes were confirmed though cell sorting and quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR), as expression of proinflammatory genes *tnfb*, *il1b*, and *il6* was elevated in the *tnfa+* macrophages whereas these genes were expressed in low levels in the *tnfa-* macrophages. Conversely, the latter expressed high levels of expression of genes closely associated with M2 macrophages in mammals, such as *tgfb1*, *ccr2*, and *cxcr4b* (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2015). Of more relevance for our purposes, the early inflammatory role of tissue resident macrophages in coordinating the subsequent influx of circulating immune cells *in vivo*, will be reviewed next.

Under normal, or steady-state, conditions, tissue-resident macrophages maintain tissue homeostasis through their interactions and crosstalk with their surrounding environment. In the absence of inflammation, zebrafish generally do not display circulating monocytes or macrophages. Instead, these cells remain trapped in the CHT until mobilised by an inflammatory cue (discussed in more detail later) (Kaveh et al., 2020). Since these cells are trapped by the CHT, researchers tend to refer to these cells as CHT resident macrophages and 'conventional' tissue resident macrophages, peripheral tissue macrophages. As we are investigating the zebrafish model during acute inflammation, we will not be referring to CHT macrophages as 'resident'. Hence, all future mentions of tissue resident macrophages will refer to peripheral macrophages. This classification will also allow for easier species comparison, as peripheral tissue macrophages are orthologous to mammalian tissue resident macrophages both in origin and function as 'sentinels' of tissue damage and infection (Morales and Allende, 2019) (Wu and Hirschi, 2021). Tissue-resident macrophages exhibit highly specialized functions and gene expression profiles depending on the tissue in which they reside. In most tissues under steady state conditions, the vast majority of macrophages comprise these tissue-resident macrophages, generally displaying an "M2-like" phenotype (Davies, Jenkins, Allen and Taylor, 2013). In the event of injury or infection, tissue-resident macrophages play a significant role in the establishment, regulation, and resolution of inflammation (Liddiard et al., 2011).

By virtue of proximity, tissue-resident macrophages are the first responders to inflammatory insults within any given tissue. In steady state, these cells are important for suppressing inappropriate immune responses to minor insults. This includes non-inflammatory phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, foreign materials, and pathogens (Gordon and Plüddemann, 2018). Mouse tissue resident macrophages have also been shown to hide minor inflammatory damage from circulating immune cells. Physically, this is done through maintaining endothelial junction integrity within blood vessels, thereby preventing the extravasation of infiltrating leukocytes and through sequestering microlesions from leukocytes cells within tissue (Lapenna, De Palma and Lewis, 2018)(Uderhardt et al., 2019). The latter is accomplished by tissue resident macrophages prostrating their membranes over sites of micro-damage to physically shield the site from other immune cells. The damage is sensed by the tissue-resident macrophages through their membrane-bound RAGE: receptors that can detect damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) including high motility group box protein 1 (HMGB1) and S100 family proteins (Uderhardt et al., 2019). It has not yet been shown whether zebrafish tissue resident macrophages perform the same microlesion obfuscation response but given the evolutionary conservation of the innate immune system, conservation of this function is likely.

Injured tissues, regardless of the cause, release DAMPs. These factors act as beacons of stress and are released both by dying cells and the degrading extracellular matrix (Chen and Nuñez, 2010). In bouts of moderate to severe acute tissue damage, tissue-resident macrophages undergo a similar qualitative switch to an M1 phenotype, albeit less robust than in monocytederived macrophages. In mammals, this switch is followed by secretion of proinflammatory mediators and a temporary phenomenon known as the 'macrophage disappearance reaction', a process whereby tissue-resident macrophage numbers in the site of inflammation drop extensively (Barth, Hendrzak, Melnicoff and Morahan, 1995)(Yoshida et al., 2004). This is thought to occur due to macrophage emigration to lymph nodes, increased adhesion to structural cells, and cell death (Barth, Hendrzak, Melnicoff and Morahan, 1995). Recent research has indicated that suppression of the innate tissue-resident macrophage ability to undergo self-renewal is likely a factor in this phenomenon (Mu et al., 2021).

With the increase in proinflammatory mediators being released at the site of injury, and the disappearance of tissue-resident macrophages, diapedesis of circulating immune cells towards the injured site becomes possible (Mu et al., 2021). This is different from the zebrafish tissue resident macrophage response to injury, as will be discussed in the section on zebrafish tail transection.

#### 2.4.4 Monocyte and macrophage migration

Neutrophils are the first systemic immune cells to infiltrate the site of injury in both humans and zebrafish. These short-lived, fast-responding cells exhibit potent microbicidal activities and weak phagocytic ability before committing to apoptosis to limit inflammatory damage (Rosales, 2018). Concurrently, the slower monocytes also begin to infiltrate the site of inflammation.

Understanding the migration and 'life cycle' of macrophages is essential in understanding the role of these cells in the innate immune system and the sequence of events that unfolds in response to tissue damage. This understanding is critical in the assessment of a macrophage drug delivery system; both in its effectiveness to perform accurate drug delivery and the bimodal interaction of the drug carrier and the host internal environment.

Human monocytes involved in the promotion of inflammation, namely classically activated and intermediate monocytes, express a high level of CCL2 (or monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)) receptor, CCR2. The activation of this receptor, also achievable by CCL7, is required for the egress of proinflammatory monocytes from the bone marrow (Tsou et al., 2007). Ligands for these receptors are secreted by numerous cells including bone marrow stromal cells stimulated by circulating LPS (Whelan, Caplice and Clover, 2020). Two orthologues for the CCR2 gene exist in the zebrafish reference genome Zv11: ENSDARG00000079829, which encodes for a protein that shares 44% identity with human CCL2, and ENSDARG00000105363, encoding for a 43% similar protein. A degree of MCP-1 cross-species compatibility with zebrafish has been demonstrated, showing that human recombinant MCP-1 acts on zebrafish macrophages via a CCR2 orthologue to stimulate their recruitment (Cambier et al., 2013). This finding was corroborated in a separate study showing human orthosteric and allosteric MCP-1 receptor antagonists inhibited zebrafish macrophage recruitment (Sommer, Ortiz Zacarías, Heitman and Meijer, 2021). Though it has not yet been shown if the opposite is true, i.e., whether human macrophage CCR2 can respond to zebrafish MCP1, we strongly suspect this would be the case as the active binding sites of MCP-1 and CCR2 appear to be sufficiently conserved between species.

Murine studies have elucidated that, in the steady state, classically activated, short-lived monocytes progressively convert to longer-lived, non-classically activated monocytes in the blood and bone marrow (Yona et al., 2013). This is thought to occur with the intermediate step in humans giving rise to observed intermediate monocytes (Kapellos et al., 2019). In contrast to circulating classically activated monocytes, non-classically activated monocytes are in constant contact with the blood vessel endothelium. The integrins required for this adhesion, namely  $\beta$ 2 integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), are expressed in low concentrations and intermediate affinities in these cells (Auffray et al., 2007). This allows for constant contact with the endothelium, while maintaining motility, allowing for the observed 'patrolling' function (Thomas, Tacke, Hedrick and Hanna, 2015). These cells are therefore primed to respond to tissue injury (Auffray et al., 2007).

Where classical monocytes rely heavily on a CCL2 gradient and CCL2/CCR2 interaction for extravasation and migration to tissue injury, non-classical monocytes rely on CX3CR1/CCL3 interaction for tissue recruitment (Tacke et al., 2007) (Auffray et al., 2009). An important step in monocyte migration in inflammation is activation of endothelial cells. This can take place in two distinct ways: the quicker, protein synthesis-independent pathway (within minutes) and the slower, gene-transcription- and protein-translation-dependent pathway (Pober and Cotran, 1990). Named type I and type II endothelial activation respectively, endothelial cell activation is

crucial for the expression of adhesion molecules on the endothelial cell surface (Pober and Sessa, 2007).

Type II endothelial cell activation is usually long-lasting compared to type I and is stimulated primarily by proinflammatory cytokines TNF-a and IL-1b derived from tissue-resident macrophages after tissue injury (Gerhardt and Ley, 2015). This mode of activation is much more effective at leukocyte recruitment than the more transient type I (Pober and Sessa, 2007). Stimulation by TNF-a and IL-1b upregulates the synthesis and surface expression important adhesion molecules, including P- and E-selectin, followed, after some time, by intracellular-(ICAM) and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM) on endothelial cells (Sheikh et al., 2005). Upon type II activation, endothelial cells also upregulate the synthesis and surface presentation of chemoattractant proteins, including potent classical monocyte chemoattractant, CCL2 and granulocyte monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Weber, Nelson, Gröne and Weber, 1999) (Takahashi et al., 2001). This strongly attracts free-flowing classical and intermediate monocytes to the endothelium where extravasation ensues (Gerhardt and Ley, 2015). Zebrafish larval macrophages have been shown to traverse blood vessels in a similar manner, once mobilized from the CHT. Interestingly however, zebrafish neutrophils and macrophages have been shown to preferentially crawl along the abluminal side of blood and lymphatic vessels during chemotaxis (Kaveh et al., 2020). This represents a clear difference between zebrafish larval, and adult human macrophage chemotaxis and may negate the need for zebrafish macrophage transendothelial migration. It is currently unclear whether this zebrafish migrational feature persists into adulthood.

Transendothelial migration of monocytes is a complex, but well characterized process that has been extensively reviewed. In short, this process comprises a strict sequence of events, known as the adhesion cascade. Due to the reduced local blood pressure that accompanies vasodilation, inflammatory monocytes that would otherwise be found towards the center of blood vessels, can flow nearer to the vessel endothelium.

The first step in transendothelial migration is endothelial capture of monocytes via the binding of their leukocyte glycoprotein (e.g., P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1)) (also present on macrophages) to endothelial P- and E-selectin (Gerhardt and Ley, 2015). This binding is reversible, to allow further motility, but strong enough to resist shear stress from blood flow (Gerhardt and Ley, 2015). The tethering of leukocytes to P-selectin has also been shown to upregulate the endothelial expression of CCL2, further stimulating monocyte chemotaxis (Weyrich et al., 1995). Cross-species interaction is also possible with zebrafish PSGL-1 and human P- and E- selectin, as it has been shown that zebrafish PSGL-1 supports the binding and rolling of CHO cells expressing zebrafish PSGL-1, under flow conditions, on human P- and E-selectin. Although this binding is less specific and efficient than with human PSGL-1 and confers less stability, these data provide some evidence in favour of human macrophage P- and E-selectin-dependent chemotaxis being possible in zebrafish larvae (Baïsse et al., 2019). The reduction in binding efficiency may result in the

human macrophages being outcompeted by zebrafish innate macrophages *in vivo*, potentially necessitating their ablation prior to human macrophage injection.

Human monocytes roll in a cyclical manner along the endothelial surface in a selectin-dependent manner, flattening out and extending microvilli and rear tethers for increased surface area and stability. Other monocyte-endothelium interactions at this point include the binding of endothelial VCAM to monocyte-expressed very late antigen-4 (VLA-4) and macrophage-1-antigen (Mac-1); stronger adhesions that facilitate slower rolling and subsequent monocyte arrest (Gerhardt and Ley, 2015) (Schenkel, Mamdouh and Muller, 2004). Primarily governed by VLA-4/VCAM and CCL2/CCR2 interactions, the monocytes stop rolling and adhere strongly to the endothelium. Intraluminal crawling of the monocytes is still made possible through leucocyte integrins lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) and endothelial ICAM as the leukocytes migrate towards potential exit sites for extravasation (Schenkel, Mamdouh and Muller, 2004). The orthologue for ICAM has been identified in the mRNA of zebrafish, showing a high degree of conservation in the functional domain with human ICAM, and confirmed in another member of the teleost family, grass carp. The teleost expression of ICAM was also shown to be inducible, increasing expression and leukocyte binding capacity after the addition of IL-1b and LPS – a feature consistent with mammalian ICAM. Furthermore, grass carp leukocytes facilitated this binding to ICAM via Lfa-1 (Wei et al., 2018). It is unknown to what extent human LFA-1 can bind to zebrafish ICAM; however, it is likely that some degree of binding will occur. The success of human macrophage extravasation from zebrafish circulation will depend, in part, on the degree of conservation of these integrins between species.

Extravasation of human and zebrafish monocytes/macrophages has been shown to occur both paracellularly and transcellularly through the endothelium with the former being preferred in mammals (>90%) (Mickael et al., 2021). It has been elucidated in mouse studies how leukocytes may extravasate paracellularly without disrupting endothelial integrity: Leukocytes extravasate paracellularly through endothelial pores that do not exceed ~4µm in width and close behind the extravasating cells to prevent vascular leakage (Heemskerk et al., 2016).

Next, myeloid cells need to navigate through the underlying basal membrane to enter the interstitium of the inflamed tissue. The basement membrane is a specialized, rigid form of ECM that subtends the endothelial layer. Mostly comprising a tight network of covalently-linked collagen type IV fibers, non-covalently associated with structural proteins called laminins, the basement membrane also contains cells including pericytes, adipocytes and nerves (Rowe and Weiss, 2008). Extravasation through the endothelium and subsequent interaction with the basal membrane are thought to be crucial for monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation (Li et al., 2020).

During extravasation, monocytes interact with a host of proinflammatory cytokines, both from the activated endothelium (crosstalk) and from surrounding monocytes. Importantly, this includes GM-CSF, a monomeric glycoprotein that upregulates the monocytic expression of CCR2 and stimulates monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation (Lotfi, et al., 2020). This has been shown extensively *in vitro* and is a frequently used stimulus to trigger monocyte differentiation in *in vitro* 

research. A recent study has elucidated that, *in vivo*, differentiation of monocytes is likely a twostep process involving not only crosstalk with the endothelium, but interaction with laminin 511 in the sub-endothelial basement membrane (Li et al., 2020).

Macrophage migration is more complex than monocyte migration as they utilize a combination of two distinct migratory mechanisms for movement. The predominant migratory mode is variable depending on the rigidity and porosity of extracellular matrix through which they migrate (Rumianek and Greaves, 2020). The two modes that macrophages may employ for movement are termed 'amoeboid' and 'mesenchymal' migration. In both cases, the initial step is migrational polarization of the cells. In this case, 'polarization' is the reorganization of the macrophage cytoskeleton resulting in a breaking of symmetry and separate poles at the front and back of the cells and is distinct from macrophage polarization (Meili and Firtel, 2003).

Of particular relevance to the models employed in this thesis, a recent study in zebrafish demonstrated that although macrophages use ameboid migration, they are far more reliant on mesenchymal migration in the context of a tail transection model (Barros-Becker, et al., 2017). This mode of migration is consistent with human macrophages navigating through dense matrices with few defined fibrils (McWhorter, Davis and Liu, 2014). In mesenchymal migration, the front, or leading edge of the macrophage develops actin projections, known as lamellipodia for broad and flat projections, and filopodia for longer, thinner projections. These projections are rich in focal clusters of integrins. This allows the macrophage actin projections to form nascent weak adhesions to substratum proteins to 'tow' the macrophages forward. The human basement membrane is typically 100-300nm thick with pores only around 50nm (Rowe and Weiss, 2008). Although a laminin-rich sub-endothelial basement membrane is known to exist in zebrafish larvae, it is poorly described in literature (Gross-Thebing et al., 2020). Given human macrophages are fairly large leukocytes, with a diameter of about 21µm, mesenchymal migration of cells is protease-dependent, and leads to remodeling of the ECM. A key protease involved with human macrophage migration through the basement membrane is membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) (Bahr and Weiss, 2018). The extent of proteolytic and mechanical ECM remodeling is dependent on the macrophage phenotypic polarization. Ex vivo studies demonstrated that human M1 macrophages degrade approximately twice as much ECM than do naïve and IL-4-stimulated (M2-type) macrophages, with twice the average pore size (Bahr and Weiss, 2018). Since mesenchymal migration relies on integrins that are only somewhat conserved between humans and zebrafish, it is possible that zebrafish innate macrophages will outcompete the human injected macrophages. Therefore, if the injected macrophages are observed to migrate in circulation to the inflammatory site but fail to undergo mesenchymal migration beyond the vascular tissue, temporary zebrafish macrophage ablation should be considered.

Also present in the human basement membrane are  $\sim 1\mu$ m in diameter preformed portals that macrophages and dendritic cells have been shown to selectively pass through in a protease-independent manner. This is likely indicative of an amoeboid-type migration and requires extensive deformation of the migrating macrophages to pass through, though they leave the ECM

intact (Renkawitz et al., 2019)(Bahr and Weiss, 2018)(Pflicke and Sixt, 2009). As a general rule, macrophages are morphologically plastic and may squeeze through pores ~ $\geq$ 10% nuclear diameter. Although literature is scarce on this topic, the zebrafish basement membrane also contains pores of a similar size to the human counterpart (van den Berg et al., 2019).

Finally, macrophages must navigate the tissue interstitium. This specialized layer of ECM comprises primarily type I and III collagen fibrils, elastin, glycoproteins, proteoglycans, and glycosaminoglycans (Rowe and Weiss, 2009). The key integrins involved with the interstitial mesenchymal migration of human macrophages have been identified to be members of the  $\beta_2$ integrin family, namely  $\alpha D\beta 2$  and  $\alpha M\beta 2$  (Cui, et al., 2018). Macrophages expressing moderate concentrations of these integrins are the most efficient macrophage migrators in tissue. Macrophages expressing very low concentrations of  $\alpha D\beta 2$  and  $\alpha M\beta 2$  are unable to adhere to (and therefore pull themselves along) a matrix, and macrophages expressing high concentrations of these integrins adhere too strongly to the matrix to efficiently migrate (Cui, et al., 2018. A number of *in vitro* studies have shown that M1 macrophages are less proficient at migrating in a 3D environment than naïve macrophages and M2 cells. This is in part due to the high expression the integrin  $\alpha D\beta 2$ , promoting a more static phenotype at the site of inflammation. Resident macrophages are also static but this is due to a high expression of  $\alpha$ M $\beta$ 2. In contrast, naïve and M2-type macrophages express these integrins in moderation, allowing for efficient migration (Cui, Ardell, Podolnikova and Yakubenko, 2018). These data indicate that M1 macrophages are relatively immobile once they have reached the target inflammatory site. Here the M1 macrophages will either undergo apoptosis or a phenotypic shift towards a more mobile M2 state, allowing for wound healing and migration away from the wound site. Hence, although in vivo macrophage typing is beyond the scope of this thesis, we may infer that, if our injected M1 macrophages are mobile at the wound site after the inflammatory phase, it is likely that they have undergone a phenotypic shift to an M2 state.

An important physiological detail relevant to the translation of the novel human macrophagebased drug delivery system that must still be determined is the ability of activated human macrophages to traverse the zebrafish circulatory system and extravasate at appropriate sites. Uncertainty in this regard may be mitigated when reviewing the literature on monocyte/macrophage response to a caudal fin transection.

#### 2.5 Cross-Species Compatibility

# 2.5.1 Macrophage Chemotaxis and Cross-Species Compatibility: Methodological Considerations

Macrophages are the most important immune cells in the healing of wounded zebrafish larvae in both the presence and absence of pathogens (Rosowski, 2020). In this section, I will review the extensively researched roles of macrophages in the context of zebrafish larval tail transections in literature as it relates to the topic of drug delivery. Using this, I will construct a theoretical timeline of macrophage polarization and subtype contribution to the healing wound at different
timepoints. This will then be used to determine optimal intervention time points, estimate the function and fate of our human macrophage drug carriers in zebrafish larval tail transections at different timepoints, as well as serve as a comparison for future *in vivo* results.

Embryonic tail transections are usually performed in 2-3dpf zebrafish, cutting the fin from a roughly 90-degree angle to the notochord. Tail transections also occasionally include the cutting off of the distal part of the notochord to induce a stronger inflammatory response (Xie, Meijer and Schaaf, 2021).

Within 10 minutes post transection, the epithelium contracts at the lesion site due to actin-purse string formations to seal the wound (Kawakami, Fukazawa and Takeda, 2004). Simultaneously, epithelial production of  $H_2O_2$  is initiated at the wound site, establishing a gradient extending proximally towards the nearest blood vessels within 10 minutes. Shown to be a function of the epithelial dual oxidase enzymes in response to damage induced intracellular Ca2+ oscillations, extracellular H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration peaks approximately 20 minutes post wounding, extending the concentration gradient as far as 200µm away from the wound (Daly, 2010). The upstream intracellular Ca2+ oscillations are amongst the first signs of alarm in wounded tissue and are often the result of intact cells detecting extracellular ATP as a DAMP through their purinergic receptors (de Oliveira et al., 2014). Although the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> gradient gradually decays in 1-2 hours, it first acts as a potent initial chemoattractant, recruiting the first non-resident leukocyte responders ~20 minutes post wounding (Daly, 2010). These first responders are typically neutrophils which sense and respond to wound-derived reactive ROS via the Src family kinase (SFK) Lyn (Yoo, Starnes, Deng and Huttenlocher, 2011). It is important to note, while critical for leukocyte recruitment, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is not the sole ROS leukocyte chemoattractant synthesized in response to zebrafish tail transections. In the context of intermediate inflammatory damage (tail transection without damage to the notochord), neutrophil number in the wound site peaks at ~6hours post wounding (HPW). In this case, the wound site is defined as the area  $200\mu m$  proximally from the wound, in keeping with the  $H_2O_2$  gradient reach. After this point, the neutrophils begin to reverse migrate from the wound site or, more rarely, undergo apoptosis (~2-3%) to resolve neutrophil inflammation (Elks et al., 2011). Although contentious in literature, mounting evidence does appear to suggest that neutrophil reverse migration during the resolution of inflammation is conserved across higher order vertebrates such as mice and humans. Resolution of neutrophil inflammation is completed by ~24HPW (Ellett et al., 2015).

From 3-6HPW, the slower monocytes/macrophages rapidly colonize the wound site, becoming the dominant immune cell type at the wound (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017). Recently, macrophage recruitment to the wound site in zebrafish embryo tail transection models was shown to be independent of neutrophil signaling. This is in agreement with the hypothesis that neutrophils and macrophages are recruited simultaneously but the temporal delay between the two cell types' arrival is a result of different migration velocities (Sipka et al., 2021). Instead, macrophages rely on early intracellular Ca2+ oscillations at the amputation site for migration and proper M1 polarization. Also required for M1-like polarization but not migration is  $H_2O_2$  which, as in neutrophils, signals via SFK Lyn and to a lesser extent, SFK Yrk (Sipka et al., 2021). As woundgenerated reactive oxygen species such as  $H_2O_2$  are conserved across species, we are certain they will elicit the appropriate macrophages responses irrespective of the animal model in which they are placed (Daly, 2010). The main consideration for our study then, is the order of operations concerning cell injections and tail transections and the amount of time between them.

In steady state conditions, zebrafish do not display circulating monocytes or neutrophils. Instead, these cells are mobilized from their peripheral tissue and CHT niches following inflammatory damage (Kaveh et al., 2020). While the majority of these cells make use of the abluminal surface of the vascular endothelium on which to migrate, a smaller subset of these leukocytes enter circulation. Although both neutrophils and monocytes/macrophages do enter circulation in response to damage, macrophages are more likely to exhibit perivascular crawling than to be free flowing (Kaveh et al., 2020). This is similar to mammalian monocyte migration after monocyte capture to the endothelium and extravasation of these cells likely resembles extravasation of mammalian monocytes thereafter (section 2.4.4). This is evidence that both the abluminal and luminal surfaces of the zebrafish vascular endothelium undergo remodeling/activation in response to inflammation and can support macrophage migration. This is especially important as we do not yet know whether the human macrophages will behave dissimilarly to the zebrafish macrophages, as abluminal crawling of macrophages in humans is uncommon in literature. Indeed, so long as zebrafish and human integrins are sufficiently conserved, and human macrophages are not outcompeted by zebrafish macrophages, human macrophages should be able to migrate appropriately to sites of zebrafish inflammation. Hence, this will have to be experimentally determined.

# 2.5.2 Monocyte and Macrophage Form and Function in Inflammation: Cross-Species Compatibility

Studies in zebrafish often neglect to delineate between monocytes and macrophages, utilizing macrophage expressed gene 1 protein (MPEG1) as a blanket marker of macrophages despite the expression of this protein by monocytes. Direct, meaningful comparison of human and zebrafish macrophages in terms of physical characteristics and polarisation state is difficult, as human macrophages tend to be studied *in vitro* rather than *in vivo*, whereas the opposite is true for zebrafish. Scarce literature could be found describing zebrafish macrophages *ex vivo*, likely due to the obsolescence of *in vitro* work in the zebrafish model that lends itself to *in vivo* experiments.

Despite difficulty in specifically categorizing macrophage phenotypes in response to a wound in real time, *in vivo*, a number of recent studies have shown success in delineating between different macrophage states over the course of inflammation and wound healing. As mentioned previously, the main basis for this delineation is the expression, or lack thereof, of TNF-a (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2015). Interestingly, clear morphological changes can be observed in these cells over the course of a tail fin transection. It was shown that, although macrophages are recruited to the wound from 1HPW, the first TNF-a signal is observed from 3HPW. This is indicative of the early

arrival of naïve macrophages which undergo rapid polarisation to an M1 phenotype. From 5HPW, new macrophages, already expressing TNF-a, are recruited to the wound. This recruitment is impaired (until 24HPW) by the selective ablation of peripheral macrophages, normalised to total number of macrophages, compared to both wild type and zebrafish larvae with uniform ablation of CHT and peripheral macrophages. This indicates a potent role of peripheral macrophages in the recruitment of pro-inflammatory macrophages (Morales and Allende, 2019) (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2015). Therefore, if macrophage ablation is to be considered prior to injection of our human macrophages, it would be prudent to only target CHT, and not peripheral macrophages, so as to not impair recruitment of our cells to the wound site.

To date, only one known method of zebrafish macrophage ablation that does not rely on transgenic zebrafish lines (outside the scope of this thesis) exists. This involves the intravenous microinjection of liposomal chlodronate into zebrafish larvae and results in the indiscriminate ablation of all macrophage/phagocyte populations (Rosowski, 2020). Liposomal chlodronate also exhibits a long circulating half-life and requires at least 48 hours post injection to take effect (Yang, Rojas and Shiau, 2021). Free circulating liposomal chlodronate would also be toxic to our introduced human macrophages. Due to the indiscriminate nature of liposomal chlodronate macrophage ablation and the long circulating half-life of this chemical, this method of macrophage ablation is incompatible with our current study.

In accordance with M1 macrophage recruitment, blastemal cell formation is observed as early as 6HPW (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017). Although macrophages are not dependent on TNF-a signaling for their initial recruitment to the wound, this cytokine enhances macrophage accumulation in the wound after 6HPW and is required for correct regeneration of the caudal fin (typically within 3DPW) (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017). Taken together, this evidence appears to indicate that peripheral macrophages recruit CHT macrophages to the wound site through TNF-a, acting as a positive feedback loop.

TNF-a is a highly pleiotropic protein, expressed by a number of cells as a DAMP in response to tissue damage. Chiefly among these are macrophages which express this protein as both a paracrine and autocrine signaling molecule (Riches, Chan and Winston, 1996). CRISPR knock-out studies utilizing primers specifically designed against zebrafish TNF-a1 demonstrated early expression of this protein, secreted chiefly by macrophages at the wound site, was crucial for normal axonal regeneration in inflicted spinal cord injuries of 3dpf zebrafish larvae (Tsarouchas et al., 2018). This was further corroborated by macrophage deficient zebrafish mutants yielding a similar pathological regeneration pattern in response to the same injury model. From these data, we may safely infer that macrophage-derived TNF-a1 specifically, is a key cytokine in zebrafish tissue regeneration. Taken together with evidence demonstrating that the presence of TNFa+ macrophages at the wound site of a tail transection was insufficient to promote tissue regeneration when TNF-a receptor 1 (TNFR1) was knocked out of the larvae stromal cells, it can be safely inferred that the main pathway involved in zebrafish tail fin regeneration is governed by the interaction of macrophage TNF-a1 and stromal TNFR1 (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017).

The structure of TNF-a1 is the best studied of the two zebrafish isoforms and, similarly to humans, is thought to be biologically active as a homotrimer. In terms of amino acid sequence identity, the zebrafish TNFa-1 is under 35% similar to human TNF-a. Structurally, the zebrafish TNFa1 trimer is unique in that the EF loop of each constituent monomer seals the central cavity present at the top of the trimer in other characterized TNF-a proteins (Duan et al., 2021). Because of this, the zebrafish TNF-a1 protein also lacks an internal coil and is shorter than other species' TNF-a. Despite obvious structural and amino acid differences, researchers digitally superimposed zebrafish TNF-a1 onto an *in silico* model of mouse TNF-a/human TNFR1 complex. In doing so, 4 putative amino acids thought to facilitate zebrafish TNF-a1 binding to zebrafish TNFR1 were elucidated – these being in the same positions as 4 bound amino acids in the mouse/human TNF-a/TNFR1 complex (Duan et al., 2021). We therefore suspect that, despite considerable structural divergence, zebrafish TNF-a1 derived from peripheral macrophages will bind to human TNFR1 on our injected macrophages, recruiting them to the wound site.

It has been postulated that due to the lack of vasculature in the larval zebrafish tail fin, circulating monocytes/macrophages are unable to contribute to the leukocyte pool at the site of amputation. The pool would therefore only comprise nearby tissue-resident cells that migrate towards the wound in a circulation independent manner. Evidence from parabiotic studies contest this hypothesis, demonstrating that macrophages originating from a conjoined embryo can be found in the wounded tail fin of its opposing 'twin' (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017).

Recent evidence suggests that resident macrophages recruited from different tissues in the embryo may play differential roles in the inflammatory response to tail fin transection. Peripheral resident macrophages residing in the tail fin (orthologous to mammalian tissue resident macrophages in origin and function) respond fastest to the wound, likely as a result of the close proximity to the wound edge and sensitivity to inflammatory cues (Morales and Allende, 2019). These macrophages are also faster migrators in response to the wound than are CHT macrophages, being recruited at an average speed of  $^73\mu$ m/h compared to the  $^41\mu$ m/h average speed of CHT macrophages. This creates a temporal delay between the arrival of both macrophage subsets, with peripheral tissue macrophages arriving more rapidly to the wound site within the first 6-12HPW (Morales and Allende, 2019).

Early expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1b at a wound site is known to be a principal effector of the inflammatory process (MacLeod and Mansbridge, 2016). Although myeloid cells are traditionally thought to be the primary contributors of this cytokine in the early stages of wound healing, tail transection studies in zebrafish larvae demonstrate that the opposite is true. Up to 3HPW, epithelial cells at the wound site rapidly upregulate IL-1b expression until the arrival of the first peripheral macrophages. This early IL-1b expression was shown to be crucial for the expression of pro-regenerative genes in the wound, but prolonged expression resulted in increased apoptosis and impaired wound healing (Hasegawa et al., 2017). Real time quantitative PCR employed at 6 and 24HPW revealed that the peripheral macrophages serve to reduce *il1b* transcripts in the zebrafish tail at 6HPW (Hasegawa et al., 2017). Targeted ablation of peripheral

macrophages impairs tissue regrowth due to sustained inflammatory damage as a result of a sustained IL-1b response (Hasegawa et al., 2017). This is in concordance with the longstanding notion that tissue resident macrophages act to regulate inflammatory damage at the wound site in mammals, as described in the macrophage typing section.

At 24HPW, peripheral macrophages express significantly more *tgfb1a* than do CHT derived macrophages (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017). Although TGF-beta is a pleiotropic cytokine, capable of signaling many seemingly opposing functions, in the context of a zebrafish embryo tail transection, it is vital for the correct epimorphic repair of the fin (Miskolci et al., 2019). As these were the only differences in observed cytokines transcripts (also investigated *il10* and *tnfa*) between each group of macrophages, it appears peripheral derived macrophages arrive at the wound site primed towards a more regenerative phenotype, whereas CHT derived macrophages initially at the wound site are likely closer to pro-inflammatory M1-type (Morales and Allende, 2019). This further illustrates that TNF-a as the sole marker of macrophage subtype oversimplifies macrophage dynamics in injury.

This study also found that after near-complete ablation of peripheral resident macrophages, there was no significant difference in macrophage number at the wound site after 24HPW. It was also shown that the transcription of *tnfa* in the tail decreased to virtually nothing between 6 and 24HPW (Morales and Allende, 2019). This is consistent with the previously mentioned study which showed M2 (TNF-a-) macrophages being dominant in the wound from 24HPW until resolution (Nguyen-Chi et al., 2017). Taken together, this indicates that the relatively more proinflammatory macrophages derived from the CHT can undergo a phenotypic switch towards an M2-like phenotype even in the absence of most peripheral resident macrophages.

One recent study investigated the migration and survival of human naïve macrophages injected into zebrafish embryos. It was found that the exogenous macrophages preferentially associated with the head and, importantly, tail vasculature. Although this was not explicitly determined by the researchers, we suspect, based on the anatomical positioning of the exogenous macrophages in the tail region observed in this study, that from the first day post injection the macrophages preferentially associate with the CHT niche (Paul et al., 2019). This could be predictive of the response these macrophages will elicit in inflammation as being more similar to zebrafish innate CHT macrophages than peripheral tissue macrophages. This is in keeping with the presumption that CHT macrophages are orthologous to mammalian monocyte-derived macrophages. Based on the current evidence, we also cannot rule out the possibility of the CHT niche priming macrophages towards a specific response, though this has not yet been shown. Given that the CHT niche is in the abluminal space, this could also be amongst the first *in vivo* evidence for macrophages to traverse through the endothelium post monocytic differentiation.

All of the exogenous human macrophages were found closely situated to blood vessels even after 7dpi, indicating that they did not take up peripheral tissue-resident status in the fin (Paul et al., 2019). Another potential explanation for slower recruitment and differential injury response of CHT macrophages to tail fin transections as compared to peripheral tissue-resident macrophages

is the requirement of CHT macrophages, not peripheral tissue macrophages, to traverse through the basement membrane subtending the blood vessels. As previously discussed, this layer could transiently limit the migration of the macrophages as a checkpoint, to ensure they are mostly differentiated and primed to respond to an inflammatory insult (Li et al., 2020).

It is important to consider, when transplanting live immune cells as potential drug carriers in zebrafish larvae, the extent of crosstalk that can take place between the exogenous inflammatory cells and the zebrafish microenvironment.

# 2.5.3 Crosstalk Between Human M1 Macrophages and the Zebrafish Larval Microenvironment

Human M1, or classically activated macrophages, are considered primary actuators of acute inflammation as they secrete an array of pro-inflammatory products upon stimulation. These include cytokines such as IL-1b, IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, IL-23, TNF-a, and type I IFN; and chemokines. The first, and most important responders to damage- and pathogen-associated molecular patterns in macrophages are <u>IL-1b, TNF-a, and II-6</u> (Atri, Guerfali and Laouini, 2018). As TNF-a has already been discussed in the previous section, we will focus more on human IL-1b and IL-6 and the cross-species compatibility of these cytokines.

Cytokine synthesis and secretion play an important and tightly controlled role in mediating immune response and inflammation. Much of the control is as a result of the instability of many interleukins' mRNA, limiting the lifespan and translation window of these molecules (Brown, Lagnado, Vadas and Goodall, 1996). In both mammals and teleost fish, IL-1b is an orthologous, multifunctional protein and serves as a potent pyrogen and proinflammatory cytokine that acts primarily on T and B lymphocytes, macrophages, and endothelial cells (Frame et al., 2020). This cytokine also acts on liver tissue to stimulate the release of acute phase proteins, thereby playing a role in coordinating the adaptive immune response. In both organisms, IL-1b is translated as an immature, inactive pro-IL-1b protein that must be processed to yield the mature, active form. In humans, this processing is primarily performed intracellularly by caspase 1, cleaving the proprotein between aspartate 116 and alanine 117 (Pyrillou, Burzynski and Clarke, 2020). In ZF, this cleavage is performed by caspase 1 orthologues, caspase A and caspase B (Frame et al., 2020) (Vojtech, Scharping, Woodson and Hansen, 2012).

Despite shared function, human and zebrafish IL-1b exhibit amino acid sequence differences. Human and ZF IL-1b only share 27% amino acid sequence identity and a conserved caspase 1 cleavage site is absent on the ZF homologue. The low sequence similarity may be inconsequential to receptor binding however, as the predicted structure of ZF IL-1b contains a conserved structural motif of a  $\beta$ -sheet-rich-trefoil with human IL-1b (Ogryzko et al., 2013). Cytokines containing this structure are classified as members of the  $\beta$ -trefoil family and can often bind to the same cognate receptor with different affinities, despite high sequence variability. For example, in humans, three  $\beta$ -trefoil cytokines: IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1b, and IL-1Ra are all able to bind to the IL-1RI receptor even though human IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1b only share 25% sequence similarity (Fields, Günther and Sundberg, 2019). This is the molecular basis behind one of the key features of cytokines, their redundancy. Interestingly, BLASTP alignments reveal ZF II1- $\beta$  (NP 998009.2) and human pro-IL-1b (NP 000567.1) share a similarly low sequence identity of 27.27% but both the percentage identity and E value improve when the mature human IL-1b (AAC03536.1) is aligned to the ZF protein instead. This indicates that the functional structure of this protein is, in part, structurally conserved. Perhaps the most convincing evidence for human-ZF cross-species reactivity of the IL-1 cytokines and their receptors is the successful use of anakinra to reduce inflammation in 3dpf ZF larvae (Mazon-Moya et al., 2017). Anakinra is an analogue of human IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), only sharing 29.7% sequence homology with ZF IL-1b. This is especially important as IL-1Ra binds to site A of IL-RI and IL-1b binds to sites A and B of IL-RI, indicating that both cytokines compete for the same binding site. Human IL-Ra and IL-1b also exhibit a low root-mean-square deviation of atomic positions of only 0.90Å, despite their low sequence similarity (Fields, Günther and Sundberg, 2019). Taken together, there is good reason to believe that human IL-1b released by the macrophages will bind to and elicit effects from ZF IL-1R.

#### <u>IL-6:</u>

IL-6 is an important cytokine in mediating both the innate and adaptive immune responses and is released upon immune recognition of damage- or pathogen-associated molecular patterns. This cytokine, expressed by many cell types, is crucial during ZF development. In contrast, the primary IL-6 receptor, membrane-bound IL-6R (mIL-6R), is mostly restricted to leukocytes and liver cells, the latter of which are responsible for the coordination of the acute phase response upon IL-6 stimulation (Saito, et al., 1992)(Hibi et al., 1990).

The signaling cascade of IL-6 begins with the binding of the cytokine to IL-6R, causing the receptor to associate with transmembrane signal transducing component, glycoprotein 130 (gp130) (Schmidt-Arras and Rose-John, 2016). Homologues of these components exist in ZF. Signal initiation occurs upon subsequent homodimerization of gp130, activating PI3K, ERK, and JAK/STAT pathways. Functionally, the human and ZF homologues are highly similar in the response they elicit, including further regulation of the immune response by promoting macrophage proliferation and downregulating the expression of IL-1b and TNF- $\alpha$  (Costa et al., 2011). These features both exacerbate and limit inflammation respectively, which makes predicting the transient effect of additional IL-6 in ZF larvae difficult, especially considering the lack of a functional adaptive immune system at this point.

Structurally, the best categorized IL-6 protein is human IL-6, a 212 amino acid long protein with a 28 amino acid signal peptide. Human IL-6 comprises a single chain, phosphorylated glycoprotein with a tertiary structure comprising five  $\alpha$ -helices. Four of these helices, A-D, are arranged in a bundle with A and B antiparallel to C and D. Helix E lies outside the bundle and is connected to C and D (Metcalfe, Putoczki and Griffin, 2020).

To our knowledge, zebrafish IL-6 has yet to be purified, hence the predicted structure is the current best estimate (Zou and Secombes, 2016)(Varela, et al., 2012). Zebrafish IL-6 is predicted to be a 231 amino acid long protein with a 23 amino acid signal peptide. Structurally, zebrafish IL-6 is predicted to comprise a 4-helical cytokine core with a partially conserved IL-6/G-CSF/MGF family signature. Despite low sequence similarity, the predicted 3D structure of zebrafish IL-6 is well conserved with human IL-6, suggesting conservation in function (Varela, et al., 2012). Although helpful, the extrapolation potential of evidence based on a predictive model is limited. Fortunately, two separate research groups recently published work in which human recombinant IL-6 was microinjected into zebrafish and elicited a response.

The first study showed by inducing an inflammatory response, through means of mechanical injury to the optic tectum of three-to-four-month-old zebrafish, that early IL-6/Jak-Stat pathway activation is essential for the proliferation of radial ganglia and therefore brain regeneration. Using qRT-PCR techniques, it was shown that the expression of *il6* and *stat3* peaked 6 hours post injury and coincided with macrophage migration into the optic tectum. Also demonstrated was that radial ganglia proliferation, but not macrophage migration was significantly impaired with the addition of a Stat3 inhibitor and that cerebroventricular microinjection of human recombinant IL-6 in uninjured zebrafish was sufficient to induce radial ganglia proliferation and secretion of IL-6 in the early stages of inflammation is necessary for tissue regeneration and that human IL-6 (as will be secreted by our microinjected macrophages) will elicit an appropriate response in the zebrafish larval microenvironment.

The second recently published study corroborates the ability of human IL-6 to elicit physiological responses in zebrafish, demonstrating that chronic overexpression of human recombinant IL-6 in zebrafish causes hepatic steatosis. This finding contributes to our understanding of the mechanism behind IL-6 overexpression and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and affirms the compatibility of human IL-6 in zebrafish (Singh et al., 2021).

Based on the literature presented in this section, we have strong reason to believe that injected human M1 macrophage drug carriers would elicit predictable zebrafish responses and may partake in some degree of crosstalk with the zebrafish microenvironment during inflammation, particularly in the early stages.

# 2.5.4 Injected Macrophage Phenotype Plasticity

It is necessary to address whether, based on current literature, it is plausible that zebrafish cytokines will induce a phenotypic shift in the human macrophages from an M1 phenotype to an M2 phenotype. This is a more nuanced physiological process in the sense that it is entirely mediated by specific secreted signaling factors as opposed to more generalised (and interspecifically conserved) DAMP signaling that occurs during M1 polarisation. Although this phenotypic shift will not be confirmed in this study, this could pose a limiting factor in the overall usefulness of the zebrafish model for future macrophage-based drug delivery research.

As previously discussed, IL-4 and IL-13 are necessary human cytokines to induce M2 polarization of human macrophages *in vivo*. In mammals, the genes encoding these cytokines are located within the same cluster on chromosome 4 and share regulatory elements. Likely as a result of a whole genome duplication event within teleosts, two homologous cytokines for mammalian IL-4 and IL-13 within zebrafish, namely IL-4/13A and IL-4/13B, are encoded for on separate chromosomes, 9 and 14 respectively (Wang et al., 2016) (Bottiglione et al., 2020). Functionally, these zebrafish orthologues have been shown to be similarly immunosuppressive, with mutants lacking these functional genes expressing a significantly more inflammatory phenotype than wild type controls (Bottiglione et al., 2020). Very little data is available on the conservation of these cytokines between teleosts and humans besides a low level of structural conservation between human IL-4 and IL-13, and zebrafish IL-4/IL-13A and IL-4/IL-13B.

Due to the uncertainty regarding whether human macrophages would be able to undergo the entire polarisation range in response to zebrafish stimuli, future studies in this line would greatly benefit from additional *in vitro* experiments in which primary human macrophages are exposed to purified zebrafish M2 polarization stimuli.

The resolution of inflammation is complete when the macrophage presence is reduced at the wound site. As with neutrophils, this is primarily a result of reverse migration and to a much lesser extent, cell death (Miskolci et al., 2019). Macrophage death appears to be related to the severity of the inflammatory response, and therefore was not found in a less severe laser-induced pericardial damage model as compared to tail fin transection (Kaveh et al., 2020). Macrophages begin to reverse migrate around 96HPW (Miskolci et al., 2019). In conclusion, insufficient data is available to predict whether the injected human M1 macrophages will undergo the entire appropriate range of polarisation during the inflammatory response to zebrafish tail transections. We do, however, expect the macrophages to self-regulate their presence in the wound site, either by reverse migration or cell death, to prevent perpetuating inflammation.

# 2.6 Methodological considerations: Microinjection

The implementation of the novel macrophage drug carriers in zebrafish larvae is possible through microinjection of the drug-laden cells into the larval circulation. Microinjections are becoming more common in zebrafish research as a method of introducing foreign molecules or cells over 500nm in diameter to zebrafish, either locally or into circulation. Despite the rise in popularity of this method, however, there remains to be established a universal consensus regarding the basics, such as the maximum volumes to be injected into zebrafish larvae without significantly disrupting homeostasis and therefore the validity of the acquired data.

This has resulted in injection volumes into circulation frequently ranging from picolitres to over 20nl. At 2dpf, zebrafish larvae are thought to have a total blood volume of between 60 and 90nl (Craig, Gilday, Dabiri and Hove, 2012). There is reason to suspect the commonly injected volumes at the larger end of the spectrum could upset larval homeostasis, damage cardiovascular tissue,

and result in associated developmental defects, although has not yet been the subject of investigation.

To our knowledge, microinjection of human, non-stem, non-cancer cells into zebrafish larval circulation has only been reported once in literature. Fortunately, the research from this study demonstrated that human monocytes and macrophages, differentiated both at human and zebrafish physiological temperatures, survive for up to two weeks post injection into zebrafish (Paul et al., 2019). The data generated in this study provide further evidence for the use of our novel human macrophage-based drug delivery system in larval zebrafish models without the need for additional modification. The authors did not stimulate inflammatory conditions. Therefore, human macrophage migration and response to *in vivo* zebrafish inflammation remains to be determined.

Other factors which remain to be determined are the fates of the injected macrophages after resolution of inflammation and the extent of crosstalk between macrophage and host environment. An advantage of using macrophages as agents of drug delivery is that, unlike with foreign nanoparticles that can injuriously accumulate in tissues, there is a constant turnover: breaking down and recycling of cells in the body. Lastly, the only existing paper to report injecting human macrophages into zebrafish larvae did not provide details on the diameter of the injector tip. Technically, injection tips at the larger end of the diameter spectrum are more prone to leakage and inconsistent injection volumes, whereas tips at the finer end of the spectrum are more prone to clogging. Specifically for our purposes, this must also be optimized as a compromise between a tip size large enough for the ejection of intact macrophages with diameters of approximately 21µm, and a tip size small enough to not elicit a substantial local inflammatory reaction to which the newly injected macrophages would be recruited. Fortunately, macrophages are readily deformable cells which allows for tip diameters smaller than their maximum diameter, provided the injection pressure at least matches the minimum pressure required to for deformation of the cells. Too high an injection pressure may cause the cells to shear.

# 2.7 Hypothesis

We hypothesised that human M1 polarised macrophages would a) associate with the zebrafish CHT shortly after injection into 2dpf zebrafish larval circulation, b) survive for at least 3 days (until the experimental endpoint), and c) disassociate with the CHT and migrate into the inflamed zebrafish tissue within 48 hours after tail fin transections are performed, thus establishing zebrafish larvae as suitable models in which to develop and test a human macrophage-based drug delivery system.

# 2.8 Aims and Objectives

In order to test our hypothesis, the following aims and objectives were formulated:

#### Aims:

- 1. To optimise microinjection protocols for the introduction of human macrophages into zebrafish larval circulation
- 2. To optimise cell visualisation parameters for the long-term visualisation of the injected cells *in vivo*
- 3. To determine whether the injected human macrophages respond appropriately, through adequate survival (over 72 hours post injection) and migration, to acute zebrafish inflammation

#### **Objectives:**

- 1. Optimise microinjector needle tip size
- 2. Determine appropriate injection volumes
- 3. Optimise cellular fluorescent stain protocol
- 4. Introduce labelled human macrophages into 2dpf larval circulation via microinjection, induce a localised inflammatory response, by means of tail fin transections, and assess the response of the injected cells to the inflammation

# Chapter 3: Materials, Methods, and Results

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Due to this thesis describing a model development project, I have deviated from the traditional discrete sections of materials and methods, and results. Instead, I have integrated these sections to better reflect the nature of the project and provide a more logical, chronological and easier to follow account of research done. Briefly, the layout of this section is information on ethical aspects, followed by a section outlining the most basic techniques that were similar in all experiments. This introductory part is then followed by a chronological account of each experiment, which describes the experiment-specific methods and results.

# **3.2 Ethical considerations**

Ethical approval was granted by the Animal Committee of Stellenbosch University (ref # ACU-2019-11820) for zebrafish work using larvae up to <5 days (<120 hours post fertilization (dpf)). Ethical clearance exemption was also granted by the Health Research Ethics Committee (HREC) of Stellenbosch University for the use of donated blood (buffy coat) for isolation and preparation of primary monocyte cultures (ref #: X15/05/013).

# 3.3 General Zebrafish Methodology

Zebrafish Maintenance and Breeding: Adult zebrafish were housed under standard husbandry conditions (14:10 light/dark cycle, tank water temperature 28°C, pH 7.2-7.8 and conductivity 500-800uS/cm<sup>3</sup>). After spawning, fertilized eggs were sorted into petri dishes with embryo media (E3: 5mM NaCl, 0.17mM KCl, 0.33mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.33mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 10<sup>-5%</sup> methylene blue, made up in dH2O) at maximum density of 50 eggs per dish and media refreshed daily.

<u>General Anesthesia Protocol:</u> Healthy, hatched 2 days post fertilization (2dpf) larvae were selected for the microinjection procedure and anaesthetized with 0.168g/L tricaine (3-amino benzoic acid ethyl ester also called ethyl 3-aminobenzoate) (Sigma Cat# A5040) in E3 for 20 minutes prior to tail fin transection and/or injection.

<u>General Euthanasia Protocol</u>: All larvae used in experimentation were euthanized before they reached the age of 5dpf. This was performed by combined means of tricaine overdose (immersion in 300mg/L tricaine solution in E3, buffered to pH7) and hypothermia (freezing in - 80°C freezer). Euthanasia was always performed by a South African Veterinary Council authorised individual.

<u>Tail Fin Transections</u>: In order to create a natural chemotactic signal to attract macrophages to a site for drug delivery, anaesthetized larvae were individually placed into each well of a 24-well plate with 1ml tricaine supplemented E3 and set under a stereo light microscope (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, Florida, Model No. 504941). Using a pair of stainless steel Vannas scissors

with 5mm blades (WPI, 14003), caudal fin tissue was transected perpendicularly to the notochord (Fig. 3.1), taking care to not clip the notochord itself.



Figure 3.1: Diagram representing a typical tail fin transection.

<u>Microinjection Preparation</u>: Using Eppendorf Microloader tips, ~3µL methylene blue or triturated cell suspension was pipetted into a pulled borosilicate capillary tube (microinjector needle). The filled capillary tube was fitted to a M3301-M3 micromanipulator (WPI) and PV830 PicoPump (WPI) for immediate calibration and injections.

<u>Microinjector Calibration</u>: To calibrate the microinjector, pressure and time period were adjusted to expel droplets of consistent diameter into oil. This was assessed using a micrometer slide upon which the oil was placed, under a WPI Model No. 504941 stereomicroscope. The diameter was used to calculate the volume of the droplets (Volume= ( $\pi$  x diameter<sup>3</sup>)/6). For 10nl, a consistent diameter of ~267µm was achieved (Figure 3.2). These results indicate that this method of volume calibration offers an acceptable approximation of the ideal volumes with high consistency.

100µm	Expected Diameter (μm)	Average Calculated Diameter (μm)	Expected Volume (nl)	Calculated Average Volume (nl)
0	212.19	210.08±0.96	5.00	4.85±0.05
0	267.30	263.33±1.77	10.00	9.56±0.19
9	305.99	294.13±5.50	15.00	13.33±0.76
0	336.78	336.64±0.55	20.00	19.97±0.10

Table 3.1. Digitally measured real droplet sizes and volumes compared to ideal, calculated droplet sizes and volumes ( $\pm$ SD). The scale without droplets is pictured in the top left of the table. Distance between the smallest gradations on the scale are 10µm in length.

<u>General Zebrafish Microinjection procedure:</u> Anaesthetized zebrafish larvae were individually plated onto a mold consisting of 1% low melting-point agarose and excess media dabbed off with paper towels, taking care to not touch the larvae. Under a stereo light microscope (WPI Model No. 504941), the larvae were aligned for direct access of the microinjector needle to larval circulation via the Duct of Cuvier. Once the needle had broken the epidermis and entered the duct, the required volume was injected and the needle retracted. Successful injection was confirmed by observation of the slight expansion of the duct and the heart immediately after bolus injection. Occasionally, individual injected cells were visible, but this proved an unreliable parameter, as it was dependent on contrast, depth effects, and lack of obfuscation.

The successfully injected larvae were returned individually into a well of a 24 well plate with 1ml fresh tricaine anesthetic solution to be immediately visualized. In cases where a delay prior to visualization was unavoidable, wells were refreshed with fresh E3 and returned to the incubator. For subsequent imaging, larvae were re-anesthetized for 20 minutes prior to visualization as per the general zebrafish anaesthesia protocol in section 3.3. Given the novelty of intravenous cellular injections into 2dpf zebrafish larvae, the following methodological considerations were addressed.



**Table 3.2: Images of tip sizes at different diameters under 10x magnification**. In the scale image, the distance between two of the smallest gradations is  $10\mu$ m. All images were captured at the same magnification with the scale in the background. Image E clearly shows the tip was cut at an angle to create a bevel allowing for smoother breaking of the zebrafish epidermis.

<u>Tip Diameter Optimization</u>: Both monocytes and macrophages are highly deformable cells and can theoretically be ejected out of a microinjector tip with a smaller diameter than the cells themselves (21-23µm). A relatively narrow tip would be beneficial in avoiding tissue damage but may cause clogging of the tip by cells, hence risking inconsistent injection volumes. Microinjector needles with different tip diameters, starting at 5µm and increasing by 5µm per tip were used experimentally until clogging ceased and droplets of consistent diameters were expelled. The needles were pulled from, 100mm length borosilicate capillary tubes with internal/outside diameter 0.58mm/1.0mm (1B100F-4 WPI) using a PUL-1000 micropipette puller (WPI) at the following settings - Heat Index: 650; Force: 250g; Distance: 8.00mm; Delay: 0s to yield needles with long graduated tapers. Tip diameter was established by placing the needle on a micrometer slide under a stereomicroscope (WPI Model No. 504941) and cutting along the graduated taper at the desired diameter, using a pair of stainless steel Vannas scissors with 5mm blades (WPI, 14003) (Figure 3.3). Our most successful tip diameter proved to be between 15 and 20µm, as cells could be consistently ejected without clogging, once practical issues (discussed later) were accounted for.

<u>Optimisation of Injection site:</u> Conventionally, intravenous injections into zebrafish larvae are performed from 1-3dpf, in either the caudal vein or the Duct of Cuvier (Veinotte, Dellaire and Berman, 2014) (Duggan and Mostowy, 2018). Experimentally we achieved the highest rates of successful injections (i.e., resulted in the introduction of an adequate number of cells into circulation) in 2dpf zebrafish larvae, in the Duct of Cuvier. At 2dpf, this venous sinus is most apparent (as compared to other timepoints in development) under a stereo light microscope and the epidermis is still sufficiently thin for smooth entry of the needle into the duct without damaging the needle or blunting it too fast. Duct of Cuvier injections at 3dpf were also investigated for our purposes but proved less efficient due to epidermal thickening and anatomical remodeling making the duct more difficult to visualise.

We also investigated the caudal vein as potential injection site, evaluating injections at 1 and 3dpf. The former proved difficult as the vein was insufficiently wide to allow for injections with our relatively large (required) tip diameters. The aforementioned injection sites are represented visually in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4. Diagram demonstrating investigated microinjection sites

# 3.4 Experiment 1: Injection Volume Optimisation

# 3.4.1 Purpose

In literature, injection volumes administered into the circulation of 2dpf larvae frequently range from below 1nl to above 20nl (Cianciolo Cosentino, et al., 2010) (Fehr et al., 2016) (Osmani et al., 2019) (Paul et al., 2019) (Zhu et al., 2018) (Lan et al., 2019). This variability is primarily due to lack of convention, as similar studies investigating metastasis of intravenously microinjected cancer cells vary substantially in injection volumes, with some reportedly injecting volumes of 60nl (Berens, Sharif, Wellstein and Glasgow, 2016) (Teng et al., 2013). Due to this large reported range of variability in injection volumes, we sought to optimise injection volumes for our purposes. As our aim was to inject functional human macrophages - which rely on adequate circulation for chemotaxis - into zebrafish larval circulation, and, as the upper limit of tolerable intravenous injection volumes in 2dpf zebrafish larvae has not yet been established, we injected a range of volumes and assessed parameters pertaining to cardiovascular function: heart rate, expressed in beats per minute (BPM), and swim bladder development, as well as gualitative morphology (pericardial oedema, yolk sac edema). Zebrafish larvae with significantly impaired circulation/heart failure, fail to inflate their swimbladders within 5dpf (Winata et al., 2010) (Yue, Peterson and Heideman, 2015). Because macrophages are relatively large cells, a cell suspension on the upper limits of tolerable injection volume was deemed most desirable for our purposes.

# 3.4.2 Methods

Healthy, hatched 2dpf zebrafish larvae were selected, placed individually into wells of a 24 well culture plate, and anaesthetised as described in 3.3 (General Anesthesia Protocol) for intravenous injections of 0.05% methylene blue solution of 5; 10; 15; and 20nl (n=18 larvae per group), as previously described in section 3. 3 (General Zebrafish Microinjection Procedure). This

solution was selected due to its stark colour, allowing visualisation of successful injections. Methylene blue is a commonly used anti-fungal agent in zebrafish E3 and has been shown previously by our group not to cause adverse effects in zebrafish larvae immersed in the concentrations of this chemical that was used in this study (J Conradie, BSc Hons thesis, 2020). The larvae were then randomly divided into heart rate monitoring groups (n=8 per dose volume) and morphological assessment groups (n=10 per dose volume) and monitored once a day over 3 days (up to 5dpf). Daily images were taken using a stereomicroscope (WPI Model No. 504941).

#### 3.4.3 Results

A two-way factorial ANOVA comparing the effects of both age and dose volume shows that that there is no interaction between these variables. One-way ANOVAs (Figure 3.5) of each independent variable show that both dose volume (Figure 3.5 A; p<0001) inverse-proportionally, and age (Figure 3.5 B; p<0.01) proportionally, have significant effects on heart rate. Bonferroni post-hoc tests indicate that the statistical differences in heart rate between injection volume groups lies between the 20nl injection group and the 0nl (p<00001), 5nl (p<0.00001), and 10nl (p<0001) injection groups but not the 15nl (p>0.9999) injection group.



**Figure 3.5:** ANOVA comparing the effects of A: methylene blue dose volume; and B: age on the heart rate of injected zebrafish larvae. Total zebrafish sample of n=40 was used for all statistical analyses.

From the data presented in Table 3.3 and pictured in Figure 3.6, it is clear that cardiovascular abnormalities occur in a dose-dependent manner, with 5nl injections incurring the lowest number of larvae with morphological cardiovascular defects and 20nl being most harmful to larval morphology.

dpi	Group	Cardiac Edema	Yolk Edema	Bent Tail	Uninflated Swim Bladder
1	5nl	0	0	0	
	10nl	0	0	0	
	15nl	4	4	0	
	20nl	4	1	0	
2	5nl	1	1	0	
	10nl	1	1	0	
	15nl	3	3	0	
	20nl	8	7	0	
3	5nl	0	2	1	0
	10nl	2	3	2	1
	15nl	3	4	2	3
	20nl	5	5	4	5

**Table 3.3: Recorded morphological defects of larvae with increasing intravenous methylene blue dose volume (n=10 per dose volume)**. The swim bladder typically inflates at the larval age of 5dpf (3dpi in this case), hence an uninflated swim bladder at 1 and 2dpi is not considered a morphological defect.



**Figure 3.6:** Morphological effects of increasing injection dose volume of methylene blue into zebrafish larval circulation over 3dpi. One larva per each dose volume group (n=10) is pictured, not necessarily representative of the group (refer to table 3.3 for distribution of abnormalities per

group). As the healthy larval swimbladders inflated between 2-3 dpi, the natural orientation of healthy larvae in the water became upright (control at 2dpi and 3dpi and 5nl at 3dpi). Red arrow indicates example of an uninflated swimbladder. As the swimbladder develops and inflates, larvae rotate to be perpendicular to the surface (e.g. Control 2dpi, 3dpi, and 5nl 3dpi).

### 3.4.4 Interpretation

The ultimate aim with volume optimisation for cell-based injections for our purposes, is to introduce the largest volume with the least associated cardiovascular risk. Data suggest the use of 10nl as optimal injection volume in subsequent experiments, with at least n=10 larvae per experiment to mitigate the low cardiovascular risk associated with this volume, from being a significant confounding factor. Although 5nl is the most conservative volume in terms of associated morphological defects in larvae, this volume would necessitate a cell suspension of high density to allow for the microinjection of an adequate number of cells into larval circulation, significantly increasing the risk of needle clogging/inconsistent number of injected cells. Of further interest, the density used in prior work in literature (1x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml) (Paul et al., 2019), to inject human macrophages into zebrafish larval circulation, proved adequate.

One apparent complexity of cell-based microinjections, as compared to more conventional microinjections, which was a challenge in the current experiment, was the effect of gravity acting on the cells in suspension over time; the longer the experiment (i.e., the greater the number of larvae to inject), the greater the risk of the cells settling towards the tip and adhering to the borosilicate needle due to its approximately 45-degree downward angle. This can result in either fewer cells than anticipated being ejected with PBS or too many cells dislodging with a pulse at once. This was mitigated by rotating the needle approximately 90 degrees and recalibrating injection volume between every injection.

# 3.5 Experiment 2: Verification of *in vivo* Cell Tracking

# 3.5.1 Purpose

Prior to investigating the *in vivo* behaviour of THP-1-derived macrophages in zebrafish larvae, we aimed to verify whether intravenous cell injections were feasible with our optimised microinjection protocols, and whether the dye concentration used allowed for long term visualisation of the cells without imparing cellular viability. However, given the relatively longer protocol required for preparation of macropohages, we opted to use undifferentiated THP-1 monocytes for this experiment. To achieve these aims, undifferentiated THP-1 cells were labeled and injected into the circulation of 2dpf zebrafish larvae via the Duct of Cuvier. Tail fin transections were subsequently performed on the larvae to determine the effect of acute inflammation on the undifferentiated cells.

## 3.5.2 Methods

<u>THP-1 Cell Maintenance</u>: Human monocytic (THP-1) cells were thawed and suspended at an initial density of  $2-3x10^5$  cells/ml in pre-warmed complete THP-1 standard growth medium (SGM; 10% FBS v/v + 1% v/v PenStrep + 25 mM HEPES in RPMI 1640 (with L-glutamine and Phenol Red)) in a T-75 culture flask and incubated at 37.5°C. Cells were refreshed every 2-3 days by either adding new SGM to the cell suspension (upon the first refreshing) or – to prevent cells from reaching a density of  $1x10^6$  cells/ml or greater - by centrifuging the cells at 130g for 7 minutes and resuspending the pellet in SGM. The THP-1 cells in a flask were generally split when a density of  $8x10^5$  cells/ml was reached.

<u>Cell Labelling:</u> Cell suspensions were centrifuged at 130*g* for 7 minutes. The resultant supernatant was aspirated from the pellet and replaced with pre-warmed FBS-free SGM containing 10uM CellTracker Violet fluorescent dye (Thermo Fisher, Massachusetts, USA, cat # C10094). This suspension was incubated for 30-45 minutes, spun down at 130*g* for 7 minutes, supernatant aspirated off and pellet resuspended in pre-warmed PBS to yield a density of 1x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml (Paul et al., 2019). At this point, the cell suspension was ready to be injected into zebrafish.

Healthy, hatched 2dpf zebrafish larvae (n=10) were selected to be anesthetised, mounted, and microinjected with undifferentiated THP-1 cells as described in section 3.3. Tail fin transections were then performed on the injected larvae as described in section 3.3. Images were captured using a Zeiss Axio Observer 7 inverted fluorescent microscope at 5x, 20x, and 40x magnification.

# 3.5.3 Results

Undifferentiated THP-1 cells appeared to adhere to vascular endothelium, specifically in the distal tail and rapidly proliferate, seemingly significantly increasing in number within 24 hours post injection (Figure 3.7). The fluorescent stain (CellTracker Violet) retained sufficient intensity after 24 hours for the unambiguous identification of the human cells *in vivo* (Figure 3.7; monocytes are indicated with white arrows). Undifferentiated THP-1 cells do not undergo differentiation into macrophage-like cells upon exposure to traditional DAMPs and PAMP signals, instead relying on *in vitro* stimulation with PMA. Hence, these cells likely remained undifferentiated for the duration of the experiment. Unstained polymorphonuclear cells (indicated with red arrow in Figure 3.7) of similar size were visualised adjacent to injected stained cells immediately post transection. We speculate these unstained cells may be endogenous zebrafish neutrophils similarly trapped in the CHT. Specific staining to confirm this was not performed in this experiment and would be beneficial to perform in future studies.



200 ur

Figure 3.7: Undifferentiated THP-1 cells rapidly expand, both systemically (in circulation) (Transected 1) and locally (Transected 2) – although to a lesser extent – within 24 hours post tail fin transection. Red boxes indicate the area that is enlarged in following image at the same timepoint (e.g., red box in Transected 1, immediate (5x) is area shown under 40x magnification in Transected 1, immediate (40x). Red arrow indicates unstained polymorphonuclear cell adjacent to similarly sized stained cells. We suspect this to be an endogenous zebrafish neutrophil trapped in the CHT niche and indicates that the same is happening to the injected human THP-1 cells. The area enlarged in Transected 2, 40x magnification shows THP-1 cells (orange arrows) unexpectedly associating with the eye of the zebrafish larvae and surviving there for at least 24 hours (Transected 2, 24HPW, 5x). White dotted circle indicates area of zebrafish larval autofluorescence (yolk sac). Monocytes not associating in the eye of the Transected 2 larva (white arrows, 24HPW) were found to disperse is an apparently random pattern in the larva.

As indicated in Transected 2, THP-1 monocytes were also found to migrate into the small blood vessels within the eye of the larvae, and survive there for at least 24HPW. Of interest, the monocytes were not found to migrate out of circulation, evidenced in Transected 1 at 24HPW. They were, however, found in the most distal portion of circulation, nearest to the wound.

# 3.5.4 Interpretation

We showed that our microinjection protocols were sufficient in introducing cells into the circulation of 2dpf zebrafish larvae. The injected cells retained sufficient stain intensity for unambiguous identification of our injected cells over the course of 24 hours, despite the rapid cellular division. Taken together, the cells retained sufficient dye intensity without incurring of loss of cellular viability, indicating an appropriate concentration of CellTracker Violet being used. Interestingly, the fact that monocytes were found at the most distal end of circulation, closest to the wound, without leaving circulation (Figure 3.8, Transected 1, 24HPW) could indicate that they have the capacity for migration towards an inflammatory site in circulation, but not transendothelial migration. It is also possible that the rapid proliferation of these cells, indicating their activation in response to zebrafish inflammation, was more pronounced closest to the site of inflammation due to exposure of DAMPs and PAMPs, thus migration towards the inflammatory site is not the only possible explanation. Activation of the human THP-1 cells upon exposure to zebrafish inflammatory cues is a promising early result and differentiation of these cells into macrophages may enable their ability to undergo diapedesis towards the inflamed tissue.

# **3.6 Experiment 3: Survival and Migratory Capacity: M1 THP-1-Derived Macrophages**

#### 3.6.1 Purpose

As postulated in literature and confirmed by our group, M1 macrophages are the most suited macrophage subtype to the role of drug delivery vehicles due to their responsiveness to early inflammatory cues and ability to efficiently undergo transendothelial migration after being laden

with cargo. We therefore set out to assess whether THP-1-derived M1 macrophages would behave similarly in zebrafish larvae, by migrating into inflamed tissue.

### 3.6.2 Methods

THP-1 cells were cultured and maintained as described in 3.5.2.

<u>THP-1 Differentiation</u>: A calculated volume of cell suspension was removed from the flask, centrifuged at 130*g* for 7 minutes, and resuspended in a calculated volume of fresh, pre-warmed differentiation media (dSGM; SGM + 25nM phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate) to yield a suspension density of  $5x10^5$  cells/ml. In each well of 6-well plates, 3ml cell suspension in dSGM was added and the plates were incubated at 37.5°C for 48 hours without refreshing media again.

<u>THP-1-Derived Macrophage Polarization and Lifting:</u> After 48 hours of incubation, the dSGM was aspirated off the cells and replaced with 3ml pre-warmed polarization SGM (pSGM; SGM + 10ng/ml LPS) per well. The plate was incubated for a further 4 hours at 37.5°C. The pSGM was replaced with fresh, pre-warmed SGM. The SGM was subsequently aspirated from the cells and each well was washed twice with 1ml PBS per wash before being replaced with 1ml TryPLE Express (Thermo Fisher) and incubated at 37.5°C for 30 minutes. The cells were gently and thoroughly scraped from the growth surface of the wells using a sterile cell scraper. The TryPLE Express was neutralised by the addition of 2ml pre-warmed SGM in each well and the combined cell suspensions were added to a 15ml centrifuge tube. The cell suspension was triturated using a pipette for a cell count employing a Fuchs-Rosenthal hemocytometer under a Zeiss Primovert inverted light microscope.

The cells were then labeled and prepared for microinjection as described in section 3.5.2. Healthy, hatched 2dpf zebrafish larvae (n=10) were selected, anesthetised, and prepared for microinjection as already described in section 3.3. Terminally differentiated and M1 polarised THP-1 cells were injected into circulation of 10 larvae which were randomly divided into two groups of n=5. One group was subjected to tail transections immediately post injection. After 1 hour, successfully injected larvae were visualised under a Zeiss Axio Observer 7 inverted fluorescent microscope at 5x, 20x, and 40x magnification. Larvae potentially displaying injected macrophages were imaged again 24 hours later.

#### 3.6.3 Results

Macrophages could be located in 4 of the 10 larvae which were then imaged immediately and 24 hours later. In most cases, the macrophages were found localised in the caudal vasculature of the larvae. No macrophages were located in any larvae after 24 hours, suggesting a potential loss in viability over time, although no assays were performed to determine whether apoptosis had occurred. Representative images are provided in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8: M1 polarised macrophages in zebrafish larval circulation immediately post transection and 24 hours post injection. As convention, all larvae are pictured with head to the

left and tail to the right, dorsal side up. Illustrations of zebrafish (with visible blood vessels) are provided to demonstrate the anatomical positioning of the injected cells shown in the immediate 20x magnification images. Triangular colour-matched arrows indicate the same macrophages across images. Dotted white circle indicates areas of green autofluorescence as exhibited by the zebrafish pigment cells.

#### 3.6.4 Interpretation

To our knowledge, this experiment was the first recorded instance of THP-1-derived macrophages being introduced into the circulation of zebrafish larvae and the first to report a rapid loss in human macrophage viability in zebrafish larvae. The cause of the loss in viability was not determined in this experiment and may be as a result of numerous factors including mechanical damage caused by injection or possibly a culturing intervention such as differentiation or polarization rendering these cells more fragile in the zebrafish microenvironment. Repeating this experiment with a larger zebrafish cohort and unpolarized, naive THP-1-derived macrophages is necessary to elucidate whether THP-1-derived cells are suitable for drug delivery research in larval zebrafish models.

# **3.7 Experiment 4: Survival and Migration Capacity: Naïve THP-1-derived Macrophages**

#### 3.7.1 Purpose

To repeat the previous experiment with a greater larval sample-size using undifferentiated, naïve THP-1-derived macrophages and determine whether these cells possess adequate migrational and survival capacity within the circulation of zebrafish larvae to feasibly model drug carriers in our proposed drug delivery system. This is also a necessary step to determine if/which cell-culturing interventions occurring between the undifferentiated THP-1 monocyte-based experiment (Experiment 2) and differentiated and polarized THP-1-derived macrophage experiment (Experiment 3) resulted in loss of long-term viability of the transplanted cells in the zebrafish larvae.

#### 3.7.2 Methods

THP-1 cells were maintained, differentiated and lifted as described in section 3.6.2, before being fluorescently labeled as described in section 3.5.2. Healthy, hatched 2dpf zebrafish larvae (n=20) were selected, anaethetised, and prepared for microinjection as described in section 3.3. Larvae were injected with naïve THP-1-derived macrophages. At 1 hour post injection, larvae were randomly divided into two groups, with one group being subjected to tail transected (n=10) while one group remained uninjured controls (n=10). Successfully injected zebrafish larvae (n=7) were imaged 1 hour-(prior to transections), 3 hours-, 24 hours-, and 48 hours post injection on an ECLIPSE Ti2 inverted microscope (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). Practically, the identification of the macrophages using this microscope posed a challenge for the researchers, as zebrafish larval

pigment cells autofluoresce strongly in the green spectrum, similarly to the CellTracker Violet stain used in the experiment. Delineation between endogenous pigment cells and exogenous primary macrophages involved identification of movement (macrophages are significantly more mobile than pigment cells), positioning (macrophages are located within or adjacent to blood vessels), shape (macrophages are relatively deformable cells), and comparison to bright field images (pigment cells appear black and opaque under bright field, whereas macrophages are more translucent).

#### 3.7.3 Results

Due to the larger number of larvae per group to be injected in this experiment, the effects of gravity acting on the cells in suspension over time was most evident here. This resulted in a discrepancy in the number of cells injected, yielding some injections of higher densities (>100 cells). Images in Figure 10 are approximately arranged in order of increasing cell number (per group) for ease of comparison for the reader. Although discrepancy of cell numbers was a potential confounder in our interpretation of data, it at the same time allowed us to investigate the effects of cell density on cell survival and behaviour in vivo, albeit with low statistical power. Furthermore, due to reagent limitations, more specific cell labelling was not possible, so that absolute cell counts were not feasible. More comprehensive labelling of macrophages in future will enable more comprehensive assessment of cell numbers and ultimate fate of injected cells. Nevertheless, a number of quantitative observations were possible. To mitigate the discrepancy in number of injected cells in future experiments, the cell suspension was freshly aspirated into the capillary tubes before every injection. Prior to tail transections – at 1 hour after injection, most identified macrophages were observed to be associated with the zebrafish tail vasculature, in what is considered to be the CHT region thereof, despite our inability to distinguish between luminal and abluminal space at this magnification and resolution (Figure 3.9). This is consistent with our previous data (Figure 3.7, Figure 3.8) and literature (Paul et al., 2019), and likely shows compatibility and recognition between human macrophages and zebrafish endothelial cells, as the exogenous cells are sequestered from circulation in a manner similar to that reported for endogenous zebrafish HSCs (macrophage precursors) (Tamplin et al., 2015). At 1 hour post transection (3hpi in transected group), a relative decrease in macrophage number in the CHT area is observed compared to the controls and a greater proportion of these cells are found in circulation. The successfully injected zebrafish larvae (n=7) were monitored and imaged over 48 hours from the time of injection. The images at 48hpi revealed the complete absence of macrophages across all injected larvae, independent of group. These images are not reported in Figure 3.9 as they provide no further information after the absence of macrophages demonstrated in the 24hpi images. Although some THP-1-derived macrophages were observed to enter circulation shortly following fin transections (white arrows in Figure 3.9, 3hpi), none of the injected macrophages were observed to have migrated into the inflamed tissue within 48hpi. Given that the injected macrophage distribution along the tail vasculature also did not shift noticeably towards the site of inflammation 2 hours after tail transections were performed

(Figure 3.9, 3hpi) in the transection group compared to the uninjured controls, we infer that abluminal crawling of these cells towards the injection site, as is described for native zebrafish macrophages in response to tissue damage in literature, occurred minimally, if at all. Native zebrafish leukocytes were not visualized during this experiment. From 24-48 hours post injection (Figure 3.9, 24hpi), THP-1-derived macrophages could not be located in any of the injected larvae, irrespective of the number of cells injected.





Figure 3.9: Unpolarised THP-1-derived macrophage behaviour in 2dpf zebrafish larvae over 24 hours post injection, in uninjured controls (1A-3C) vs tail transected larvae (4A-7C). As

convention, all larvae are pictured head to tail dorsal side facing up. White arrowheads indicate motion blur as a result of capturing images of fast-moving macrophages in transit.

# 3.7.4 Interpretation

This experiment successfully demonstrated that neither cell density nor LPS-dependent polarization of the THP-1-derived macrophages likely accounted for the poor survivability of THP-1-derived macrophages in zebrafish larvae.

Given the lack of evidence generated in this experiment demonstrating that THP-1-derived macrophages possess the capacity to crawl towards inflamed zebrafish tissue or undergo transendothelial migration, together with the data generated from this and the previous experiment, both demonstrating an in vivo loss in THP-1-derived macrophage viability in the short term, it is evident that THP-1-derived macrophages are not adequate candidates with which to investigate cell-based drug delivery in zebrafish larvae. These experiments are the first recorded incidence of viable THP-1 cells, in undifferentiated, differentiated, and M1 polarised state being transplanted into zebrafish. Given the reported survivability of human primary macrophages in zebrafish larvae, our experiments demonstrate clear differences in behavior between THP-1 macrophages and primary human macrophages in zebrafish larvae as reported in literature. We suspect the immortilisation of the THP-1 cell line may have resulted in an alteration of migratory/adhesion proteins and may be the underlying cause of the discrepancy in behaviour between human primary macrophages in zebrafish larvae (as described in literature) and the THP-1-derived macrophages in zebrafish larvae (as described here). Hence the decision was made that future experiments should preferentially make use of human primary macrophages.

# 3.8 Experiment 5: Survival and Migration Capacity: Primary Human M1 Macrophages

#### 3.8.1 Introduction

This experiment essentially repeated the previous experiment, but utilised labelled primary human M1 polarised macrophages as opposed to THP-1-derived macrophage cells, to evaluate whether primary human macrophages may be better candidates with which to develop cell-based drug delivery systems in zebrafish.

# 3.8.2 Methods

<u>Monocyte isolation from whole blood:</u> Whole blood was donated by a normally healthy individual and immediately transferred from 4ml EDTA vacutainers into sterile 15ml centrifuge tubes containing room temperature 2ml Ficoll/Histopaque solution (1.077 g/ml) each, taking care to do so slowly to prevent mixing of the layers. The tubes were then centrifuged at 400g for 30 minutes at room temperature before pipetting 1ml 1mM PBS-EDTA (1xPBS with 0.5M EDTA) into each tube. After each centrifugation, the white ring layer of peripheral blood mononuclear cells

(PBMC) was transferred into a new sterile 15ml centrifugation tube using a plastic Pasteur pipette and aspirated with PBS-EDTA until 7ml total volume was reached. The tubes were then centrifuged at 300g for 10 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was aspirated from the pellet and the pellet was washed in equivalent volume of fresh PBS-EDTA. Because all of the available blood for the experiment was donated by a single donor, the pellets were pooled and resuspended in 6ml RPMI-1640 without phenol red, supplemented with 10% FBS. In a new 15ml centrifuge tube, 6.939ml room temperature Percoll solution was added with 0.561ml 10x FBS. 6.9ml of this solution was then mixed with 8.1ml RPMI-1640 with phenol red and 10% FBS to obtain a 46% iso-osmotic Percoll solution in a new 15ml centrifuge tube. Using a pipette, 7.3ml Percoll solution was added to a new 15ml centrifuge tube and the prepared 6ml cell suspension was gently layered on top, taking care not to mix the solutions. The tube was then centrifuged at 550g for 30 minutes at room temperature. The PBMC layer was again retrieved and transferred into a 15ml centrifuge tube with PBS-EDTA with total volume of 7ml and centrifuged at 400g for 10 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was then aspirated from the pellet which was resuspended in complete monocyte media comprising RPMI 1640 with 10% Human Serum from AB patient (CAT# H4522 Sigma-Aldrich), and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin (100 U/ml) for immediate seeding.

General primary monocyte cell culture: Primary human monocytes were seeded into wells of a polystyrene 12-well dish with complete monocyte media and immediately treated with 50ng/ml GM-CSF. The cells were left to adhere for 24 hours before the spent media was aspirated off and the cells washed with pre-warmed PBS. Fresh complete monocyte media supplemented with 50ng/ml GM-CSF was added to the cells. Media was refreshed every three days following additional PBS washes for a total of 5 days. For polarization, cells were treated with 50 ng/ml LPS and 20 ng/ml IFN-y for 24h in the presence of GM-CSF, on day 6. After 24 hours, the polarisation media was aspirated off and cells washed once with pre-warmed PBS. Lifting of the cells was accomplished using 1ml Accutase per well and incubated at 37°C for 40 minutes. The growth surfaces of the cells were gently scraped for the complete lifting thereof. The cell suspensions were combined in a 15ml falcon tube and the Accutase was neutralised with the addition of prewarmed complete monocyte media to the volume of 10ml. At this point, a cell count was performed. The suspension was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 400g to pellet the cells. Spent media was aspirated off and the pellet resuspended in a calculated volume of pre-warmed serum-free media containing 10uM CellTracker Violet and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. Once 30 minutes had elapsed, the cells were centrifuged once more as described and resuspended in a pre-calculated volume of RPMI-1640 to yield a concentration of 1x10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml to be injected.

Healthy, hatched 2dpf zebrafish larvae (n=32) were selected, anaesthetized, and prepared for microinjection as described in 3.3. Successfully injected larvae (n=12) were randomly divided into tail transection (n=6) and uninjured control (n=6) groups and monitored over 3 days. Images were captured at 24-, 48-, and 72-hours post transection, using objectives of 4x and 10x magnification, with a Nikon ECLIPSE Ti2 fluorescent microscope.

#### 3.8.3 Results

Consistent with what has been described in literature (Paul et al., 2019), the primary human macrophages survived up to the experimental endpoint at 72 hours post injection (Figure 3.10). This contrasts what was observed when using THP-1-derived macrophages in our previous experiments, as the THP-1-derived macrophages did not possess the capacity to survive beyond 24 hours post injection into the zebrafish. As with the THP-1-derived macrophages, the primary cells were predominantly found adhering to the CHT region of the caudal vein, from 1 hour post injection until the experimental endpoint (72HPW) in some cases (Figure 3.10). Fewer cells were observed to become free of the CHT after tail fin transection in this experiment than in the THP-1 experiments (Figure 3.10). This was only qualitatively observed, as no primary macrophages were pictured to be free-flowing at any observed timepoint in this experiment, whereas some THP-1-derived naïve macrophages were clearly shown to be free-flowing after inflammatory insult (Figure 3.9).

Despite improved long-term survivability over THP-1-derived macrophages, consistent with the literature describing the survival of primary human macrophages in zebrafish circulation, the primary macrophages pictured in Figure 3.10 do not appear to migrate towards the inflamed tissue in the transected samples (n=6) or appear to be more mobile than the macrophages in the uncut samples (n=6) over the course of 72 hours. This can be seen in the images in Figure 3.10 with white arrows indicating primary human macrophages. These cells are shown to be relatively stationary over time, with no clear shift in dispersion towards the site of inflammation in the tail transected group compared to the uninjured controls.



55







58


















Figure 3.10: Injected primary M1 polarised human macrophages (green, indicated by white arrows) survive in zebrafish larval circulation for the entire duration of the experiment (72HPW) in both tail fin transected and uncut larvae. Brightfield images taken using a 10x objective are pictured above (to the right in landscape) the corresponding fluorescent images. Arrows and circles indicate macrophages to differentiate between exogenous injected cells and endogenous autofluorescent pigment cells in fluorescent images.

## 3.8.4 Interpretation

The improved survival capacity of the primary macrophages over the THP-1-derived macrophages, despite the injection parameters remaining consistent between the experiments utilizing both cell types, indicates either superior robustness of the primary macrophages, able to withstand the mechanical stress of microinjection better than the THP-1-derived cells, or that mechanical stress was not a factor in the poor survivability of the THP-1-derived cells. Either explanation confirms the inadequacy of THP-1-derived macrophages in zebrafish larval models as drug carriers, and supports the use of primary human macrophages instead.

Despite adequate long-term survivability of human primary macrophages in zebrafish larval circulation, the macrophages appear relatively unreactive to zebrafish inflammatory stimuli at all assessed time points. This may be due to the relatively high  $\alpha D\beta 2$  integrin expression of M1 macrophages as opposed to monocytes or naïve macrophages, potentially resulting in stronger tethering to the CHT and therefore rendering these cells more static than would be suitable for drug delivery. The ability of unmodified human leukocytes to undergo transendothelial migration into the inflamed tissue in zebrafish remains unconfirmed after this series of experiments, and appears to be unlikely from the data generated herein.

## **Chapter 4: Discussion**

The two primary objectives of this thesis were to develop a novel method for cell-based zebrafish larvae microinjections and to assess the suitability of zebrafish larvae as a model for human macrophage-based drug delivery research. The former objective was completed in a stepwise manner. First, tip diameters were optimised to allow for the expulsion of an appropriate number of intact macrophages per pulse, while minimising larval tissue damage. In this regard, optimal tip diameters were determined to be between 15-20µm. Subsequently, injection volumes were optimised to allow for an appropriate number of cells to be introduced without detrimental homeostatic effects to the larvae. This was necessary due to a lack of consensus or rational for intravenous microinjection volumes into zebrafish larvae in literature. To our knowledge, this experiment offers the first comprehensive assessment of potentially adverse cardiovascular effects of different intravenous injection volumes in zebrafish larvae. In terms of heart rate and morphology, 5- and 10nl were determined to be the least detrimental to the larvae, with 10nl being selected as the optimal injection volume to allow for a less dense cell suspension while injecting a sufficient number of cells, and hence a reduced shear force experienced by the cells, compared to 5nl. Finally, the optimal larval injection site, allowing for a needle of diameter 15-20µm into circulation was determined as being in the Duct of Cuvier at 2dpf, as the anatomically broad duct and thin epidermis at this time point allowed for smooth entry of the injection needle and accurate delivery of the cells. We suspect these data may help in providing a benchmark for future studies involving zebrafish larval microinjections to aid in determining the choice of intravenous dosage volume. Given the relative lack of suitable literature - or lack of methodological detail in those we did access – contextualization of these data is not possible. However, as optimization of methods is likely specific to a laboratory and/or individuals, this is not seen as a limitation in the current context.

To determine whether zebrafish larvae are suitable *in vivo* models in which to study and develop a human macrophage-based drug delivery system, a series of experiments using both THP-1derived macrophages (in undifferentiated, differentiated, unpolarised, and polarised states), and primary human M1 polarised macrophages were conducted. In the experiments, these cells were microinjected into the circulation of 2dpf zebrafish larvae, with, and in the absence of tail fin transections and observed over the course of at least 24 hours.

The THP-1 cell line was utilised due to ease of culturing for high throughput and, according to literature, functional conservation with primary macrophages after PMA-dependent differentiation. First, undifferentiated THP-1 monocytic leukemia cells were first injected into the circulation of 2dpf zebrafish larvae as a pilot study to verify optimal dye concentration and observe behaviour/viability of these cells in zebrafish larvae with tail fin transections. Shortly post injection, the cells were observed to adhere to the endothelium of the caudal vein, in the CHT region thereof, and Duct of Cuvier. In the larva where CHT-region endothelial adherence of the

THP-1 cells was apparent, we also observed a stationary, unstained polymorphonuclear cell directly adjacent to the similarly sized injected, stained cells. This is likely an endogenous zebrafish neutrophil and demonstrates shared behaviour and adhesion between the endogenous zebrafish immune cells and the injected exogenous human monocytes (undifferentiated THP-1 cells) in circulation. This observation is similar to those reported by Paul et al., 2019, and supports our hypothesis that the injected macrophages will indeed associate with the CHT endothelium of the zebrafish larvae, as this is the niche in which endogenous zebrafish endogenous neutrophils and macrophages also associate.

Rapid cellular division was observed within 24 hours after tail fin transections, the rate of which far exceeded the generally accepted doubling time of 26-36 hours in optimal growth conditions in cell culture. This is especially unexpected given the optimal temperature for THP-1 cell growth is 37°C ("THP-1 (ATCC TIB-202)" 2021), whereas the poikilothermic zebrafish were maintained at 28.5°C, almost 10°C cooler than what is optimal for human leukocytes. We therefore postulate that this expansion is primarily driven through zebrafish endogenous inflammatory signals; this data thus suggests some level of cross-species compatibility and conservation between zebrafish and human inflammatory ligands/receptors (Zanandrea, Bonan and Campos, 2020). Immediately post wounding, the injected THP-1 cells were not observed to follow a distinct distribution pattern in where they associated in the CHT-region of the caudal vein. After 24HPW, however, the cells were clearly more densely situated at the distal-most end of the caudal vein, without clearly undergoing diapedesis out of the caudal vein. This either demonstrates that migration along the 'circulatory highway' towards the inflamed tail tissue was achieved by the injected THP-1 cells, or that the cells which were already situated at the distal end of the caudal vein were most exposed to high concentrations of inflammatory cues (DAMPS, predominantly  $H_2O_2$ ) and therefore were signaled to undergo more rapid expansion than the injected cells which originally situated further from the transection site.

This pilot was also useful in demonstrating that the optimisation of the microinjection, cell labelling, and visualisation parameters was successful and allowed for long term tracking of the injected THP-1 cells. The exogenous cellular response to zebrafish inflammation is a promising initial result and supports the use of human immune cells in modeling drug delivery systems in zebrafish larvae. The subsequent step in the development of the drug delivery model was to differentiate these cells into suitable candidates for drug delivery research, THP-1-derived, M1 polarised macrophages. Undifferentiated THP-1 cells themselves are not optimal drug carriers, given their rapid cellular expansion in response to an inflammatory insult, reducing the relative number of exogenous cells containing therapeutic cargo and potentially obstructing the migration of the cells. Cellular expansion to the observed extent also elicits adverse cardiovascular effects by overpopulating the primary blood vessels and increasing resistance to blood flow, thus straining the heart of the injected larvae.

PMA-differentiation of THP-1 cells results in the generation of naïve macrophage-like cells, mostly unable to undergo mitosis. Due to the opacity of literature on the subject of when, or if,

zebrafish endogenous monocytes undergo differentiation to macrophages, it is possible that differentiation is required to facilitate transendothelial migration in the zebrafish inflammatory reaction. As discussed in Chapter 2, the general consensus in literature regarding the use of macrophages for drug delivery is that M1 polarised macrophages are the optimal subtype to use due to their superior early inflammation-sensing and migratory capacity as compared to other macrophage subtypes (Liang et al., 2021) (Pang et al., 2018). For these reasons, the next experiment included LPS-induced M1 polarised THP-1 macrophage-like cells to be injected into 2dpf zebrafish circulation. Interestingly, these cells were found to either adhere to CHT-region of the caudal vein endothelium, primarily at the most distal point in circulation (vascular loop where caudal artery becomes the caudal vein) or adjacent to the CHT, in smaller vessels.

We postulate two possible explanations for this: 1) In terms of constant circulatory shear force, by virtue of being an anatomical loop, small eddies are created, which are sites of lower shear force resulting from turbulent flow. These eddies would require less adhesion strength to keep cells trapped within them than in sites where laminar flow dominates (throughout the length of CHT). This is also true for the macrophages located in the smaller adjacent vessels; and 2) partial cellular migration to the inflammatory site, without leaving circulation. The latter is unlikely due to similar cellular positioning in circulation between the control and tail transected larvae.

In stark contrast to the previous pilot, a complete absence of cells was observed in all larvae after 24 hours, indicating a potential loss of cellular viability. This was an unexpected outcome, given that the (sparse) literature available on the behaviour of human macrophages in zebrafish circulation does suggest that the cells should survive for at least the duration of our experiment, assuming the conservation of function and behaviour between THP-1-derived M1 macrophages and primary human macrophages (Paul et al., 2019). Given the fact that both the control and transected groups experienced a complete loss of injected macrophages within 24HPW, we conclude that negative inflammatory feedback or the outcompeting of endogenous macrophages in an inflammatory response was likely not the cause of the seemingly poor longterm survival of the injected M1 THP-1-derived macrophages. We suspect two potential reasons for the apparent loss of viability in the short term: 1) Cell culturing interventions (I.e., PMA-based differentiation or LPS-based polarisation may stress the cells and result in a less robust cell type in the foreign organism of zebrafish larvae), or 2) mechanical damage from microinjection, resulting in the poor survivability of these cells in zebrafish larval circulation. One limitation of this experiment was the conservative sample size resulting in lower than optimal statistical power, hence subsequent experiments utilized a larger n.

To determine whether the pre-treatment of LPS was a primary factor in the poor survival of the M1 THP-1-derived macrophages, the next experiment included naïve THP-1-derived macrophages and a larger zebrafish larval cohort. Due to the increased sample size and therefore longer experiment, gravitational effects acting on the cells in suspension were more pronounced and resulted in occasional unexpectedly high cell numbers being ejected. Although not optimal, because of the large sample size, we were retrospectively able to add cell density as a qualitative

parameter in which to evaluate potential role players affecting THP-1 cell survival in the larvae. This is a worthwhile parameter, as THP-1 cells in culture require relatively high cell densities to survive and grow effectively ("THP-1 (ATCC TIB-202)" 2021).

In this experiment, we observed macrophages along the CHT-region of the caudal vein, as observed in the undifferentiated THP-1 pilot immediately post tail transection: unlike the M1 macrophages primarily found in the circulatory loop. Shortly after tail fin transections in the naïve THP-1 macrophage experiment (3HPW), some macrophages were found to be released from the CHT into circulation. This was not observed in the uninjured control zebrafish group and may indicate an appropriate response of these cells to zebrafish inflammatory cues, most likely in response to the damage-induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> gradient generated from the site of the wound. Despite the release of these cells, none were ultimately observed to migrate into the inflamed tissue, instead remaining in circulation. Due to the rapid movement of these cells in circulation, it is unlikely that they exhibited the characteristic vascular rolling of migratory macrophages towards a site of inflammation as would be expected in both zebrafish and humans.

As this action is dependent on integrin/selectin interactions between immune cells and vascular endothelium, it is likely that, as discussed in Chapter 2, the level of conservation of adhesion molecules between species is insufficient to allow for efficient migration of the human cells on the zebrafish endothelium. Hence, it is unlikely that these cells will be able to undergo extravasation and into the inflamed tissue. Similarly to the M1 THP-1-derived macrophages, but in opposition to the behaviour of the undifferentiated THP-1 cells which displayed a similar initial distribution pattern, the naïve THP-1-derived macrophages reduced in number after 24 hours, with zebrafish becoming completely devoid of THP-1-derived macrophages after 48 hours. This demonstrates that neither LPS nor cell density are primary factors in the poor survivability of these cells in zebrafish over time. It is also unlikely that the PMA in these experiments directly reduced the survivability of these cells, as the concentration used in our experiments falls below the non-cytotoxic "low" concentrations used in other studies demonstrating the cytotoxic/hyper LPS-sensitive effects of only "high" concentrations of the chemical (Starr, Bauler, Malik-Kale and Steele-Mortimer, 2018). We suspect that the immortalisation of this cell line may have resulted in the alteration of adhesion/migratory proteins and thus, rendered THP-1-derived cells unsuitable for drug delivery research, at least in the context of zebrafish.

In the experiments up to here, specific markers of apoptosis were not tested for, and the mechanisms of THP-1-derived macrophage cell death remains unknown. Although loss of injected macrophage viability in the short term (<48 hours post injection) could be beneficial in a cell-based drug delivery system so as not to perpetuate inflammation, the success of such a system would rely on adequate transendothelial migration of the drug carrier to ensure accurate, target-specific delivery of the therapeutic agent. A limiting factor for transendothelial migration of our relatively large immune cells (21-23µm diameter) could potentially be the zebrafish endothelial pore size relative to that of humans, thus restricting the diapedesis of the cells. No

literature capable of elucidating this topic was available, so this remains to be elucidated by super-resolution microscopy.

Given the demonstrated limitations of THP-1 cells in this context, we next set out to replicate the previous experiment, but employing human primary M1 polarised macrophages instead of the THP-1 cells. Our group has previously shown that, of polarised primary macrophage subtypes, M1 macrophages are the only subtype capable of efficiently transmigrating through human endothelial cells with pore size of 8um, after being loaded with cargo (4.5 um polystyrene beads) (Visser and Smith, 2017). The data generated in this final study was consistent with the prior published study demonstrating the long-term survivability of human primary macrophages in zebrafish larvae, as fluorescent macrophages were observed in larvae up to our experimental endpoint (72hpi).

No qualitative differences in macrophage behaviour were observed between zebrafish larvae with or without tail fin transections, unlike the observed dislodging of naïve THP-1-derived macrophages in zebrafish larvae with tail fin transections only. The primary human M1 macrophages were not observed to behave differently in the presence or absence of inflammation. This is a surprising finding as M1 macrophages should theoretically be primed to respond to inflammatory stimuli. This potentially indicates a role for the macrophage integrin  $\alpha D\beta 2$  - which is relatively highly expressed in the M1 macrophage subtype as compared to naïve macrophages (Cui, Ardell, Podolnikova and Yakubenko, 2018) - in the endothelial cuddling reaction and may explain the inability of these macrophage to migrate towards the site of inflammation. Despite this, the primary human macrophage dispersion throughout the CHT region was shown to be relatively dynamic over time, but not confined to the distal caudal vascular loop unlike the observed positioning of the M1 THP-1-derived macrophages. Together, these data may indicate fundamental differences in integrin expression between primary macrophages and THP-1-derived macrophages (Daigneault et al., 2010).

Unlike primary monocytes/macrophages, THP-1 cells do not express endogenous L-selectin (Rzeniewicz et al., 2015), the adhesion protein responsible for the secondary tethering and rolling of leukocytes on activated endothelial protein PSGL-1 in humans, as well as for the transendothelial migration of leukocytes (Ivetic, Hoskins Green and Hart, 2019). The absence of this protein could be a prevalent factor in preventing the efficient migration of the THP-1-derived cells. Although the primary human macrophages do express L-selectin, these cells appeared to exhibit the opposite problem to the circulating THP-1-derived cells in that they remained relatively static with reference to the inflamed tissue site (transected tails). No primary human macrophages were found in the inflamed tissue at any timepoint in the experiment, with larval tail fins often fully regenerating without the macrophages migrating to the distal end of the CHT vasculature, as seen in Figure 3.10, Transected 6. Because the macrophages failed to even reach the distal end of the caudal vein, we find it unlikely that the endogenous zebrafish leukocytes are preventing the egress of the injected primary macrophages through negative feedback or physical blocking, hence endogenous macrophage ablation prior to injection would likely not

solve this issue. We do, however, offer the future recommendation of partially inhibiting integrin  $\alpha D\beta 2$  on primary M1 macrophages, e.g., using blocking antibodies, prior to injection. This could enable macrophage migration, allowing for less stationary behaviour, while maintaining the benefits of utilizing primary M1 macrophages for the application of drug delivery.

## 4.1 Conclusion

In conclusion, a significant limitation of this study was the COVID pandemic of 2020-2021, which imposed limitations not only on laboratory availability, but also on availability of reagents such as highly specific antibodies, e.g. such as would be required for blocking integrins on M1 macrophages. However, although the data presented in this thesis do not conclusively answer the question of whether zebrafish larvae are suitable models in which to develop a human macrophage-based drug delivery system, they do cover substantial ground as a starting point, delivering several optimised protocols and answering some key questions on appropriate cell types to be used (or rather excluded). To summarise, the key novel contributions to development of a zebrafish model for cell-based drug delivery, were as follows: firstly, data confirmed that human immune cells can/do respond to zebrafish inflammatory stimuli (experiment 2); secondly, THP-1-derived cells were shown to likely be unsuitable in zebrafish models for the application of drug delivery due to their demonstrated poor migrational and survival capacity (experiments 3 and 4); thirdly, human macrophages, when introduced into zebrafish circulation, were illustrated to effectively associate with the same tissues as do endogenous zebrafish macrophages; where they remain, primed to respond to inflammation (experiments 3, 4, and 5); and fourthly, unaltered human primary M1 macrophages possess adequate survival, but not sufficient migrational, capacity within the circulation of zebrafish larvae.

At this point, we can confidently make some recommendations for future research to comprehensively (and perhaps definitively) determine whether zebrafish larval models are suitable for the simulation and study of human macrophage-based drug delivery.

Firstly, given the positive findings in the context of human primary macrophages, future research focused on enhancing the migratory capacity of macrophages, should be a focus in the development of this model, as current data suggest this factor to be the main limitation. This may be done either by modification of adhesion molecule expression, or the experimental modification of the zebrafish immune system itself. Secondly, the use of transgenic zebrafish larvae can assist significantly with microscopic investigations: e.g. larvae with fluorescent endothelial cells may assist visualization of diapedesis, to determine whether diapedesis of human primary macrophages in zebrafish is indeed possible, and larvae with fluorescent macrophages and/or neutrophils may offer more information on the potential confounding role of the zebrafish endogenous inflammatory immune system in this context. Finally, although unlikely, the inflammatory insult of fin transection may not have been severe enough to elicit a chemotactic signal sufficiently strong to attract the human macrophages. Future studies may thus benefit from inclusion of bacterial infection/LPS models in tandem with tail fin transections

to elicit a greater inflammatory reaction (or microbe-associated PAMPs that are perhaps more likely to activate human macrophages than endogenous zebrafish chemotactic molecules) that provides a greater chance of recruiting injected human macrophages.

Thus, although a fully developed zebrafish model for human macrophage-based drug delivery remains elusive at this point, the limitations that remain do not appear insurmountable. We are confident that in future, such a model will enable individualized medicine approaches for treatment-resistant conditions.

## **Bibliography**

- Yue, M., Peterson, R. and Heideman, W., 2015. Dioxin inhibition of swim bladder development in zebrafish: Is it secondary to heart failure?. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 162, pp.10-17.
- 2. Alvarez-Lorenzo, C. and Concheiro, A., 2014. Smart drug delivery systems: from fundamentals to the clinic. *Chem. Commun.*, 50(58), pp.7743-7765.
- Anders, C., Lawton, T., Smith, H., Garret, J., Doucette, M. and Ammons, M., 2021. Use of integrated metabolomics, transcriptomics, and signal protein profile to characterize the effector function and associated metabotype of polarized macrophage phenotypes. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 111(3), pp.667-693.
- Anselmo, A., Modery-Pawlowski, C., Menegatti, S., Kumar, S., Vogus, D., Tian, L., Chen, M., Squires, T., Sen Gupta, A. and Mitragotri, S., 2014. Platelet-like Nanoparticles: Mimicking Shape, Flexibility, and Surface Biology of Platelets To Target Vascular Injuries. *ACS Nano*, 8(11), pp.11243-11253.
- Asai, A., Nakamura, K., Kobayashi, M., Herndon, D. and Suzuki, F., 2012. CCL1 released from M2b macrophages is essentially required for the maintenance of their properties. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 92(4), pp.859-867.
- Atri, C., Guerfali, F. and Laouini, D., 2018. Role of Human Macrophage Polarization in Inflammation during Infectious Diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(6), p.1801.
- Auffray, C., Fogg, D., Garfa, M., Elain, G., Join-Lambert, O., Kayal, S., Sarnacki, S., Cumano, A., Lauvau, G. and Geissmann, F., 2007. Monitoring of Blood Vessels and Tissues by a Population of Monocytes with Patrolling Behavior. *Science*, 317(5838), pp.666-670.
- Auffray, C., Fogg, D., Narni-Mancinelli, E., Senechal, B., Trouillet, C., Saederup, N., Leemput, J., Bigot, K., Campisi, L., Abitbol, M., Molina, T., Charo, I., Hume, D., Cumano, A., Lauvau, G. and Geissmann, F., 2009. CX3CR1+ CD115+ CD135+ common macrophage/DC

precursors and the role of CX3CR1 in their response to inflammation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(3), pp.595-606.

- Babajani, A., Soltani, P., Jamshidi, E., Farjoo, M. and Niknejad, H., 2020. Recent Advances on Drug-Loaded Mesenchymal Stem Cells With Anti-neoplastic Agents for Targeted Treatment of Cancer. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 8.
- Bahr, J. and Weiss, S., 2018. Macrophage-Dependent Trafficking and Remodeling of the Basement Membrane-Interstitial Matrix Interface.
- Baïsse, B., Spertini, C., Galisson, F., Smirnova, T. and Spertini, O., 2019. The function of Pselectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is conserved from ancestral fishes to mammals. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 106(6), pp.1271-1283.
- Banning, A., Brewer, L., Wendt, M., Groves, P., Cheadle, H., Penny, W. and Crawford, N., 1997. Local Delivery of Platelets with Encapsulated lloprost to Balloon Injured Pig Carotid Arteries: Effect on Platelet Deposition and Neointima Formation. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 77(01), pp.190-196.
- 13. Barros-Becker, F., Lam, P., Fisher, R. and Huttenlocher, A., 2017. Live imaging reveals distinct modes of neutrophil and macrophage migration within interstitial tissues. *Journal of Cell Science*, 130(22), pp.3801-3808.
- 14. Barth, M., Hendrzak, J., Melnicoff, M. and Morahan, P., 1995. Review of the macrophage disappearance reaction. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 57(3), pp.361-367.
- Bennett, C., Kanki, J., Rhodes, J., Liu, T., Paw, B., Kieran, M., Langenau, D., Delahaye-Brown, A., Zon, L., Fleming, M. and Look, A., 2001. Myelopoiesis in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Blood*, 98(3), pp.643-651.
- 16. Berens, E., Sharif, G., Wellstein, A. and Glasgow, E., 2016. Testing the Vascular Invasive Ability of Cancer Cells in Zebrafish. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, (117).
- Bertrand, J., Chi, N., Santoso, B., Teng, S., Stainier, D. and Traver, D., 2010. Haematopoietic stem cells derive directly from aortic endothelium during development. *Nature*, 464(7285), pp.108-111.

- Bertrand, J., Kim, A., Violette, E., Stachura, D., Cisson, J. and Traver, D., 2007. Definitive hematopoiesis initiates through a committed erythromyeloid progenitor in the zebrafish embryo. *Development*, 134(23), pp.4147-4156.
- Bingle, L., Brown, N. and Lewis, C., 2002. The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. *The Journal of Pathology*, 196(3), pp.254-265.
- Bottiglione, F., Dee, C., Lea, R., Zeef, L., Badrock, A., Wane, M., Bugeon, L., Dallman, M., Allen, J. and Hurlstone, A., 2020. Zebrafish IL-4–like Cytokines and IL-10 Suppress Inflammation but Only IL-10 Is Essential for Gill Homeostasis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 205(4), pp.994-1008.
- Boyette, L., Macedo, C., Hadi, K., Elinoff, B., Walters, J., Ramaswami, B., Chalasani, G., Taboas, J., Lakkis, F. and Metes, D., 2017. Phenotype, function, and differentiation potential of human monocyte subsets. *PLOS ONE*, 12(4), p.e0176460.
- Brown, C., Lagnado, C., Vadas, M. and Goodall, G., 1996. Differential Regulation of the Stability of Cytokine mRNAs in Lipopolysaccharide-activated Blood Monocytes in Response to Interleukin-10. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(33), pp.20108-20112.
- Cambier, C., Takaki, K., Larson, R., Hernandez, R., Tobin, D., Urdahl, K., Cosma, C. and Ramakrishnan, L., 2013. Mycobacteria manipulate macrophage recruitment through coordinated use of membrane lipids. *Nature*, 505(7482), pp.218-222.
- 24. Chen, G. and Nuñez, G., 2010. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 10(12), pp.826-837.
- 25. Chu, D., Dong, X., Shi, X., Zhang, C. and Wang, Z., 2018. Neutrophil-Based Drug Delivery Systems. *Advanced Materials*, 30(22), p.1706245.
- 26. Cianciolo Cosentino, C., Roman, B., Drummond, I. and Hukriede, N., 2010. Intravenous Microinjections of Zebrafish Larvae to Study Acute Kidney Injury. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, (42).
- 27. Colin, S., Chinetti-Gbaguidi, G. and Staels, B., 2014. Macrophage phenotypes in atherosclerosis. *Immunological Reviews*, 262(1), pp.153-166.
- 28. Compte, M., Cuesta, Á., Sánchez-Martín, D., Alonso-Camino, V., Vicario, J., Sanz, L. and Álvarez-Vallina, L., 2009. Tumor Immunotherapy Using Gene-Modified Human

Mesenchymal Stem Cells Loaded into Synthetic Extracellular Matrix Scaffolds. *STEM CELLS*, 27(3), pp.753-760.

- 29. Cooper, D., Lindberg, F., Gamble, J., Brown, E. and Vadas, M., 1995. Transendothelial migration of neutrophils involves integrin-associated protein (CD47). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(9), pp.3978-3982.
- Costa, M., Maehr, T., Diaz-Rosales, P., Secombes, C. and Wang, T., 2011. Bioactivity studies of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) interleukin-6: Effects on macrophage growth and antimicrobial peptide gene expression. *Molecular Immunology*, 48(15-16), pp.1903-1916.
- Craig, M., Gilday, S., Dabiri, D. and Hove, J., 2012. An Optimized Method for Delivering Flow Tracer Particles to Intravital Fluid Environments in the Developing Zebrafish. *Zebrafish*, 9(3), pp.108-119.
- 32. Cui, K., Ardell, C., Podolnikova, N. and Yakubenko, V., 2018. Distinct Migratory Properties of M1, M2, and Resident Macrophages Are Regulated by αDβ2 and αMβ2 Integrin-Mediated Adhesion. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9.
- 33. D'souza, N., Burns, J., Grisendi, G., Candini, O., Veronesi, E., Piccinno, S., Horwitz, E., Paolucci, P., Conte, P. and Dominici, M., 2012. MSC and Tumors: Homing, Differentiation, and Secretion Influence Therapeutic Potential. *Mesenchymal Stem Cells - Basics and Clinical Application II*, pp.209-266.
- 34. Daigneault, M., Preston, J., Marriott, H., Whyte, M. and Dockrell, D., 2010. The Identification of Markers of Macrophage Differentiation in PMA-Stimulated THP-1 Cells and Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *PLoS ONE*, 5(1), p.e8668.
- 35. Daly, J., 2010. A tissue-scale gradient of hydrogen peroxide mediates rapid wound detection in zebrafish. *Yearbook of Surgery*, 2010, pp.220-221.
- 36. Darji A, Bruder D, zur Lage S, Gerstel B, Chakraborty T, Wehland J, Weiss S. The role of the bacterial membrane protein ActA in immunity and protection against Listeria monocytogenes. J Immunol. 1998;161:2414–2420.
- Davies, L., Jenkins, S., Allen, J. and Taylor, P., 2013. Tissue-resident macrophages. *Nature Immunology*, 14(10), pp.986-995.

- 38. de Oliveira, S., López-Muñoz, A., Candel, S., Pelegrín, P., Calado, Â. and Mulero, V., 2014. ATP Modulates Acute Inflammation *in vivo* through Dual Oxidase 1–Derived H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> Production and NF-κB Activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 192(12), pp.5710-5719.
- Doshi, N., Swiston, A., Gilbert, J., Alcaraz, M., Cohen, R., Rubner, M. and Mitragotri, S.,
   2011. Cell-Based Drug Delivery Devices Using Phagocytosis-Resistant Backpacks.
   Advanced Materials, 23(12), pp.H105-H109.
- Duan, Y., Wang, Y., Li, Z., Ma, L., Wei, X., Yang, J., Xiao, R. and Xia, C., 2021. The unique structure of the zebrafish TNF-α homotrimer. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 122, p.104129.
- 41. Duggan, G. and Mostowy, S., 2018. Use of zebrafish to study Shigella infection. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 11(2).
- 42. Elks, P., van Eeden, F., Dixon, G., Wang, X., Reyes-Aldasoro, C., Ingham, P., Whyte, M., Walmsley, S. and Renshaw, S., 2011. Activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1α (Hif-1α) delays inflammation resolution by reducing neutrophil apoptosis and reverse migration in a zebrafish inflammation model. *Blood*, 118(3), pp.712-722.
- 43. Ellett, F., Elks, P., Robertson, A., Ogryzko, N. and Renshaw, S., 2015. Defining the phenotype of neutrophils following reverse migration in zebrafish. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 98(6), pp.975-981.
- 44. Evangelopoulos, M., Yazdi, I., Acciardo, S., Palomba, R., Giordano, F., Pasto, A., Sushnitha, M., Martinez, J., Basu, N., Torres, A., Hmaidan, S., Parodi, A. and Tasciotti, E., 2020.
  Biomimetic cellular vectors for enhancing drug delivery to the lungs. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1).
- 45. Evans, B., Haskard, D., Sempowksi, G. and Landis, R., 2013. Evolution of the Macrophage CD163 Phenotype and Cytokine Profiles in a Human Model of Resolving Inflammation. *International Journal of Inflammation*, 2013, pp.1-9.
- 46. Ferrante, C. and Leibovich, S., 2012. Regulation of Macrophage Polarization and Wound Healing. *Advances in Wound Care*, 1(1), pp.10-16.
- 47. Ferrero, G., Mahony, C., Dupuis, E., Yvernogeau, L., Di Ruggiero, E., Miserocchi, M., Caron,M., Robin, C., Traver, D., Bertrand, J. and Wittamer, V., 2018. Embryonic Microglia Derive

from Primitive Macrophages and Are Replaced by cmyb-Dependent Definitive Microglia in Zebrafish. *Cell Reports*, 24(1), pp.130-141.

- 48. Fields, J., Günther, S. and Sundberg, E., 2019. Structural Basis of IL-1 Family Cytokine Signaling. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- Frame, J., Kubaczka, C., Long, T., Esain, V., Soto, R., Hachimi, M., Jing, R., Shwartz, A., Goessling, W., Daley, G. and North, T., 2020. Metabolic Regulation of Inflammasome Activity Controls Embryonic Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cell Production. *Developmental Cell*, 55(2), pp.133-149.e6.
- 50. Gerber, J. and Mosser, D., 2001. Reversing Lipopolysaccharide Toxicity by Ligating the Macrophage Fcγ Receptors. *The Journal of Immunology*, 166(11), pp.6861-6868.
- 51. Gerhardt, T. and Ley, K., 2015. Monocyte trafficking across the vessel wall. *Cardiovascular Research*, 107(3), pp.321-330.
- 52. Ginn, F., Hochstein, P. and Trump, B., 1969. Membrane Alterations in Hemolysis: Internalization of Plasmalemma Induced by Primaquine. *Science*, 164(3881), pp.843-845.
- 53. Gordon, S. and Plüddemann, A., 2018. Macrophage Clearance of Apoptotic Cells: A Critical Assessment. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9.
- 54. Gordon, S., 2003. Alternative activation of macrophages. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 3(1), pp.23-35.
- 55. Grinberg, S., Hasko, G., Wu, D. and Leibovich, S., 2009. Suppression of PLCβ2 by Endotoxin Plays a Role in the Adenosine A2A Receptor-Mediated Switch of Macrophages from an Inflammatory to an Angiogenic Phenotype. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 175(6), pp.2439-2453.
- Gross-Thebing, S., Truszkowski, L., Tenbrinck, D., Sánchez-Iranzo, H., Camelo, C., Westerich, K., Singh, A., Maier, P., Prengel, J., Lange, P., Hüwel, J., Gaede, F., Sasse, R., Vos, B., Betz, T., Matis, M., Prevedel, R., Luschnig, S., Diz-Muñoz, A., Burger, M. and Raz, E., 2020. Using migrating cells as probes to illuminate features in live embryonic tissues. *Science Advances*, 6(49).
- 57. Guilliams, M., Mildner, A. and Yona, S., 2018. Developmental and Functional Heterogeneity of Monocytes. *Immunity*, 49(4), pp.595-613.

- 58. Gutiérrez Millán, C., Colino Gandarillas, C., Sayalero Marinero, M. and Lanao, J., 2012. Cell-based drug-delivery platforms. *Therapeutic Delivery*, 3(1), pp.25-41.
- 59. Hasegawa, T., Hall, C., Crosier, P., Abe, G., Kawakami, K., Kudo, A. and Kawakami, A., 2017. Transient inflammatory response mediated by interleukin-1β is required for proper regeneration in zebrafish fin fold. *eLife*, 6.
- 60. He, S., Chen, J., Jiang, Y., Wu, Y., Zhu, L., Jin, W., Zhao, C., Yu, T., Wang, T., Wu, S., Lin, X., Qu, J., Wen, Z., Zhang, W. and Xu, J., 2018. Adult zebrafish Langerhans cells arise from hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *eLife*, 7.
- Heemskerk, N., Schimmel, L., Oort, C., van Rijssel, J., Yin, T., Ma, B., van Unen, J., Pitter, B., Huveneers, S., Goedhart, J., Wu, Y., Montanez, E., Woodfin, A. and van Buul, J., 2016.
   F-actin-rich contractile endothelial pores prevent vascular leakage during leukocyte diapedesis through local RhoA signalling. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 172.
- 62. Herbomel, P., Thisse, B. and Thisse, C., 1999. Ontogeny and behaviour of early macrophages in the zebrafish embryo. *Development*, 126(17), pp.3735-3745.
- 63. Herbomel, P., Thisse, B. and Thisse, C., 2001. Zebrafish Early Macrophages Colonize Cephalic Mesenchyme and Developing Brain, Retina, and Epidermis through a M-CSF Receptor-Dependent Invasive Process. *Developmental Biology*, 238(2), pp.274-288.
- 64. Hibi, M., Murakami, M., Saito, M., Hirano, T., Taga, T. and Kishimoto, T., 1990. Molecular cloning and expression of an IL-6 signal transducer, gp130. *Cell*, 63(6), pp.1149-1157.
- 65. Hoeffel, G., Chen, J., Lavin, Y., Low, D., Almeida, F., See, P., Beaudin, A., Lum, J., Low, I., Forsberg, E., Poidinger, M., Zolezzi, F., Larbi, A., Ng, L., Chan, J., Greter, M., Becher, B., Samokhvalov, I., Merad, M. and Ginhoux, F., 2015. C-Myb+ Erythro-Myeloid Progenitor-Derived Fetal Monocytes Give Rise to Adult Tissue-Resident Macrophages. *Immunity*, 42(4), pp.665-678.
- 66. Howe, K., Clark, M., Torroja, C., Torrance, J., Berthelot, C., Muffato, M., Collins, J., Humphray, S., McLaren, K., Matthews, L., McLaren, S., Sealy, I., Caccamo, M., Churcher, C., Scott, C., Barrett, J., Koch, R., Rauch, G., White, S., Chow, W., Kilian, B., Quintais, L., Guerra-Assunção, J., Zhou, Y., Gu, Y., Yen, J., Vogel, J., Eyre, T., Redmond, S., Banerjee, R., Chi, J., Fu, B., Langley, E., Maguire, S., Laird, G., Lloyd, D., Kenyon, E., Donaldson, S., Sehra,

H., Almeida-King, J., Loveland, J., Trevanion, S., Jones, M., Quail, M., Willey, D., Hunt, A., Burton, J., Sims, S., McLay, K., Plumb, B., Davis, J., Clee, C., Oliver, K., Clark, R., Riddle, C., Elliott, D., Threadgold, G., Harden, G., Ware, D., Begum, S., Mortimore, B., Kerry, G., Heath, P., Phillimore, B., Tracey, A., Corby, N., Dunn, M., Johnson, C., Wood, J., Clark, S., Pelan, S., Griffiths, G., Smith, M., Glithero, R., Howden, P., Barker, N., Lloyd, C., Stevens, C., Harley, J., Holt, K., Panagiotidis, G., Lovell, J., Beasley, H., Henderson, C., Gordon, D., Auger, K., Wright, D., Collins, J., Raisen, C., Dyer, L., Leung, K., Robertson, L., Ambridge, K., Leongamornlert, D., McGuire, S., Gilderthorp, R., Griffiths, C., Manthravadi, D., Nichol, S., Barker, G., Whitehead, S., Kay, M., Brown, J., Murnane, C., Gray, E., Humphries, M., Sycamore, N., Barker, D., Saunders, D., Wallis, J., Babbage, A., Hammond, S., Mashreghi-Mohammadi, M., Barr, L., Martin, S., Wray, P., Ellington, A., Matthews, N., Ellwood, M., Woodmansey, R., Clark, G., Cooper, J., Tromans, A., Grafham, D., Skuce, C., Pandian, R., Andrews, R., Harrison, E., Kimberley, A., Garnett, J., Fosker, N., Hall, R., Garner, P., Kelly, D., Bird, C., Palmer, S., Gehring, I., Berger, A., Dooley, C., Ersan-Ürün, Z., Eser, C., Geiger, H., Geisler, M., Karotki, L., Kirn, A., Konantz, J., Konantz, M., Oberländer, M., Rudolph-Geiger, S., Teucke, M., Lanz, C., Raddatz, G., Osoegawa, K., Zhu, B., Rapp, A., Widaa, S., Langford, C., Yang, F., Schuster, S., Carter, N., Harrow, J., Ning, Z., Herrero, J., Searle, S., Enright, A., Geisler, R., Plasterk, R., Lee, C., Westerfield, M., de Jong, P., Zon, L., Postlethwait, J., Nüsslein-Volhard, C., Hubbard, T., Crollius, H., Rogers, J. and Stemple, D., 2013. The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. Nature, 496(7446), pp.498-503.

- Hsiao, Y., Su, K., Chen, H. and Yu, S., 2015. Opposite effects of M1 and M2 macrophage subtypes on lung cancer progression. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(15\_suppl), pp.e19148-e19148.
- Ito, I., Bhopale, K., Nishiguchi, T., Lee, J., Herndon, D., Suzuki, S., Sowers, L., Suzuki, F. and Kobayashi, M., 2016. The Polarization of M2b Monocytes in Cultures of Burn Patient Peripheral CD14+ Cells Treated with a Selected Human CCL1 Antisense Oligodeoxynucleotide. *Nucleic Acid Therapeutics*, 26(5), pp.269-276.

- 69. Ivanovs, A., Rybtsov, S., Ng, E., Stanley, E., Elefanty, A. and Medvinsky, A., 2017. Human haematopoietic stem cell development: from the embryo to the dish. *Development*, 144(13), pp.2323-2337.
- 70. Ivetic, A., Hoskins Green, H. and Hart, S., 2019. L-selectin: A Major Regulator of Leukocyte Adhesion, Migration and Signaling. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- Jetten, N., Verbruggen, S., Gijbels, M., Post, M., De Winther, M. and Donners, M., 2013.
   Anti-inflammatory M2, but not pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages promote angiogenesis *in vivo*. *Angiogenesis*, 17(1), pp.109-118.
- Kapellos, T., Bonaguro, L., Gemünd, I., Reusch, N., Saglam, A., Hinkley, E. and Schultze, J.,
   2019. Human Monocyte Subsets and Phenotypes in Major Chronic Inflammatory
   Diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- 73. Karnoub, A., Dash, A., Vo, A., Sullivan, A., Brooks, M., Bell, G., Richardson, A., Polyak, K., Tubo, R. and Weinberg, R., 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature*, 449(7162), pp.557-563.
- 74. Katakura, T., Miyazaki, M., Kobayashi, M., Herndon, D. and Suzuki, F., 2004. CCL17 and IL-10 as Effectors That Enable Alternatively Activated Macrophages to Inhibit the Generation of Classically Activated Macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 172(3), pp.1407-1413.
- 75. Kaveh, A., Bruton, F., Buckley, C., Oremek, M., Tucker, C., Mullins, J., Taylor, J., Rossi, A. and Denvir, M., 2020. Live Imaging of Heart Injury in Larval Zebrafish Reveals a Multi-Stage Model of Neutrophil and Macrophage Migration. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 8.
- 76. Kawakami, A., Fukazawa, T. and Takeda, H., 2004. Early fin primordia of zebrafish larvae regenerate by a similar growth control mechanism with adult regeneration. *Developmental Dynamics*, 231(4), pp.693-699.
- 77. Koleva, L., Bovt, E., Ataullakhanov, F. and Sinauridze, E., 2020. Erythrocytes as Carriers: From Drug Delivery to Biosensors. *Pharmaceutics*, 12(3), p.276.
- 78. Lapenna, A., De Palma, M. and Lewis, C., 2018. Perivascular macrophages in health and disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 18(11), pp.689-702.

- 79. Lee, H., Choi, H., Ha, S., Lee, K. and Kwon, Y., 2013. Recruitment of monocytes/macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, 1835(2), pp.170-179.
- Li, L., Song, J., Chuquisana, O., Hannocks, M., Loismann, S., Vogl, T., Roth, J., Hallmann, R. and Sorokin, L., 2020. Endothelial Basement Membrane Laminins as an Environmental Cue in Monocyte Differentiation to Macrophages. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11.
- 81. Li, T., Dong, H., Zhang, C. and Mo, R., 2018. Cell-based drug delivery systems for biomedical applications. *Nano Research*, 11(10), pp.5240-5257.
- Liang, T., Zhang, R., Liu, X., Ding, Q., Wu, S., Li, C., Lin, Y., Ye, Y., Zhong, Z. and Zhou, M.,
   2021. Recent Advances in Macrophage-Mediated Drug Delivery Systems. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 16, pp.2703-2714.
- Liddiard, K., Rosas, M., Davies, L., Jones, S. and Taylor, P., 2011. Macrophage heterogeneity and acute inflammation. *European Journal of Immunology*, 41(9), pp.2503-2508.
- 84. Lizano, C., Sanz, S., Luque, J. and Pinilla, M., 1998. *In vitro* study of alcohol dehydrogenase and acetaldehyde dehydrogenase encapsulated into human erythrocytes by an electroporation procedure. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects*, 1425(2), pp.328-336.
- 85. Loots, M., Lamme, E., Zeegelaar, J., Mekkes, J., Bos, J. and Middelkoop, E., 1998. Differences in Cellular Infiltrate and Extracellular Matrix of Chronic Diabetic and Venous Ulcers Versus Acute Wounds. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 111(5), pp.850-857.
- 86. Lotfi, N., Zhang, G., Esmaeil, N. and Rostami, A., 2020. Evaluation of the effect of GM-CSF blocking on the phenotype and function of human monocytes. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1).
- Lu, Y., Hu, Q., Jiang, C. and Gu, Z., 2019. Platelet for drug delivery. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 58, pp.81-91.
- Lurier, E., Dalton, D., Dampier, W., Raman, P., Nassiri, S., Ferraro, N., Rajagopalan, R., Sarmady, M. and Spiller, K., 2017. Transcriptome analysis of IL-10-stimulated (M2c) macrophages by next-generation sequencing. *Immunobiology*, 222(7), pp.847-856.

- 89. MacLeod, A. and Mansbridge, J., 2016. The Innate Immune System in Acute and Chronic Wounds. *Advances in Wound Care*, 5(2), pp.65-78.
- Mahony, C., Pasche, C. and Bertrand, J., 2018. Oncostatin M and Kit-Ligand Control Hematopoietic Stem Cell Fate during Zebrafish Embryogenesis. *Stem Cell Reports*, 10(6), pp.1920-1934.
- 91. Male, R., Vannier, W. and Baldeschwieler, J., 1992. Phagocytosis of liposomes by human platelets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89(19), pp.9191-9195.
- 92. Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecci, A. and Locati, M., 2004. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends in Immunology*, 25(12), pp.677-686.
- 93. Martin, K. and García, A., 2021. Macrophage phenotypes in tissue repair and the foreign body response: Implications for biomaterial-based regenerative medicine strategies. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 133, pp.4-16.
- 94. Martinez, F., 2008. Macrophage activation and polarization. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 13(13), p.453.
- 95. Mazon-Moya, M., Willis, A., Torraca, V., Boucontet, L., Shenoy, A., Colucci-Guyon, E. and Mostowy, S., 2017. Septins restrict inflammation and protect zebrafish larvae from Shigella infection. *PLOS Pathogens*, 13(6), p.e1006467.
- 96. McGrath, K., Frame, J. and Palis, J., 2015. Early hematopoiesis and macrophage development. *Seminars in Immunology*, 27(6), pp.379-387.
- 97. McWhorter, F., Davis, C. and Liu, W., 2014. Physical and mechanical regulation of macrophage phenotype and function. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 72(7), pp.1303-1316.
- 98. Meili, R. and Firtel, R., 2003. Two Poles and a Compass. Cell, 114(2), pp.153-156.
- Metcalfe, R., Putoczki, T. and Griffin, M., 2020. Structural Understanding of Interleukin 6 Family Cytokine Signaling and Targeted Therapies: Focus on Interleukin 11. Frontiers in Immunology, 11.

- Mickael, M., Kubick, N., Klimovich, P., Flournoy, P., Bieńkowska, I. and Sacharczuk,
   M., 2021. Paracellular and Transcellular Leukocytes Diapedesis Are Divergent but Interconnected Evolutionary Events. *Genes*, 12(2), p.254.
- 101. Migliaccio, G., Migliaccio, A., Petti, S., Mavilio, F., Russo, G., Lazzaro, D., Testa, U., Marinucci, M. and Peschle, C., 1986. Human embryonic hemopoiesis. Kinetics of progenitors and precursors underlying the yolk sac----liver transition. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 78(1), pp.51-60.
- 102. Mills, C., 2001. Macrophage Arginine Metabolism to Ornithine/Urea or Nitric Oxide/Citrulline: A Life or Death Issue. *Critical Reviews™ in Immunology*, 21(5), pp.28.
- 103. Miskolci, V., Squirrell, J., Rindy, J., Vincent, W., Sauer, J., Gibson, A., Eliceiri, K. and Huttenlocher, A., 2019. Distinct inflammatory and wound healing responses to complex caudal fin injuries of larval zebrafish. *eLife*, 8.
- 104. Morales, R. and Allende, M., 2019. Peripheral Macrophages Promote Tissue Regeneration in Zebrafish by Fine-Tuning the Inflammatory Response. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- 105. Mosser, D., 2003. The many faces of macrophage activation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 73(2), pp.209-212
- Mu, X., Fan, H., Wang, P., Li, Y., Domenico, K., Li, Q., Wang, X., Essandoh, K., Chen,
   J., Peng, T. and Fan, G., 2021. Sectm1a Facilitates Protection against Inflammation-Induced Organ Damage through Promoting TRM Self-Renewal. *Molecular Therapy*, 29(3), pp.1294-1311.
- Murayama, E., Kissa, K., Zapata, A., Mordelet, E., Briolat, V., Lin, H., Handin, R. and Herbomel, P., 2006. Tracing Hematopoietic Precursor Migration to Successive Hematopoietic Organs during Zebrafish Development. *Immunity*, 25(6), pp.963-975.
- 108. Muzykantov, V., 2010. Drug delivery by red blood cells: vascular carriers designed by mother nature. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 7(4), pp.403-427.
- Muzykantov, V., Zaltsman, A., Smirnon, M., Samokhin, G. and Paul Morgan, B.,
   1996. Target-sensitive immunoerythrocytes: interaction of biotinylated red blood cells

with immobilized avidin induces their lysis by complement. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*) - *Biomembranes*, 1279(2), pp.137-143.

- 110. Nahrendorf, M. and Swirski, F., 2016. Abandoning M1/M2 for a Network Model of Macrophage Function. *Circulation Research*, 119(3), pp.414-417.
- 111. Nc3rs.org.uk. 2021. *The 3Rs | NC3Rs*. [online] Available at: <a href="https://nc3rs.org.uk/the-3rs>">https://nc3rs.org.uk/the-3rs></a> [Accessed 13 June 2021].
- 112. Nemkov, T., Reisz, J., Xia, Y., Zimring, J. and D'Alessandro, A., 2018. Red blood cells as an organ? How deep omics characterization of the most abundant cell in the human body highlights other systemic metabolic functions beyond oxygen transport. *Expert Review of Proteomics*, 15(11), pp.855-864.
- Nguyen-Chi, M., Laplace-Builhe, B., Travnickova, J., Luz-Crawford, P., Tejedor, G.,
   Phan, Q., Duroux-Richard, I., Levraud, J., Kissa, K., Lutfalla, G., Jorgensen, C. and Djouad,
   F., 2015. Identification of polarized macrophage subsets in zebrafish. *eLife*, 4.
- 114. Nguyen-Chi, M., Laplace-Builhé, B., Travnickova, J., Luz-Crawford, P., Tejedor, G., Lutfalla, G., Kissa, K., Jorgensen, C. and Djouad, F., 2017. TNF signaling and macrophages govern fin regeneration in zebrafish larvae. *Cell Death & Disease*, 8(8), pp.e2979-e2979.
- 115. Novoa B., Figueras A. (2012) Zebrafish: Model for the Study of Inflammation and the Innate Immune Response to Infectious Diseases. In: Lambris J., Hajishengallis G. (eds) *Current Topics in Innate Immunity II. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, vol 946. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0106-3 15
- 116. Ogryzko, N., Hoggett, E., Solaymani-Kohal, S., Tazzyman, S., Chico, T., Renshaw, S. and Wilson, H., 2013. Zebrafish tissue injury causes upregulation of interleukin-1 and caspase-dependent amplification of the inflammatory response. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 7(2), pp.259-264.
- 117. Ollewagen, T., Myburgh, K., van de Vyver, M. and Smith, C., 2021. Rheumatoid cachexia: the underappreciated role of myoblast, macrophage and fibroblast interplay in the skeletal muscle niche. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 28(1), 15.

- Orecchioni, M., Ghosheh, Y., Pramod, A. and Ley, K., 2019. Macrophage Polarization: Different Gene Signatures in M1(LPS+) vs. Classically and M2(LPS–) vs. Alternatively Activated Macrophages. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- Orekhov, A., Orekhova, V., Nikiforov, N., Myasoedova, V., Grechko, A., Romanenko, E., Zhang, D. and Chistiakov, D., 2019. Monocyte differentiation and macrophage polarization. *Vessel Plus*, 2019, 3(10).
- Orkin, S. and Zon, L., 2008. Hematopoiesis: An Evolving Paradigm for Stem Cell Biology. *Cell*, 132(4), pp.631-644.
- Osborne, S. and Brumell, J., 2017. Listeriolysin O: from bazooka to Swiss army knife. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 372(1726), p.20160222.
- 122. Palis, J., 2001. Yolk-sac hematopoiesis The first blood cells of mouse and man. *Experimental Hematology*, 29(8), pp.927-936.
- 123. Palis, J., Robertson, S., Kennedy, M., Wall, C. and Keller, G., 1999. Development of erythroid and myeloid progenitors in the yolk sac and embryo proper of the mouse. *Development*, 126(22), pp.5073-5084.
- 124. Pang, L., Zhu, Y., Qin, J., Zhao, W. and Wang, J., 2018. Primary M1 macrophages as multifunctional carrier combined with PLGA nanoparticle delivering anticancer drug for efficient glioma therapy. *Drug Delivery*, 25(1), pp.1922-1931.
- 125. Patel, A., Zhang, Y., Fullerton, J., Boelen, L., Rongvaux, A., Maini, A., Bigley, V., Flavell, R., Gilroy, D., Asquith, B., Macallan, D. and Yona, S., 2017. The fate and lifespan of human monocyte subsets in steady state and systemic inflammation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 214(7), pp.1913-1923.
- 126. Paul, C., Devine, A., Bishop, K., Xu, Q., Wulftange, W., Burr, H., Daly, K., Lewis, C., Green, D., Staunton, J., Choksi, S., Liu, Z., Sood, R. and Tanner, K., 2019. Human macrophages survive and adopt activated genotypes in living zebrafish. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1).
- 127. Pflicke, H. and Sixt, M., 2009. Preformed portals facilitate dendritic cell entry into afferent lymphatic vessels. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(13), pp.2925-2935.

- 128. Pinhal-Enfield, G., Ramanathan, M., Hasko, G., Vogel, S., Salzman, A., Boons, G. and Leibovich, S., 2003. An Angiogenic Switch in Macrophages Involving Synergy between Toll-Like Receptors 2, 4, 7, and 9 and Adenosine A2A Receptors. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 163(2), pp.711-721.
- Pitt, E., Johnson, C., Lewis, D., Jenner, D. and Offord, R., 1983. Encapsulation of drugs in intact erythrocytes: An intravenous delivery system. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 32(22), pp.3359-3368.
- 130. Pober, J. and Cotran, R., 1990. The role of endothelial cells in inflammation. *Transplantation*, 50(4), pp.537-544.
- 131. Pober, J. and Sessa, W., 2007. Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(10), pp.803-815.
- 132. Pyrillou, K., Burzynski, L. and Clarke, M., 2020. Alternative Pathways of IL-1 Activation, and Its Role in Health and Disease. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11.
- 133. Rath, M., Muller, I., Kropf, P., Closs, E. and Munder, M., 2014. Metabolism via Arginase or Nitric Oxide Synthase: Two Competing Arginine Pathways in Macrophages. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5.
- Renkawitz, J., Kopf, A., Stopp, J., de Vries, I., Driscoll, M., Merrin, J., Hauschild, R.,
   Welf, E., Danuser, G., Fiolka, R. and Sixt, M., 2019. Nuclear positioning facilitates amoeboid migration along the path of least resistance. *Nature*, 568(7753), pp.546-550.
- 135. Renshaw, S. and Trede, N., 2012. A model 450 million years in the making: zebrafish and vertebrate immunity. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 5(1), pp.38-47.
- 136. Riches, D., Chan, E. and Winston, B., 1996. TNF-α-induced Regulation and Signalling in Macrophages. *Immunobiology*, 195(4-5), pp.477-490.
- 137. Rosales, C., 2018. Neutrophil: A Cell with Many Roles in Inflammation or Several Cell Types?. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9.
- Rosowski, E., 2020. Determining macrophage versus neutrophil contributions to innate immunity using larval zebrafish. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 13(1), p.dmm041889.

- 139. Rőszer, T., 2015. Understanding the Mysterious M2 Macrophage through Activation Markers and Effector Mechanisms. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2015, pp.1-16.
- 140. Rothenbücher, T., Ledin, J., Gibbs, D., Engqvist, H., Persson, C. and Hulsart-Billström, G., 2019. Zebrafish embryo as a replacement model for initial biocompatibility studies of biomaterials and drug delivery systems. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 100, pp.235-243.
- 141. Rowe, R. and Weiss, S., 2008. Breaching the basement membrane: who, when and how?. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 18(11), pp.560-574.
- 142. Rowe, R. and Weiss, S., 2009. Navigating ECM Barriers at the Invasive Front: The Cancer Cell–Stroma Interface. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, 25(1), pp.567-595.
- 143. Rumianek, A. and Greaves, D., 2020. How Have Leukocyte *In vitro* Chemotaxis Assays Shaped Our Ideas about Macrophage Migration?. *Biology*, 9(12), p.439.
- 144. Rzeniewicz, K., Newe, A., Rey Gallardo, A., Davies, J., Holt, M., Patel, A., Charras, G., Stramer, B., Molenaar, C., Tedder, T., Parsons, M. and Ivetic, A., 2015. L-selectin shedding is activated specifically within transmigrating pseudopods of monocytes to regulate cell polarity in vitro. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(12), pp.e1461-E1470.
- 145. Santoriello, C. and Zon, L., 2012. Hooked! Modeling human disease in zebrafish. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 122(7), pp.2337-2343.
- 146. Sawai, C., Babovic, S., Upadhaya, S., Knapp, D., Lavin, Y., Lau, C., Goloborodko, A., Feng, J., Fujisaki, J., Ding, L., Mirny, L., Merad, M., Eaves, C. and Reizis, B., 2016. Hematopoietic Stem Cells Are the Major Source of Multilineage Hematopoiesis in Adult Animals. *Immunity*, 45(3), pp.597-609.
- 147. Schenkel, A., Mamdouh, Z. and Muller, W., 2004. Locomotion of monocytes on endothelium is a critical step during extravasation. *Nature Immunology*, 5(4), pp.393-400.
- Schmidt, A., Ladage, D., Steingen, C., Brixius, K., Schinköthe, T., Klinz, F., Schwinger,
   R., Mehlhorn, U. and Bloch, W., 2006. Mesenchymal stem cells transmigrate over the
   endothelial barrier. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 85(11), pp.1179-1188.

- 149. Schmidt-Arras, D. and Rose-John, S., 2016. IL-6 pathway in the liver: From physiopathology to therapy. *Journal of Hepatology*, 64(6), pp.1403-1415.
- 150. Sheikh, S., Rahman, M., Gale, Z., Luu, N., Stone, P., Matharu, N., Rainger, G. and Nash, G., 2005. Differing mechanisms of leukocyte recruitment and sensitivity to conditioning by shear stress for endothelial cells treated with tumour necrosis factor-α or interleukin-1β. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 145(8), pp.1052-1061.
- 151. Shimizu, Y., Kiyooka, M. and Ohshima, T., 2021. Transcriptome Analyses Reveal IL6/Stat3 Signaling Involvement in Radial Glia Proliferation After Stab Wound Injury in the Adult Zebrafish Optic Tectum. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9.
- Sieber, S., Grossen, P., Bussmann, J., Campbell, F., Kros, A., Witzigmann, D. and Huwyler, J., 2019. Zebrafish as a preclinical *in vivo* screening model for nanomedicines. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 151-152, pp.152-168.
- 153. Singh, A., Biswas, A., Shukla, A. and Maiti, P., 2019. Targeted therapy in chronic diseases using nanomaterial-based drug delivery vehicles. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 4(1).
- Singh, M., Jayarajan, R., Varshney, S., Upadrasta, S., Singh, A., Yadav, R., Scaria, V., Sengupta, S., Shanmugam, D., Shalimar, Sivasubbu, S., Gandotra, S. and Sachidanandan, C., 2021. Chronic systemic exposure to IL6 leads to deregulation of glycolysis and fat accumulation in the zebrafish liver. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1866(5), p.158905.
- 155. Sipka, T., Peroceschi, R., Hassan-Abdi, R., Groß, M., Ellett, F., Begon-Pescia, C., Gonzalez, C., Lutfalla, G. and Nguyen-Chi, M., 2021. Damage-Induced Calcium Signaling and Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Macrophage Activation in Zebrafish. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12.
- 156. Sironi, M., 2006. Differential regulation of chemokine production by Fc receptor engagement in human monocytes: association of CCL1 with a distinct form of M2 monocyte activation (M2b, Type 2). *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 80(2), pp.342-349.

- 157. Sommer, F., Ortiz Zacarías, N., Heitman, L. and Meijer, A., 2021. Inhibition of macrophage migration in zebrafish larvae demonstrates *in vivo* efficacy of human CCR2 inhibitors. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 116, p.103932.
- Song, J., Zhang, X., Buscher, K., Wang, Y., Wang, H., Di Russo, J., Li, L., Lütke-Enking,
   S., Zarbock, A., Stadtmann, A., Striewski, P., Wirth, B., Kuzmanov, I., Wiendl, H., Schulte,
   D., Vestweber, D. and Sorokin, L., 2017. Endothelial Basement Membrane Laminin 511
   Contributes to Endothelial Junctional Tightness and Thereby Inhibits Leukocyte
   Transmigration. *Cell Reports*, 18(5), pp.1256-1269.
- 159. Starr, T., Bauler, T., Malik-Kale, P. and Steele-Mortimer, O., 2018. The phorbol 12myristate-13-acetate differentiation protocol is critical to the interaction of THP-1 macrophages with Salmonella Typhimurium. *PLOS ONE*, 13(3), p.e0193601.
- 160. Stein, M., Keshav, S., Harris, N. and Gordon, S., 1992. Interleukin 4 potently enhances murine macrophage mannose receptor activity: a marker of alternative immunologic macrophage activation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 176(1), pp.287-292.
- 161. Steinfeld, U., Pauli, C., Kaltz, N., Bergemann, C. and Lee, H., 2006. T lymphocytes as potential therapeutic drug carrier for cancer treatment. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 311(1-2), pp.229-236.
- 162. Stephan, M., Moon, J., Um, S., Bershteyn, A. and Irvine, D., 2010. Therapeutic cell engineering with surface-conjugated synthetic nanoparticles. *Nature Medicine*, 16(9), pp.1035-1041.
- 163. Su, Y., Zhang, T., Huang, T. and Gao, J., 2021. Current advances and challenges of mesenchymal stem cells-based drug delivery system and their improvements. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 600, p.120477.
- 164. Suckale, J., Sim, R. and Dodds, A., 2005. Evolution of innate immune systems. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education, 33(3), pp.177-183.
- 165. Summers, C., Rankin, S., Condliffe, A., Singh, N., Peters, A. and Chilvers, E., 2010. Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease. *Trends in Immunology*, 31(8), pp.318-324.

- 166. Sun, D., Chen, J., Wang, Y., Ji, H., Peng, R., Jin, L. and Wu, W., 2019. Advances in refunctionalization of erythrocyte-based nanomedicine for enhancing cancer-targeted drug delivery. *Theranostics*, 9(23), pp.6885-6900.
- 167. Tacke, F., Alvarez, D., Kaplan, T., Jakubzick, C., Spanbroek, R., Llodra, J., Garin, A., Liu, J., Mack, M., van Rooijen, N., Lira, S., Habenicht, A. and Randolph, G., 2007. Monocyte subsets differentially employ CCR2, CCR5, and CX3CR1 to accumulate within atherosclerotic plaques. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117(1), pp.185-194.
- 168. Takahashi, K., Yamamura, F. and Naito, M., 1989. Differentiation, Maturation, and Proliferation of Macrophages in the Mouse Yolk Sac: A Light-Microscopic, Enzyme-Cytochemical, Immunohistochemical, and Ultrastructural Study. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 45(2), pp.87-96.
- Takahashi, T., Hato, F., Yamane, T., Fukumasu, H., Suzuki, K., Ogita, S., Nishizawa,
  Y. and Kitagawa, S., 2001. Activation of Human Neutrophil by Cytokine-Activated
  Endothelial Cells. *Circulation Research*, 88(4), pp.422-429.
- Tamplin, O., Durand, E., Carr, L., Childs, S., Hagedorn, E., Li, P., Yzaguirre, A., Speck,
   N. and Zon, L., 2015. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Arrival Triggers Dynamic Remodeling of the
   Perivascular Niche. *Cell*, 160(1-2), pp.241-252.
- 171. Tang, L., Zhang, H., Wang, C., Li, H., Zhang, Q. and Bai, J., 2017. M2A and M2C Macrophage Subsets Ameliorate Inflammation and Fibroproliferation in Acute Lung Injury Through Interleukin 10 Pathway. *Shock*, 48(1), pp.119-129.
- 172. Tavian, M. and Peault, B., 2005. Embryonic development of the human hematopoietic system. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 49(2-3), pp.243-250.
- Teame, T., Zhang, Z., Ran, C., Zhang, H., Yang, Y., Ding, Q., Xie, M., Gao, C., Ye, Y.,
   Duan, M. and Zhou, Z., 2019. The use of zebrafish (Danio rerio) as biomedical models.
   *Animal Frontiers*, 9(3), pp.68-77.
- 174. Teng, Y., Xie, X., Walker, S., White, D., Mumm, J. and Cowell, J., 2013. Evaluating human cancer cell metastasis in zebrafish. *BMC Cancer*, 13(1).
- 175. Tewabe, A., Abate, A., Tamrie, M., Seyfu, A. and Abdela Siraj, E., 2021. Targeted Drug Delivery — From Magic Bullet to Nanomedicine: Principles, Challenges, and Future Perspectives. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, Volume 14, pp.1711-1724.
- 176. Theret, M., Mounier, R. and Rossi, F., 2019. The origins and non-canonical functions of macrophages in development and regeneration. *Development*, 146(9), p.dev156000.
- 177. Thomas, G., Tacke, R., Hedrick, C. and Hanna, R., 2015. Nonclassical Patrolling Monocyte Function in the Vasculature. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 35(6), pp.1306-1316.
- 178. Tiffany, H., Lautens, L., Gao, J., Pease, J., Locati, M., Combadiere, C., Modi, W., Bonner, T. and Murphy, P., 1997. Identification of CCR8: A Human Monocyte and Thymus Receptor for the CC Chemokine I-309. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 186(1), pp.165-170.
- 179. Timin, A., Litvak, M., Gorin, D., Atochina-Vasserman, E., Atochin, D. and Sukhorukov, G., 2017. Cell-Based Drug Delivery and Use of Nano-and Microcarriers for Cell Functionalization. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 7(3), p.1700818.
- 180. Tong, H., Kang, W., Shi, Y., Zhou, G. and Lu, Y., 2016. Physiological function and inflamed-brain migration of mouse monocyte-derived macrophages following cellular uptake of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles—Implication of macrophage-based drug delivery into the central nervous system. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 505(1-2), pp.271-282.
- 181. Tsarouchas, T., Wehner, D., Cavone, L., Munir, T., Keatinge, M., Lambertus, M., Underhill, A., Barrett, T., Kassapis, E., Ogryzko, N., Feng, Y., van Ham, T., Becker, T. and Becker, C., 2018. Dynamic control of proinflammatory cytokines II-1β and Tnf-α by macrophages in zebrafish spinal cord regeneration. *Nature Communications*, 9(1).
- 182. Tsou, C., Peters, W., Si, Y., Slaymaker, S., Aslanian, A., Weisberg, S., Mack, M. and Charo, I., 2007. Critical roles for CCR2 and MCP-3 in monocyte mobilization from bone marrow and recruitment to inflammatory sites. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117(4), pp.902-909.

- Uderhardt, S., Martins, A., Tsang, J., Lämmermann, T. and Germain, R., 2019.
  Resident Macrophages Cloak Tissue Microlesions to Prevent Neutrophil-Driven Inflammatory Damage. *Cell*, 177(3), pp.541-555.e17.
- 184. van den Berg, M., MacCarthy-Morrogh, L., Carter, D., Morris, J., Ribeiro Bravo, I., Feng, Y. and Martin, P., 2019. Proteolytic and Opportunistic Breaching of the Basement Membrane Zone by Immune Cells during Tumor Initiation. *Cell Reports*, 27(10), pp.2837-2846.e4.
- van Wijk, R., Krekels, E., Hankemeier, T., Spaink, H. and van der Graaf, P., 2016.
  Systems pharmacology of hepatic metabolism in zebrafish larvae. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models*, 22, pp.27-34.
- 186. Varela, M., Dios, S., Novoa, B. and Figueras, A., 2012. Characterisation, expression and ontogeny of interleukin-6 and its receptors in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 37(1), pp.97-106.
- 187. Veinotte, C., Dellaire, G. and Berman, J., 2014. Hooking the big one: the potential of zebrafish xenotransplantation to reform cancer drug screening in the genomic era. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 7(7), pp.745-754.
- 188. Vieth, M., Will, A., Schroppel, K., Rollinghoff, M. and Gessner, A., 1994. Interleukin 10 Inhibits Antimicrobial Activity Against Leishmania major in Murine Macrophages.
  *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 40(4), pp.403-409.
- 189. Visser, J. and Smith, C., 2017. Development of a transendothelial shuttle by macrophage modification. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 12(4), pp.e1889-e1898.
- Vojtech, L., Scharping, N., Woodson, J. and Hansen, J., 2012. Roles of Inflammatory Caspases during Processing of Zebrafish Interleukin-1β in Francisella noatunensis Infection. *Infection and Immunity*, 80(8), pp.2878-2885.
- 191. Wang, L., Zhang, S., Wu, H., Rong, X. and Guo, J., 2018. M2b macrophage polarization and its roles in diseases. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 106(2), pp.345-358.
- 192. Wang, Q., Ni, H., Lan, L., Wei, X., Xiang, R. and Wang, Y., 2010. Fra-1 protooncogene regulates IL-6 expression in macrophages and promotes the generation of M2d macrophages. *Cell Research*, 20(6), pp.701-712.

- 193. Wang, T., Johansson, P., Abós, B., Holt, A., Tafalla, C., Jiang, Y., Wang, A., Xu, Q., Qi, Z., Huang, W., Costa, M., Diaz-Rosales, P., Holland, J. and Secombes, C., 2016. First indepth analysis of the novel Th2-type cytokines in salmonid fish reveals distinct patterns of expression and modulation but overlapping bioactivities. *Oncotarget*, 7(10), pp.10917-10946.
- 194. Warrington, R., Watson, W., Kim, H. and Antonetti, F., 2011. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, 7(S1), 49.
- 195. Wattrus, S. and Zon, L., 2018. Stem cell safe harbor: the hematopoietic stem cell niche in zebrafish. *Blood Advances*, 2(21), pp.3063-3069.
- 196. Weber, K., Nelson, P., Gröne, H. and Weber, C., 1999. Expression of CCR2 by Endothelial Cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 19(9), pp.2085-2093.
- 197. Wei, H., Lv, M., Wen, C., Zhang, A., Yang, K., Zhou, H. and Wang, X., 2018. Identification of an intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 homologue from grass carp: Evidence for its involvement in the immune cell adhesion in teleost. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 81, pp.67-72.
- 198. Weyrich, A., McIntyre, T., McEver, R., Prescott, S. and Zimmerman, G., 1995. Monocyte tethering by P-selectin regulates monocyte chemotactic protein-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha secretion. Signal integration and NF-kappa B translocation. *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, 95(5), pp.2297-2303.
- 199. Whelan, D., Caplice, N. and Clover, A., 2020. Mesenchymal stromal cell derived CCL2 is required for accelerated wound healing. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1).
- 200. Winata, C., Korzh, S., Kondrychyn, I., Korzh, V. and Gong, Z., 2010. The role of vasculature and blood circulation in zebrafish swimbladder development. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 10(1).
- 201. Wittamer, V. and Bertrand, J., 2020. Yolk sac hematopoiesis: does it contribute to the adult hematopoietic system?. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 77(20), pp.4081-4091.
- 202. Wolf, A., Yáñez, A., Barman, P. and Goodridge, H., 2019. The Ontogeny of Monocyte Subsets. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.

- Wu, H., Zhou, Y., Tabata, Y. and Gao, J., 2019. Mesenchymal stem cell-based drug delivery strategy: from cells to biomimetic. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 294, pp.102-113.
- 204. Wu, S., Nguyen, L., Pan, H., Hassan, S., Dai, Y., Xu, J. and Wen, Z., 2020. Two phenotypically and functionally distinct microglial populations in adult zebrafish. *Science Advances*, 6(47), p.eabd1160.
- 205. Wu, Y. and Hirschi, K., 2021. Tissue-Resident Macrophage Development and Function. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 8.
- 206. Wynn, T., Chawla, A. and Pollard, J., 2013. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature*, 496(7446), pp.445-455.
- 207. Xie, Y., Meijer, A. and Schaaf, M., 2021. Modeling Inflammation in Zebrafish for the Development of Anti-inflammatory Drugs. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 8.
- 208. Xu, J., Wang, T., Wu, Y., Jin, W. and Wen, Z., 2016. Microglia Colonization of Developing Zebrafish Midbrain Is Promoted by Apoptotic Neuron and Lysophosphatidylcholine. *Developmental Cell*, 38(2), pp.214-222.
- 209. Xu, P., Zuo, H., Chen, B., Wang, R., Ahmed, A., Hu, Y. and Ouyang, J., 2017. Doxorubicin-loaded platelets as a smart drug delivery system: An improved therapy for lymphoma. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1).
- 210. Xue, J., Zhao, Z., Zhang, L., Xue, L., Shen, S., Wen, Y., Wei, Z., Wang, L., Kong, L., Sun, H., Ping, Q., Mo, R. and Zhang, C., 2017. Neutrophil-mediated anticancer drug delivery for suppression of postoperative malignant glioma recurrence. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12(7), pp.692-700.
- Yáñez, A., Coetzee, S., Olsson, A., Muench, D., Berman, B., Hazelett, D., Salomonis, N., Grimes, H. and Goodridge, H., 2018. Granulocyte-Monocyte Progenitors and Monocyte-Dendritic Cell Progenitors Independently Produce Functionally Distinct Monocytes. *Experimental Hematology*, 64, pp.S111.
- 212. Yang, L., Rojas, A. and Shiau, C., 2021. Clodronate-mediated macrophage depletion. *BIO-PROTOCOL*, 11(6).

- 213. Yona, S., Kim, K., Wolf, Y., Mildner, A., Varol, D., Breker, M., Strauss-Ayali, D., Viukov, S., Guilliams, M., Misharin, A., Hume, D., Perlman, H., Malissen, B., Zelzer, E. and Jung, S., 2013. Fate Mapping Reveals Origins and Dynamics of Monocytes and Tissue Macrophages under Homeostasis. *Immunity*, 38(1), pp.79-91.
- 214. Yoo, S., Starnes, T., Deng, Q. and Huttenlocher, A., 2011. Lyn is a redox sensor that mediates leukocyte wound attraction *in vivo*. *Nature*, 480(7375), pp.109-112.
- 215. Yoshida, H., Okabe, Y., Kawane, K., Fukuyama, H. and Nagata, S., 2004. Lethal anemia caused by interferon-β produced in mouse embryos carrying undigested DNA. *Nature Immunology*, 6(1), pp.49-56.
- 216. Yousefpour, P. and Chilkoti, A., 2014. Co-opting biology to deliver drugs. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 111(9), pp.1699-1716.
- 217. Yu, H., Yang, Z., Li, F., Xu, L. and Sun, Y., 2020. Cell-mediated targeting drugs delivery systems. *Drug Delivery*, 27(1), pp.1425-1437.
- 218. Yun, Y., Lee, B. and Park, K., 2015. Controlled Drug Delivery: Historical perspective for the next generation. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 219, pp.2-7.
- 219. Zanandrea, R., Bonan, C. and Campos, M., 2020. Zebrafish as a model for inflammation and drug discovery. *Drug Discovery Today*, 25(12), pp.2201-2211.
- 220. Zhang, T., Huang, B., Yuan, Z., Hu, Y., Tabata, Y. and Gao, J., 2014. Gene recombinant bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells as a tumor-targeted suicide gene delivery vehicle in pulmonary metastasis therapy using non-viral transfection. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 10(1), pp.257-267.
- 221. Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Song, J., Gerwien, H., Chuquisana, O., Chashchina, A., Denz, C. and Sorokin, L., 2020. The endothelial basement membrane acts as a checkpoint for entry of pathogenic T cells into the brain. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 217(7).
- Zou, J. and Secombes, C., 2016. The Function of Fish Cytokines. *Biology*, 5(2), pp.23.

## Appendices



## **Approved with Stipulations**

14 April 2020

PI: Prof Carine Smith

REC: ACU Reference #: ACU-2019-11820

Title: Use of Zebrafish larvae (<5dpf) for drug screening

Dear Prof Carine Smith

Your Notification ACU-2019-11820 was reviewed on 25 March 2020 y the Research Ethics Committee: Animal Care and Use via committee review procedures and was approved. Please note that this clearance is valid for a period of five years. A new application must be submitted when the source of the material changes.

Stipulations for clarification:

1. How will it be ensured that the larvae do not come in direct contact with the ice?

2. What is the treatment that will be done to/on the larvae?

Applicants are reminded that they are expected to comply with accepted standards for the use of animals in research and teaching as reflected in the South African National Standards 10386: 2008. The SANS 10386: 2008 document is available on the Division for Research Developments website <u>www.sun.ac.za/research</u>.

As provided for in the Veterinary and Para-Veterinary Professions Act, 1982. It is the principal investigator's responsibility to ensure that all study participants are registered with or have been authorised by the South African Veterinary Council (SAVC) to perform the procedures on animals, or will be performing the procedures under the direct and continuous supervision of a SAVC-registered veterinary professional or SAVC-registered paraveterinary professional, who are acting within the scope of practice for their profession.

Please remember to use your REC: ACU reference number: # ACU-2019-11820 on any documents or correspondence with the REC: ACU concerning your research protocol.

If you have any questions or need further help, please contact the REC: ACU office at 021 808 9003.

Visit the Division for Research Developments website www.sun.ac.za/research for documentation on REC: ACU

policy and procedures. Sincerely,

Mr Winston Beukes

Coordinator: Research Ethics (Animal Care and Use)